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Financial highlights

2004 2003 2002
Continuing operations £m £m £m
Group turnover 5,646 4,611 4,076
EBITDA" before exceptional items 1,367 858 484
Operating exceptional items (75) (8,300) (150)
Group operating profit/(loss) 159 (8,658) (692)
Capital expenditure 1,213 885 1,045
Year-end net debt 366 549 617

TEBITDA is our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items, excluding our share of operating profits
and losses of our joint ventures and associates. EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under UK or US GAAP and may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, because EBITDA is not uniformly defined. EBITDA should not be considered
by investors as an alternative to Group operating profit/(loss) or profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation as an indication of
operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as an indication of cash flows. EBITDA is one of the
key financial measures used by the Group for evaluating financial performance, and is discussed in the operating and financial review

and prospects on page 23.
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Welcome to this, the third Annual Report for your Company,
mmO.. In the past year we have created a genuine momentum in
all the businesses that we believe can be carried forward

In the year ended 31 March 2004, mmO, passed an important
milestone, making its first ever pre-tax profit of £95 million compared
with a loss of £10,203 million in the previous year. The stock market
recognised our achievement as our shares were the second best
performer in the FTSE 100 index during 2003. Total revenue from
continuing operations grew by 22 per cent to £5.65 billion, within
which service revenues showed a 23 per cent increase to £5.03 billion
and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional items (EBITDA) grew by 59 per cent to £1.37 billion.
Excluding O, Netherlands, operating profit before exceptional items
and goodwill amortisation was £435 million compared with a loss of
£18 million in the previous year but an exceptional operating charge
of £75 million contributed to an operating profit of £159 million.

A combination of stronger EBITDA, controlled capital expenditure

and improved working capital management reduced net debt by
£183 million to £366 million, below the level at the time of demerger.

In February 2004 a proposal was received from KPN, the Dutch
telecommunications group. The Board carefully considered the proposal
but rejected it as not being in the best interests of mmO, shareholders.

Operational review

The O, brand goes from strength to strength in all our market
territories, supported by interactive sponsorships including that of the
England rugby team in its successful challenge for the 2003 Rugby
World Cup. All the businesses have shown improved performance,
exploiting new opportunities represented by the integration of voice
and data services and sharpening their focus on the needs of

their customers.

Although we have come a long way in the two years since our
demerger, we are not complacent. In a highly competitive environment,
we recognise that we have a great deal more to do to ensure
continued progress. Our paramount aim is to generate sustainable
profitable growth — a challenging combination in any business. We are
not chasing subscribers at any cost. A year ago we explained that our
businesses would focus on improving the experience of high-value
customers for O,'s voice and data products and services. Success would
mean greater customer loyalty and lower rates of churn. Also, it would
mean a better mix of customers, with a greater emphasis on post-pay
users, and higher average revenues per user (ARPU). At the same time,
we committed ourselves to an improved operational performance, to
tight financial discipline and to seek out and exploit new opportunities
to develop our businesses.

We are pleased to say that O, businesses have successfully delivered

in the past year against the commitments we made. Across all our
territories we have shown impressive growth in subscribers, reflecting
the success of our segmented and focused approach to the needs of
customers. This achievement has been coupled everywhere with higher
profitability, driven by improvements in the quality of our customer
base and greater operational efficiency. At the same time, we have
successfully developed new business opportunities.

We would like to illustrate this by highlighting just some of the
achievements made by each of the operating businesses:

At O, UK, our customer base grew by 10 per cent and profitability, as
measured by our EBITDA margin, improved to over 30 per cent. Since
demerger, EBITDA at O, UK has risen 55 per cent. By the end of the
year we had shown ten quarters of continuous improvements in the
mix of customers and, over the period, a significant reduction in

the rate of churn. This clearly reflects the progress we have made in
implementing our strategy. Our efforts to improve network quality,

a vital ingredient in customer satisfaction, were recognised by Oftel,
which named O, UK as having the best ever published national call
success rates. New opportunities for growth are being realised through
Tesco Mobile, our joint venture with one of the UK's most powerful
retail channels, which is addressing the family market, complementing
0, UK's focus on high-value customers. Tesco Mobile is already
available in more than 500 UK outlets and the initial aim is to attract
two million subscribers. By the beginning of May 2004, 250,000
customers had signed up to Tesco Mobile — well ahead of initial targets.

In O, Germany, we have turned a loss-maker into a business with
convincing momentum, a rising market share, EBITDA margin in the
mid-teens and improving cash flow. O, Germany is now the fastest
growing mobile phone operator in Germany and has the highest ARPU
and the best mix of customers of any German operator. Our market
share by number of subscribers is 9 per cent but by subscriber revenues
itis 10 per cent, reflecting success in attracting a high-value customer
base. We have achieved annual growth in our customer base of nearly
25 per cent in the last two years and are closing the gap on our
nearest competitor.



In the case of O, Ireland, we have taken a good business and made
it an even better one. We were delighted that this was reflected in
O, Ireland being named Telecommunications Company of the Year at
ICT Expo. Growth in service revenues has continued at a strong pace
and the EBITDA margin showed a further rise to nearly 40 per cent.

0, Airwave, with its £2.9 billion, 19-year contract to supply secure
communications for the UK police forces and emergency services, has
become our fourth substantial business with positive EBITDA ahead of
schedule this year. From a standing start we are now well over halfway
through the national roll-out of the Airwave network to 35 police
forces with over 50,000 officers using the system. Completion of the
network is expected in March 2005, ushering in a rapid transformation
of O, Airwave’s financial performance. We are also in the advanced
stages of bidding for the nationwide Fire and Ambulance Service
contracts, and actively marketing to other Public Safety Users.

Manx Telecom, which has been a pioneer in 3G technology, has

been awarded a 15-year extension to its operating licence by the Manx
Government and is building a GPRS network to complement its

main network.

Customers embrace multimedia services

We continue to view non-voice services as a potentially significant
source of future growth. Last year there was a key breakthrough.
Many of our customers, using our higher speed 2.5G service (GPRS),
began to use mobile phones not only to make voice calls and send text
messages, but to download games and music, watch video streams,
surf the internet and send e-mails. We saw the take-up of these
applications and services grow at an encouraging rate — during the
year the number of customers using GPRS more than tripled. Demand
has been driven by the arrival of colour screen handsets at reasonable
prices and the availability of a widening range of multimedia
applications. In a young but competitive market, our services have been
distinctive. We were first to market with O, Music, allowing customers
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to download music to their mobile phones wherever they are; and we
were the first with video streaming, making available exclusive
highlights from the Rugby World Cup and, more recently, London
Fashion Week via our O, Active portal. We now earn revenues of more
than £1 billion per year from non-voice services. The strong pace of
growth is not reliant only on SMS text messaging, which is still
expanding and where we remain market leaders in the UK with a share
of 35 per cent. Other applications, including picture messaging, games,
e-mail, internet surfing and the use of our Xda Il combined phone and
personal digital assistant, will be an engine of continued future growth.

David Varney, Chairman (left)
Peter Erskine, Chief Executive Officer (right)
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3G to become a reality this year

We regard the development of a high-speed 3G network as an exciting
prospect, bringing substantial benefits, over time, to our customers. It
will allow us to offer a range of enhanced services that users will value.
We have already invested to meet our regulatory requirement to offer
25 per cent network coverage in Germany and 35 per cent in Ireland,
while we continue to take a measured approach to the roll-out this
year of our 3G network in the UK. We are concentrating on areas
where there is already evidence of high usage of mobile data services.
In simple terms, when we introduce our 3G service, we want it to
provide a good customer experience. Industry issues concerning the
price, size and weight of 3G handsets, seamless roaming from 2 or
2.5G to 3G networks, and international roaming, together with
reliability, are still to be resolved. The speed of take-up of 3G will
depend on all these factors. In view of this, we do not see a compelling
mass market for 3G until the 2005/06 financial year.

Mobile alliance

In October 2003, O, Germany, O, UK and O, Ireland forged an alliance
with other independent European mobile phone operators in order to
exploit significant opportunities in the joint marketing and sourcing of
our products and services under the Starmap Mobile Alliance brand.

The aim of the alliance is to provide a “home-away-from-home”
experience by introducing seamless roaming, flat rate tariffs and MMS
connectivity across members’ networks. It will enable us to be quick to
market across borders with innovative new products and services,
including our Xda I, and to secure cost savings through joint sourcing
of devices and SIMs together with joint bids on major corporate
contracts.

Community

In July 2003, we published our first Corporate Responsibility (CR)
report. In July 2004, we will be publishing a second report which will
be available to shareholders, or can be viewed on our website, where
our progress and achievements will be laid out in detail. Our approach
to CR is embedded in our business. We are committed to acting
responsibly in all our activities and to win the trust of customers,
shareholders and industry regulators. We believe in being an active
participant in the communities in which we operate, for example
through our “Can Do in the Community” investment initiative, which

has programmes in the UK, Germany, Ireland and the Isle of Man. As
our CR report will show, we have made good progress in our
marketplaces, communities, workplaces and supply chains.

In 2003/04, we chose the International Youth Foundation as our
Charity of the Year. mmO, and IYF have jointly developed a programme
of projects to empower young people by fostering educational
achievement, technological awareness, life skills and citizenship.

In the belief that our mobile services can tackle real social needs,

we have continued with our trial to monitor the condition of asthma
sufferers using our Xda device. The trial is now being extended to cystic
fibrosis. In conjunction with Milly's Fund, “Teach UR Mum 2 Txt" is
another initiative we have taken to use mobile technology to meet
social needs. We were delighted that “Teach UR Mum 2 Txt” won
“Best Use of Mobile for Accessibility” in the GSM Association Annual
Awards for 2004. External recognition of our efforts has also been
reflected in our inclusion in both the FTSE4Good index and the Dow
Jones Sustainability Indexes and a high position in the Corporate
Responsibility Index introduced by Business in the Community.

Public health and safety

The health and safety of customers, employees and the public is of the
highest importance to us. In this respect we welcomed the report of
the Advisory Group on Non-lonising Radiation. The report confirmed
the findings of the Stewart Report in 2000, concluding that the
overwhelming balance of scientific evidence suggests mobile phone
technologies do not cause adverse effects on public health. Along with
our colleagues in the mobile phone industry, we will continue to
address public concerns and, in particular, are actively supporting the
£7.4 million three-year Mobile Telecommunications Health Research
Programme.

Enhanced features of mobile technology have given rise to a widening
range of innovative services that can be accessed over the internet —
some of which may deal in content of an adult nature. In January
2004, we were party to the publication of a Code of Practice agreed by
all UK mobile operators for self-regulation of new forms of content.
The Code calls for independent classification of content, age
verification and other measures including the monitoring of chat
rooms, filtering of content and reporting of illegal content where



necessary. O, is committed to acting responsibly and giving our
customers choice, as well as providing the ability to protect the
vulnerable. To this end, O, has undertaken a wide-ranging campaign to
educate and raise awareness among parents, teachers and guardians of
some of the risks faced by children using mobile phones.

Board and organisation

In 2003/04, we recognised an exceptional operating charge of

£75 million to cover the costs of a restructuring of our central
operations and the resultant rationalisation of our property portfolio.
Two years ago we inherited weak operating companies and sought to
offset this, initially, by strengthening our central operations, locating,
for example, Products O, and O, Online centrally to develop products
and services. Subsequently, we have significantly improved our
operating businesses and strengthened the teams who run them. As a
result, we have pushed many of the central functions back out to our
operating businesses, all of which are now highly customer-focused.
We expect the restructuring and property rationalisation to generate
annual cost savings of £40-45 million.

As a consequence of the reduction in central functions, which included
devolving staff to our operating businesses, Kent Thexton, who
oversaw the launch of the O, brand and led the Products O, and

O, Online businesses, stepped down as an executive Director in
February 2004 and, on leaving the Group at the end of March 2004,
returned to his native Canada.

In early May 2004, the Company announced that David Arculus would
succeed David Varney as Chairman at the conclusion of this year's
Annual General Meeting. Since joining mmO, as a non-executive
Director on 1 April 2003, David Arculus has made a considerable
contribution to the Board and brings extensive experience to the
position of Chairman.

Looking ahead

After a better than expected 2003/04, we anticipate that the coming
year, which will see the arrival of high-speed 3G services, will be even
more exciting and challenging. Competition for customers will be
tough, both from new entrants and from established operators seeking
to differentiate their services. There are now eight players in the UK
market, making it the most competitive in Europe. This is good for
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customers and better, by far, than unnecessary regulation. We believe
that competition, not regulation, should be the driver in our market,
and we welcome the challenge to deliver value and exploit the many
opportunities we see to create innovative new sources of growth. In
2004/05, thanks to our leaner central overheads, we will become a
more agile business, with a more local touch. We have the ability to
continue to increase revenues and profits more rapidly than our major
competitors. Building on the turnaround achieved since demerger, our
German business is now experiencing high levels of growth and is
rapidly becoming a credible force in Europe’s largest market. The
momentum we have developed will be sustained by rising market share
in Germany, an improving mix of customers in the UK, the growth of
valued new mobile data services, the transformation of the financial
performance of O, Airwave and positive benefits from our Starmap
Mobile Alliance and the Tesco Mobile joint venture.

Having reported positive full-year earnings and cash flow for the first
time, and with the businesses demonstrating continued positive
momentum, we will now review our distribution policy, aiming

to announce this with our Interim Results in November 2004.

}P%K-k_;-— L]

Peter Erskine
Chief Executive Officer

}”JLS“\[%A\?

David Varney
Chairman
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Business review

History and development of the Company

On 10 May 2001, BT announced its intention to demerge our
businesses. This was effected by a reorganisation, a scheme of
arrangement and, on 19 November 2001, the demerger transaction.
As a consequence, our operations have been conducted as an
independent entity, mmO,, with key subsidiaries in the United
Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, Ireland and the Isle of Man. In
September 2001, we announced a new brand, O,, for the Group.
This was introduced in May 2002 and, in support of that
introduction, each of the principal country company operating
names, except for Manx Telecom Limited in the Isle of Man, were
changed to include the brand in their names. Accordingly, references
throughout this annual report to the country operations, where
appropriate, refer to the new operating company names.

On 14 April 2003, we announced that we had agreed the sale of
O, Netherlands to Greenfield Capital Partners, an independent
private equity and finance group with interests in the telecoms
sector, for €25 million in cash which was paid on completion of the
transaction on 3 June 2003. On 20 February 2004, we announced
that our Board of Directors had received and considered a proposal
by Royal K.PN. N.V,, the Dutch telecommunications group. The
Board carefully considered the proposal but rejected it as not being
in the best interests of mmO, shareholders.

The following is a brief summary of the development of our
key businesses:

0, UK
0, UK is our main UK business and presently our most significant
business in terms of its contribution to our revenues and profitability.

0, UK was formed as a joint venture between BT and Securicor
Group plc in January 1984, with BT owning 51 per cent, and, prior
to May 2002, was called BT Cellnet. In April 1986, BT increased its
stake to 60 per cent. In November 1999, BT acquired Securicor’s
remaining stake in the business for £3,173 million including
expenses. The business was managed separately from the businesses
of either of its former shareholders.

0, UK provided analogue mobile telephone services from January
1985 until October 2000 and has provided GSM services since July
1994. In April 2000, O, Third Generation Limited, one of our
subsidiaries, was awarded one of the five UMTS licences in the
United Kingdom for £4.03 billion, which was paid in May 2000.
On 17 July 2003, the UMTS licence was transferred from O, Third
Generation Limited to O, UK. In June 2000, O, UK launched GPRS
services to the UK market.

Our mobile internet portal, O, Online, was originally developed in
1997 as part of O, UK in the United Kingdom, and prior to 2002
was called Genie. O, UK continues to provide online distribution of
its devices and services through this channel.

During the second half of the year, the Group transferred the

0O, Online, Products O, and certain other central functions to the
operating businesses, to simplify lines of management, reduce costs,
and improve speed of execution. This restructuring, which reduced

headcount by 200, led to an exceptional operating charge of

£75 million being incurred in the second half of the year, and is
expected to generate annual cost savings of £40-45 million. As a
consequence of this streamlining, as from 1 April 2004, O, Online
and Products O, will no longer be operated as separate businesses.

0, Germany

Our German business, O, Germany, was launched in May 1995 as
a joint venture between BT and Viag AG, with BT holding a 50 per
cent stake, and prior to 2002 was called Viag Interkom. Pursuant to
agreements made in August 2000 and January 2001, BT acquired a
controlling stake in O, Germany. In February 2001, BT acquired the
remaining share capital of the business from E.ON AG (formerly
known as Viag AG) for £4,562 million.

Initially, the business provided fixed line services only, but in May
1997 O, Germany was awarded the fourth German GSM licence
and launched GSM mobile services in October 1998. In August
2000, O, Germany was awarded a UMTS licence in Germany. The
cost of the licence was £5.16 billion, which was paid in September
2000. In January 2001, O, Germany launched its GPRS service.

0, Ireland
Qur Irish business, O, Ireland, was formed in June 1995. In April
2001, BT acquired the entire share capital of O, Ireland.

0, Ireland launched its commercial GSM services in March 1997 and
its GPRS service in January 2002. On 2 October 2002, O, Ireland was
awarded one of four UMTS licences offered by the Irish government.

0O, Airwave

In November 2001 BT transferred the Airwave business to us.

0, Airwave provides TETRA network services to certain Public Safety
Users in England, Scotland and Wales. Prior to that, BT already had
transferred to us its contracts to provide network services to a
number of police authorities within the United Kingdom.

Manx Telecom

In 1987, our business in the Isle of Man, Manx Telecom, was awarded
a 20-year licence to operate the Isle of Man telecommunications
network. The licence originally covered fixed line telephony, but was
expanded in 1994 to include GSM mobile services and in 1999 to
include UMTS services. Manx Telecom launched Europe’s first UMTS
network in December 2001. On 1 January 2004, Manx Telecom was
awarded a licence extension for 15 years.

0O, Netherlands

O, Netherlands was founded in September 1996 as a joint venture
between BT and Nederlandse Spoorwegen N.V., the Dutch railway
company, with BT holding a 50 per cent stake, and prior to 2002
was called Telfort Mobiel. In July 2000, BT completed the acquisition
of the remaining 50 per cent interest in the business for £1,207
million. On 14 April 2003 we announced that we had agreed the
sale of O, Netherlands to Greenfield Capital Partners, an
independent private equity and finance group with interests in the
telecoms sector, for €25 million in cash which was paid on
completion of the transaction on 3 June 2003.



Business overview

Our Group

We are a leading provider of mobile communications services in
Europe, with wholly owned businesses in the United Kingdom,
Germany, Ireland and the Isle of Man.

Together these target a total population of 148 million people. For
the first time our total subscriber base broke through 20 million
during the year and we now provide international mobile roaming
to 150 countries worldwide.

The businesses in the UK and Ireland are both established and
profitable, with a track record of revenue and customer growth
and a strong presence in high-value markets, such as business
and mobile data services.

0, Germany is now the fastest growing operator in Germany. Its
6 million customers account for the highest ARPU ratio of any
German operator, a major factor in the ongoing transition to
EBITDA profitability during the year.

0, Airwave, which is supplying a network of secure communications
to the police forces and other Public Safety Users in England,
Scotland and Wales, has continued to develop rapidly.

Manx Telecom is unique within the Group, providing mobile, fixed
line and internet services in the Isle of Man. It was also the pioneer
of UMTS networks, the platform on which we, in measured stages,
will supply services Europe-wide.

Our technology
At the heart of our improved performance is GPRS. This achieved
market maturity and rapid growth during the year.

GPRS provides “always on” connectivity for office services,
media/picture messaging, e-mail, e-commerce, banking, online
billing, entertainment, mobile internet and other data services.
Fuelled by the launch of affordable colour screen handsets and new
multimedia applications, the number of customers using GPRS more
than tripled in the year and applications and services were taken up
enthusiastically across all territories.

The trend enabled us to launch Europe’s first mobile music service,
allowing customers to download a choice of over 40,000 tracks to
their mobile phones. Video streaming was also launched, bringing
Rugby World Cup highlights and other sports to mobile handsets
operating on our network.

Only a few years ago, all our revenues came from traditional voice
telephony. Today our customers spend more than £1 billion a year
on other services, including text messaging, e-mail, games and
internet surfing.

Such innovations are essential for achieving our strategic goal of
growing our revenues from more sophisticated data services.
Nevertheless, we continue to benefit from simple text messaging,
with our networks carrying over 11 billion texts during the financial
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year to 31 March 2004. We also saw the rapid growth in
participation TV programmes. The final of Pop Idol 2, a TV
programme, for example, attracted 1.4 million text votes in
the first hour.

GPRS technology, however, is a transitional stage in the gradual
roll-out of UMTS networks. Over time, these are expected to bring
significant benefits to customers, such as high-resolution video,
higher speed multimedia services and other enhancements.

We have secured licences to operate UMTS services in the UK,
Germany, Ireland and the Isle of Man. We believe it is imperative
that these roll out progressively, and only when we can offer
customers a genuinely dynamic service and a range of affordable
handsets with adequate battery life to support such services.

As a result we do not expect to see a mass market take-up

of UMTS until late 2005.

Our products and services

In line with our strategy, our internet portal is designed to attract
high-value customers, reduce churn and generate revenues by
providing high-quality content and closer relationships with
customers. We are pleased with the success of this service, which
has recorded a 27 per cent increase in online subscribers in the
financial year to 31 March 2004, of which around half were
post-pay customers.

We are committed to increasing the value of our offering to
business. Our corporate handheld e-mail device, BlackBerry™, is
central to this. Since launch, more than 55,000 devices have been
sold to over 2,000 organisations.

Following the success of our Xda device, this year’s launch of
our own-brand X1 picture phone and Xda Il second-generation
pocket PC highlighted our ability to offer innovative products to
our customers.

Designed to make the mobile phone more intuitive and easier to
use, O, Active, which is discussed in greater detail later in this
review, has been an instant success. An award-winning, data services
menu, it quickly became the UK’s most widely used mobile portal.

Mobile alliance

In October 2003, our German, UK and Irish operations became
founder members of the Starmap Mobile Alliance, a group of
independent mobile phone operators who are joining forces in
readiness for the international roll-out of UMTS services. Starmap
aims to provide a “home-away-from-home" experience by
introducing seamless roaming and multimedia connectivity to more
than 46 million customers in 10 European countries. The “home-
away-from-home" concept aims to provide customers with a service
while travelling that is as close as possible to that they receive at
home. It will enable members to be quick to market across borders
with new products and services, and will increase their inbound
roaming revenues.
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Business review

Our strategy

Our primary goal is to create shareholder value by becoming

the fastest growing major European mobile operator in revenue

and profitability. We have a number of specific growth opportunities
including market share growth in Germany, improving our customer
mix in the UK and Ireland, O, Airwave moving into full operations,
and maximising the potential of key partnerships such as Tesco Mobile.

We will build on the momentum created by our successful brand,
ensuring that whenever customers come into contact with us the
expectations created by the brand are met. This requires us to
understand clearly different types of customer, to deliver a range of
targeted service packages, to develop efficient CRM systems and to
transform our retail presence. In this way, we aim to become an
integral part of customers’ lives and improve our ability to attract
and retain higher-value customers.

We have already established a strong position in mobile data. To
maintain this strength, we will continue to make these services more
accessible and user-friendly for customers and to deliver compelling
content, services and devices. We will continue to work with third
parties to achieve this.

As a group, we are smaller than some of our international
competitors and we will leverage this relatively small scale to our
advantage. We have recently reorganised our operations to improve
the speed and quality of execution while also developing and
communicating a “local touch” in each market. We continue to
focus on our European footprint of wholly owned businesses.

Our results this year illustrate the value of this targeted approach.
We are experiencing greater customer loyalty and a richer mix

of customers with more emphasis on post-pay packages, together
with higher average returns, which results in greater revenues across
the Group.

The following table represents the turnover for each of our
continuing operating businesses for the three financial years
ended 31 March:

2004 2003 2002
Continuing operations £m £m £m
0, UK 3,451 3,025 2,756
0O, Germany 1,508 1,060 875
0, Ireland 529 442 395
0, Airwave 89 16 11
Manx Telecom 50 48 43
O, Online 140 93 100
Intragroup eliminations (121) (73) (104)
Total 5,646 4,611 4,076

Operations (by country)

0, UK

Operational performance

0, UK continued to build momentum during the financial year to
31 March 2004. Financial performance ahead of our key financial
targets was matched by strong operating performance. Strong
growth in customer numbers, ARPU and EBITDA was accompanied
by significant improvements in network and service quality,
innovative new propositions for our customers and the development
of an increasingly “iconic” and distinctive O, brand.

Total customer numbers grew by 1.2 million to 13.3 million.
Encouragingly, higher spending post-pay customers accounted
for over 40 per cent of customer growth.

The quality of our customer base continued to improve, with higher
ARPU for both post-pay and pre-pay customers. Post-pay ARPU for
the financial year to 31 March 2004 was £525, a 4.4 per cent
increase over the previous financial year, while pre-pay ARPU was
£141, a 16.5 per cent rise over the previous financial year. On a
blended basis ARPU was £272 for the financial year to 31 March
2004, an increase of 10.1 per cent over the previous financial year.

These increases in ARPU reflect our success in attracting large
numbers of new customers from our target high-value consumer
and business segments, as well as success in driving greater revenue
from existing users. As a result, our net service revenue grew

by 16.3 per cent year on year.

To attract high-value customers, we rolled out a number of ground
breaking new services and introduced simpler new tariff packages.
For example, O, Bolt Ons — which allow users to “bolt” additional
bundles of attractively priced voice, text and other services on to
their existing price plan — continued to drive higher usage and
differentiate the O, brand in a crowded market. In September 2003,
we launched O, Home, which uses location-based technology to
allow customers to make cheaper mobile calls from their home for
a fixed monthly premium.

Developing and growing the market for non-voice, or data services,
also remained an area of major focus for the financial year to

31 March 2004, and will continue to be so going forward. Increased
take-up of services that go beyond simple voice and text will be the
key to growing ARPU in a maturing market where new customer
additions will decelerate. During the year, revenue from non-voice
services accounted for over 20 per cent of total O, UK revenue, the
highest proportion among any UK mobile operator. By the end of
the year, nearly 9 per cent of this revenue came from data services
other than text messaging.

For the mass consumer market we introduced O, Active, the mobile
portal, in June 2003, a simple-to-use colour menu that enables
customers to access a range of multimedia services such as video
downloads, news, games, picture messaging, ringtones, images and
chat. As at 31 March 2004, across the Group, there were more than
2.7 million O, Active customers measured as the number of unique
visitors during the previous 90 days.



A number of innovative O, sourced and branded devices also helped
us drive growing service usage. The O, Xda (versions | and Il), a
wireless personal digital assistant enabling web browsing, LAN/WAN
access, video, e-mail and a range of office applications, was widely
recognised as the best device of its kind and helped attract some of
the highest value users in the market. At the other end of the
spectrum, the X1, our unique handset with a range of multimedia
functions, succeeded in stimulating greater non-voice use amongst
pre-pay users because of its very attractive price. We also pioneered
music over mobile with the launch of the O, Digital Music Player,
Europe’s first “over the air” music download service.

All of these services were promoted through a growing network of
0, UK retail stores. Store numbers increased by 41 to reach 235 by
31 March 2004 and retail store sales rose by 25 per cent. Online
sales also grew strongly. Our internet portal, www.02.co.uk, signed
up its one-millionth customer in October 2003, making it the most
successful service of its kind in Europe.

In the business market, the financial year to 31 March 2004 saw

a sharp increase in competition as other mobile operators put far
heavier emphasis in this area than in previous years. To combat this
change, we restructured our sales operations, improved the quality
and focus of our sales force and introduced new pricing and service
propositions for our customers.

Our Best for Business campaign — a series of initiatives including new
tariffs, improved service quality, enhanced account management,
and a multiple award-winning “2 Minute Challenge” advertising
campaign — played a large part in a continued sustained recovery in
our position in the UK business market. Our momentum increased
during the year with customer connections and ARPU both showing
steady growth as the year ended. Good demand for specialist
devices such as BlackBerry™, a wireless e-mail device that utilises our
GPRS data network, and the Xda also contributed to this resurgence.

Operationally, our strategy to improve overall service quality focused
on two main areas: improving our network performance and
increasing our customer service capabilities. Both are aligned to our
continuing strategy of differentiating by delivering a better overall
customer experience.

Our focus on the network led to a 25 per cent overall increase in
performance and quality year-on-year, as measured through
indicators such as minutes per drop, being the number of minutes
between dropped voice calls. This significant improvement brought
independent recognition of O, UK from the industry regulator Oftel
for showing the best ever published national call success rates by
any UK operator. This was achieved despite lower capital expenditure
on the 2G network than in previous years. Improved network and
service quality were among a number of factors contributing to a
year-on-year reduction in churn amongst our post-pay customers.
Pre-pay churn increased slightly, in line with industry trends.

In terms of improving customer service, we continued to make
significant investment in Companion, a single billing and CRM
system that will be a key operational foundation for our future.
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Companion will enable us increasingly to predict and meet
customer needs by better aligning our billing, care and relationship
management activities to their behaviour. A large number of
existing customers have already been transferred from old billing
and CRM systems to Companion and this process will continue
during the year.

Through these and other initiatives, O, UK's customer satisfaction,
measured using our quarterly survey, improved during the year.
Through Companion and other programmes we will continue to put
substantial investment into improving customer satisfaction in the
forthcoming financial year and beyond.

We continued to differentiate ourselves from our competitors
through the increasingly strong appeal and distinctiveness of the O,
brand. Brand awareness continued to climb last year, assisted by O,
UK’s sponsorships of the World Cup-winning England rugby team,
2003 FA Cup winners and new Premiership champions, Arsenal, the
Big Brother TV show and Capital Radio’s drive-time, as well as the
strong appeal of our market propositions. Spontaneous brand
awareness for O, in the UK is currently 64 per cent — an all time high
—versus 53 per cent a year earlier. In less than two years, O, UK has
already achieved the brand awareness figures previously achieved by
its predecessor, BT Cellnet.

Market dynamics

Our performance was achieved against the backdrop of stiff and
increasing competition. This came from traditional competitors such
as Vodafone, Orange and T-Mobile, plus the rise of several newer
entrants whose presence was particularly felt during the second half
of the year. 3, a new third generation mobile network operator
owned by Hutchison Whampoa, launched in March 2003 and, after
a slow start, has built strong momentum. BT Group also re-entered
the mass consumer market as a “virtual” operator (a network
reseller) in autumn 2003. We also formed Tesco Mobile, a 50:50
joint venture between O, UK and Tesco plc, to address sections of
the family market that we do not currently target with the O, brand.
Tesco Mobile launched in October 2003 and, by May 2004, had
reached 250,000 customers, many of them new to the UK mobile
market. We expect competition to intensify again during the
financial year to 31 March 2005, and this will coincide with slowing
overall growth in new customers as the UK market matures.

Corporate responsibility

We recognise our role in protecting the vulnerable, promoting the
responsible use of mobiles, and behaving as a responsible corporate
citizen. Last year, for example, we launched a national education
campaign to promote safer use of mobiles and protect children from
inappropriate contact via mobiles. The campaign is promoted
through a range of channels, including O, UK stores, and includes
advice on the responsible use of camera phones, personal safety,
text bullying and text chat.

Together with the other networks, we have worked with the police
and the Home Office to tackle mobile phone crime. We have made
significant technical progress in ensuring that both handsets and SIM
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cards cannot be used after they have been stolen, and we have
funded a targeted advertising campaign called “Immobilise” to
publicise this change. In December 2003, in advance of the changes
in the law to make it an offence to hold a mobile phone while
driving, we also launched an awareness campaign to publicise this
change and promote safe driving practice.

In the communities where we operate, we have focused on children
and teenagers deemed to be most at risk. In Slough, where we are
headquartered, we funded and launched a new Cyber Café in an
area of particular social deprivation. The facility is being used by
Slough Education Authority and Youth Services teams for
programmes targeting teenagers who face the greatest risk of social
exclusion. Similarly, we initiated a joint partnership with the
International Youth Foundation and the Foyer Federation to sponsor
“Safe Moves”, a pilot early intervention programme for teenagers at
risk of becoming homeless. The programme was piloted in West
Yorkshire near our Leeds offices. We also support Milly’s Fund as our
national charity. Set up by the family of teenager Milly Dowler
following her tragic abduction and murder, the charity aims to
empower young people to better evaluate potential risks to their
personal safety. In October 2003, we jointly launched “Teach UR
Mum 2 Txt”, a national campaign that gives simple tips to parents
and children about how to use mobile phones to increase personal
safety. The campaign received a global award for the best use of
mobile technology in society in February 2004. Finally, as part of our
community investment programme, we funded the development of
a medical device using the O, Xda enabling doctors to monitor
asthma patients remotely. The technology allows patients to manage
their conditions more effectively and helps doctors to diagnose and
provide timely treatment. We are currently funding a similar trial to
monitor Cystic Fibrosis patients.

Looking ahead

We will continue our focus on improving profitability by growing our
base of high-value customers and improving business efficiency. To
achieve this, we remain committed to delivering the best possible
experience for our customers through, amongst other things,
continued improvements in service quality, launch of innovative new
services, improvements in customer service and CRM, and continued
development of the O, brand.

Some of these new services will be made possible by UMTS mobile
technology. Investment made in our UMTS network during the
financial year to 31 March 2004 will accelerate in the financial year
to 31 March 2005 as we move towards the commercial launch

of our initial UMTS services in autumn 2004. However, we expect
that UMTS will have a more substantial impact on the UK market
after 2004.

Overall, we expect that competition in the UK mobile market will
continue to intensify over the next 12 months. As such, we expect
customer and revenue growth to slow in the financial year to

31 March 2005. This is why we remain focused on driving increased
usage of new non-voice services to help deliver higher ARPU. We
remain confident that the momentum we have established and the
actions we are currently taking to continue strengthening our

business will ideally position us to emerge from a challenging market
in good health.

0, Germany

Operational performance

0O, Germany achieved further EBITDA growth, underlining its high
degree of operational efficiency and strict cost management
together with its ability to generate strong top line growth, fuelled
by high value customers.

Further important programmes were initiated to streamline
operations, for example integrated customer care, and to increase
customer loyalty. In October 2003, O, Germany launched an online
loyalty programme aimed at driving ARPU up and churn down.
Customers collecting bonus points are able to choose between
different rewards. The loyalty programme is simple to understand
and also brings the customer closer to O, Germany's product range.
An “Active Lifecycle Management Pre-paid and Post-paid”
programme to increase customer retention and profitability was also
introduced. With service differentiation and new, extended sales
channels, customer retention has been given a high priority.
Integrated marketing is an additional component of the CRM
concept. Having identified gaps in our distribution network we
successfully increased the number of our direct outlets to 470 shops
by 31 March 2004 which included partnerships with other retailers,
including shop-in-shops. Our online shop has become one of our
strongest direct sales channels with particular appeal to mobile

data customers.

Genion, a key driver of gross additions, underlines our strategic
focus on more profitable customers, generating higher ARPU and

a considerably lower churn rate than other mobile products.
Customers attracted from other operators usually generate a higher
ARPU because they change their patterns of usage with Genion.
Thanks to its advanced technology, Genion offers innovative services
in combination with reduced tariffs in a geographical area chosen by
the customer, usually near the home or workplace. This is a unique
service in the German market. We will be continuing to promote
Genion employing an evolutionary marketing approach to widen the
potential market and to address sub-segments with dedicated
campaigns and special tariff offers.

In our target business market we made good progress, winning
major new customers, forging new partnerships with sales channels
and software suppliers, and introducing innovative new tariff
packages and services specially tailored for the business customer.
We acquired a number of household name customers, including
Kraft Foods, Xerox, Campbells, Bayer, Blohm+Voss and Deutsche
Assekuranz Pool Gmbh. We also expanded our indirect sales model —
the “pure business centre” — which is targeted at small and medium
sized enterprises. We intend to have between 10 and 15 key
partners who will, in turn, manage a further 60 to 100 sales
partners. Some 20 co-operation agreements have been signed with
companies including Siemens SBS, UNISYS, Tobit Software, Nextira
One and Software AG. With these partners we are able to offer our
business customers mobile solutions in such areas as field service
control and mobile data security, using our Xda Il and the



BlackBerry™, among other platforms. In January 2004 we launched
customised business packages — Pro Office, Pro Company and

Pro Connect — for small businesses and the self-employed. We
introduced a new simple, transparent and flexible tariff scheme for
medium to large companies. As an example of our focus on the
customer, we were first to the German business market with an
application that allows quick access to company data using UMTS.
0O, Germany customers can now use either UMTS, GPRS or WLAN
for mobile data applications with the aid of new connectivity
software that automatically connects customers to the network
best suited to their needs.

Our growth in revenues from mobile data products continued last
year, reinforced by further progress in the wholesale market. Data
revenues at O, Germany have shown a strong increase accompanied
by superior data ARPU compared with our competitors. SMS services
are still the main driver of growth in data revenues, but non-SMS
data services are also showing significant growth. About 20 per cent
of our customer base is now using non-SMS data services. In June
2003, the O, Active mobile portal was launched. O, Active is the
first full colour mobile portal to adapt automatically to the user’s
behaviour. It has enjoyed an excellent reception in the marketplace
and from external commentators. In September 2003 we launched
mobile data packs, comprising e-mail & surf pack and an e-mail
pack. This is a differentiating factor for O, Germany compared to our
competition (which followed suit), a good example of O, Germany’s
innovative marketing initiatives. It has been well received in the
marketplace because mobile data packs are easy to use and offer
transparent pricing. Multicard, a service enabling customers to
combine between three and six SIM cards under one number, was
launched in October 2003. It shows a high level of technical
functionality, in particular enabling customers to surf the internet
and make phone calls at the same time which is unique in the
German market. Our hardware strategy also showed successes.
MMS handsets with integrated cameras, which show an MMS-
ARPU-share about three times higher than for handsets with click-on
cameras, have become increasingly important. In November 2003
we launched the X1, the first O, branded phone.

As a complementary product, we have developed WLAN services.
From October 2003, O, Germany post-pay customers have been
able to tap into the service without prior registration. Pre-pay
customers can access the WLAN service by using vouchers or a credit
card. O, Germany currently has 450 hotspots, making it one of the
leading WLAN providers in Germany. Our partnerships with
GlobalAirnet AG, Swisscom Eurospot, ISIS Multimedia Net and
NetCheckln are driving the rapid expansion of our WLAN hotspots.
Our partners deal with WLAN technology while O, Germany takes
care of marketing and billing.

Market dynamics

The German mobile phone market grew at a faster rate last year as
penetration of active customers rose to 76 per cent in March 2004
compared with 69 per cent in March 2003. During the financial year to
31 March 2004 the total number of connections grew by 6 million to
66 million. The attractiveness of the German market is underlined by its
strong growth, even though the market is close to saturation. The
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availability of mobile data services and increasingly attractive handsets
were an important driver of market growth. Market conditions remained
competitive as operators sought growth through highly subsidised
handset offers and attractive tariffs, including flat rates and large volume
bundles. There are currently four mobile network operators in Germany
— T-Mobile, Vodafone, E-Plus and O, Germany.

Corporate responsibility

O, Germany is an active participant in the communities in which we
operate. Our Schola-21 project was launched during the year. This is an
internet-based school project supported by O, Germany in partnership
with the International Youth Foundation and Deutsche Kinder-und-
Jugendstiftung (“German Children and Youth Foundation”) which was
launched in 2003. The main features of Schola-21 are the creation of an
internet portal and a virtual learning area that will be used to stimulate
study and support learning on specific projects.

Looking ahead

Last year we concentrated on reductions in operating costs and
improvements in our core processes, together with a number of major
new product launches and the launch of our customer Loyalty
Programme. Corporate customers are increasingly recognising the value
of our specially tailored products. In the coming year, O, Germany will
continue to develop and enhance data products such as a surf@home
(@ mobile Internet enhancement for our Genion product based on
UMTS) and to exploit synergies within the Starmap Mobile Alliance.
The next phase of O, Active will provide customers with an integrated
experience and offer an advanced online portal with personalised
content for the next generation of handsets. We will also be developing
an attractive and comprehensive UMTS service in line with availability
of appropriate handsets and customer demand. We will maintain an
ongoing focus on market segmentation and continue to adjust our
marketing activities and organisation accordingly. Our target remains to
continue to grow our market share in Germany focusing on high-value
customers and a further improvement in our EBITDA margin through
top line growth and operational efficiency.

0, Ireland

Operational performance

O, Ireland management maintained a focus last year on providing
customers with the best possible service experience, and was
recognised in a number of industry awards and commendations.
In April 2003, O, Ireland was awarded Telecoms Company of the
Year at the ICT Expo Awards. Our portal website (www.02.ie) won
Ireland’s leading technology award, the Golden Spider Award, for
the third year running. O, Ireland was also short-listed by the Irish
Independent among the top 50 companies to work for in Ireland.

In the past year, the O, Ireland management team has continued to
improve business performance, gain market share and build the
reputation of the O, brand and the business. Through improved
operational efficiencies, quality of service and innovation, we have
retained our existing customers and won new subscribers. During
the past 12 months, the strength of the O, brand has continued to
grow and deliver maximum value to the business. Awareness of the
brand was helped by sponsorships and associations with the Irish
Rugby Football Union, the Smurfit European Open, golfer Padraig
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Harrington and O, in the Park — a family musical event in Phoenix
Park, Dublin.

O, Ireland also maintained a strong performance in its quarterly
customer satisfaction survey over the past year as customers scored
O, Ireland highly in both network quality and billing services. The
increase in customer satisfaction on these two counts stemmed
from continued investment in the O, Ireland network together with
intensive efforts to make bills easier to understand and to ensure
that they get to customers on time.

O, Ireland continues to invest in technology and improvements in
the efficiency of our operations, ensuring that our people can deliver
a better service to our customers. In the past year, with this aim in
view, we have concentrated on customer care, IT and network
technology. The new products and services that we launched last
year have reinforced our strategy, which is to offer value for money,
simple tariffs and services that are easy to use. In this way we retain
and attract high value customers. We introduced new tariffs in 2003
for pre-pay and post-pay customers, leading to a strong increase in
our customer base.

In September 2003, we introduced All Ireland, a new tariff for
customers moving between the Republic of Ireland and Northern
Ireland that abolishes roaming charges between the two
jurisdictions. We also brought an innovative new cost-saving service
to market: Group Worker enables companies to separate the mobile
calls of their employees into personal and work-related calls, thereby
reducing the overall cost of mobile communications to the company.

Full Mobile Number Portability came into effect in July 2003. This
was a highly complex programme, successfully implemented by a
large team from across our business and one which won us
customers from other operators.

Maintaining the highest quality network in order to maximise
customer satisfaction remains central to our business. We always
seek to build our network in a cost efficient and environmentally
friendly way and we therefore continued, where possible, to share
existing sites of other mobile operators and utilities providers.

We have adopted the same policy in building our UMTS network.
On 14 January 2004 the Commission for Communications
Regulation (ComReg) formally confirmed that O, Ireland had reached
its UMTS performance targets in relation to network coverage,
quality of service and site sharing. We began limited trials of our
UMTS service in January and plan to bring UMTS services to the
market in late 2004.

We have built our networks in a way that is designed to be as
unobtrusive as possible to local communities. We have put
community relations at the heart of everything we do and we
continue to play a highly visible role in many parts of Irish life from
sports to entertainment to the arts.

As part of our strategy to provide wireless broadband services to the
regions, O, Ireland became the only Irish mobile operator to receive

government funding to install wi-fi hotspots in selected locations in
western Ireland. We also rolled out our own wi-fi hotspots
nationwide in hotels, airports, bus and train stations and business
centres. Currently we have over 20 hotspots in operation around
the country and we are in discussion with other operators to seek
agreement over roaming services.

Mobile data usage continued to improve owing to the success of
products such as the BlackBerry™, the Xda combined phone and
personal computer, and games. Growth in text messaging continued
with usage up by 20.2 per cent. We had a particularly strong
Christmas in 2003, with sales of camera phones and new customer
acquisitions exceeding our targets. In the corporate market, we
gained a number of important new customers including Campbell
Soups, APC and Atlantic Industries.

Market dynamics

The Irish market continues to be a highly challenging one for the
mobile industry with penetration levels of mobile phones in the
population now standing at 88%. O, Ireland holds the second
biggest share of the market at 40%. 3 (Hutchison Telecom) entered
the market in January 2004 and has begun to roll out its UMTS
network. Meanwhile two fixed line operators, Esat BT and Eircom,
have both indicated that they intend to re-enter the mobile market.

Corporate responsibility

In Ireland, our Community Investment programme focuses on
providing educational opportunities for young people in areas of social
disadvantage. We have partnered with the Irish Youth Foundation in
support of its CITY (Communications and Information Technology for
Youth) project in North Dublin. The programme provides supervised
computer access for 10-19 year olds. O, Ireland also sponsored the
Irish Youth Foundation’s Children’s Hour. This is a national fundraising
initiative that invites employees from large and small businesses in
Ireland to donate one hour’s worth of their salary to support
educational and social projects for disadvantaged young people.

In November 2003, Chief Executive Danuta Gray became a board
member of Business in the Community in Ireland. In June 2003,
Ireland hosted the Special Olympics. Forty O, Ireland staff were given
additional holidays to volunteer in the organisation of the event.

In addition, O, Ireland provided its corporate box in the Special
Olympics venue to entertain people with special needs during the
opening and closing ceremonies.

In January 2004, O, Ireland launched a handset recycling scheme
throughout its offices and shops nationwide. This scheme will support
the National Tree Week, a national initiative that plants 15,000 trees
throughout Ireland each year.

Looking ahead

The focus for O, Ireland over the coming year will be to concentrate
on providing the best possible customer experience with the aim of
acquiring and keeping high value customers and offering them
compelling products and services. We will continue to grow basic
services by increasing market share. Non-voice revenues will become
increasingly important. We saw a noticeable increase in the number



of camera phones and other data devices sold towards the end of
last year, which will lead to more and more revenues coming from
non-voice services. While non-voice revenue will become an
increasingly important part of our revenue stream, we will continue
to maximise revenue from existing voice services. We have met the
regulatory requirements for UMTS network roll-out and we would
hope to provide commercial UMTS services to the mass market in
late 2004, dependent on the availability of handsets at a price and
in a form that is attractive to our customers. While we expect
competitiveness in the market place to increase, we are well placed
to grow the business profitably with ongoing reviews to maximise
shareholder value.

0O, Airwave

Operational performance

During the financial year to 31 March 2004, O, Airwave accelerated
the roll-out of its network and established itself as our fourth
substantial business. We delivered our service to a further 25 police
forces during the year, including the Metropolitan Police, taking the
total of forces so far supplied to 35 with over 50,000 officers using
the service. We won new customers from other Public Safety Users
and launched new products and services, securing additional
business. We expect to complete the roll-out of the Airwave
network by the end of calendar 2005 when a further 16 forces

will start using the service. The faster pace of roll-out led to a more
than five-fold increase in revenues, which, coupled with tight cost
controls, produced a positive EBITDA for the first time. We invested
£243 million in building our network during the financial year to
31 March 2004. We will continue to invest a significant amount
during the financial year to 31 March 2005, after which our capital
expenditure will decline as we complete the build of our network.
Under the terms of a £2.9 billion, 19-year contract with the Home
Office, O, Airwave will be the sole supplier of core mobile radio
services to all 51 police forces in England, Scotland and Wales, with
the three national forces also using the service.

Opportunities for Airwave are not restricted to police forces. Airwave
is currently used by the Ministry of Defence Police, the UK Atomic
Energy Authority Constabulary, the Land Army, two Fire and Rescue
Services and an Ambulance Trust. The Royal Navy is also contracted
to use Airwave in the future. We are licensed by the DTl to offer our
service to about 100 other defined Public Safety Users in the UK. In
an important opportunity, O, Airwave is short-listed for a contract to
provide the communications network for the Ambulance Service
nationwide. We have also been short-listed to supply the Fire Service
nationwide. During the year, O, Airwave won new customers among
other Public Safety Users who value Airwave's ability to allow
emergency services to communicate with each other. O, Airwave is
working with the Highways Agency to put Airwave into 400 vehicles
that patrol motorways and A-roads, dealing with traffic incidents
and managing the road network nationwide. HM Prison Service has
chosen O, Airwave to provide communications in the transport of
prisoners. Two of our first customers for Airwave Direct, a fully-
managed radio communications service enabling smaller public
safety bodies to subscribe directly to the Airwave network, have
been Norfolk County Council and Darlington Borough Council.
Norfolk is using Airwave to improve communications within its
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emergency planning team and to allow the team to communicate
directly with the police when necessary. For similar reasons,
Darlington has equipped its community wardens with Airwave
making communication easier among wardens and with the police.

Airwave’s capabilities go beyond voice transmission: they enable the
secure communication of vital data across the network. Airwave
allows police officers to gain access to the Police National Computer
(PNC) and Scottish Criminal Records Office to carry out vehicle and
personal checks directly from their Airwave handsets. Rapid access to
national records not only increases the efficiency of police officers; it
also reduces the workload of command and control centres. North
Yorkshire and Suffolk Police Forces are using Airwave’s Automatic
Vehicle Location Service to track the precise deployment and status
of their fleets of vehicles, about 700 vehicles in total. Kent and
Lancashire constabularies have undertaken trials of our Mobile
Application Gateway (MAG). The Kent Police Force used MAG to
give officers access to the PNC and to its local HQ while Lancashire
Police Forces accessed the PNC together with databases for firearms,
arrest warrants and “missing from home” cases. Among non-police
customers, Hereford & Worcester Ambulance Trust is the first NHS
organisation to use a patient telemetry service over the Airwave
network. Patients’ vital data can be monitored by ambulance crews
and transmitted over the Airwave network directly to hospital
Accident & Emergency units, enabling life-saving treatment to begin
at the scene of an incident. Shropshire Fire & Rescue has also
enjoyed improved safety for its fire fighters, faster response times
and better risk management by using voice and data communication
over the Airwave network.

Airwave is a sophisticated, fully encrypted digital radio system, which
cannot be scanned or monitored by outsiders. On completion in
2005, the Airwave network will allow the police to communicate
seamlessly and securely throughout England, Scotland and Wales.
Airwave’s multi-functional handsets, combining a digital radio and
mobile phone, also operate as data terminals — enabling officers in
the field to access local and national databases. As well as making

a significant contribution to the fight against crime, the system
promotes the safety of officers, partly because it has better radio
coverage and call clarity but also because of its emergency button
feature, which enables officers to summon immediate assistance.
The Airwave network is based on the open European standard for
TETRA. In addition to almost 100 per cent geographical coverage,
capacity will be available on Airwave whenever and wherever a
Public Safety User needs it — a vital feature in emergencies. Voice
quality is very clear and all communications are encrypted, which
means that third parties cannot listen in, allowing the police, for
example, to keep one step ahead of the criminals. Airwave will also
provide a common platform for Public Safety Users, giving them true
interoperability and comprehensive geographical coverage. Lack of
communications at major emergencies and disasters has been
highlighted as a significant factor in hampering the effective co-
ordination of rescue efforts by the emergency services. Using
Airwave, police officers from different forces can talk to one another
or to officers from other emergency services, whatever their location,
who can in turn communicate directly with one another.
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Corporate responsibility

0, Airwave assesses its responsibility to its customers against key
performance indicators created by those customers, which we strive
to meet or exceed. We have also established a reporting structure to
conform with key indices developed by the Group in areas including
the environment, waste management, employee satisfaction and
treatment of our supply chain. A key target is to comply with the
ISO 14001 international standard by the end of calendar 2004.

O, Airwave is committed to creating national coverage for the
emergency services. This means that the roll-out of our network will
take us into areas including national parks, other areas of natural
beauty as well as major cities, that are challenging from a planning
point of view. We are a signatory to the mobile phone industry’s
Code of Best Practice incorporating the industry’s Ten Commitments
on mast siting. We also operate Goldstar, a consultation programme
on our network development that closely involves briefings for local
and regional policymakers and representatives of local communities.

O, Airwave seeks to be an active participant in the community.
During calendar 2003 we launched our Community Investment
programme which focuses on the theme of Youth Inclusion. Projects
we have sponsored so far include a child road safety project in
Devon and Cornwall, Look Alive!, a new advice and information line
for Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service and the training and naming

of a police dog, Rufus, who has now started service with the
Nottinghamshire Police. O, Airwave employees have also given their
time to support London Crimestoppers, the Merseyside High Sheriff
and Chief Constable’s Trust, and Weston Spirit.

Looking ahead

We will continue to invest a significant amount during the financial
year to 31 March 2005, after which our capital expenditure will
decline as we complete the build of our network. O, Airwave

is already EBITDA positive and network completion will allow

a transformation of financial performance. In the meantime,

0, Airwave will seek to build on its success in exploiting the
expanding range of opportunities for winning potential customers
among the emergency services and Public Safety Users.

Manx Telecom

Operational performance

Manx Telecom has been operating on the Isle of Man since 1987
and has provided a programme of investment to establish a world-
class telecommunications infrastructure there, at the forefront of
introducing new technology and services. We were the first
telecommunications operator in Europe to switch on a live UMTS
network, which we did in December 2001. Our experience has
provided the Group with valuable feedback prior to its launch of
UMTS services in Germany, Ireland and the UK.

On 1 January 2004 Manx Telecom was awarded a licence extension
by the Isle of Man Government for 15 years. The licence renewal has
reduced Manx Telecom’s annual payment to the government to a
level which covers the cost of telecommunications regulation. The
savings resulting from this are being passed on to customers through
a range of tariff reductions and increased discounts which will help
to make our pricing very competitive.

In May 2003, Manx Telecom launched its GPRS service, Manx Pronto
Connect, with Island-wide coverage, followed in July 2003 by picture
messaging. We also launched a wholesale SMS service which has
increased the volume of text messages generated. The average
number of SMS (texts) sent per month was around three million.

Capital spending during the year was £9 million compared with

£7 million in the previous financial year. In December 2003, Manx
Telecom completed a programme of work that saw all its telephone
exchanges ADSL-enabled, in order to provide broadband services to
local customers. This means that around 98 per cent of households
and businesses on the island can now access broadband Internet.
This initiative, in conjunction with the launch of our competitively-
priced Wires-Only ADSL service in September 2003, has seen the
take-up of broadband accelerate on the island. In the past five years,
Manx Telecom has invested around £50 million in the Isle of Man’s
telecommunications infrastructure.

We pride ourselves on our record for customer service. This year we
continued to build on our reputation with figures from event-driven
surveys showing that 87 per cent of customers are very satisfied with
the service they have received.

Market dynamics
Manx Telecom is the only provider of mobile and fixed line telephony
on the island.

Corporate responsibility

Manx Telecom continues to play an active part in the local
community. We have funded initiatives such as the Manx
Telecomputer Bus, a service providing schoolchildren and others in
the community with access to advanced telecommunications, which
this year, we are pleased to say, won a New Statesman Contribution
to Civic Society award.

Looking ahead

Our newly awarded, 15-year, licence will give us the platform to
continue to offer telecommunications services of the highest quality
and best possible value to the population of the Isle of Man. We will
remain at the forefront of new technological developments in
telecoms on the island and actively support the government’s
strategy to attract new inward investment to the Isle of Man. We
look forward with optimism to the future.



Regulation

We conduct most of our business in the United Kingdom, Germany,
Ireland and the Isle of Man. We are therefore subject to national
regulation in each of those countries as well as European Union-
wide regulation.

Regulation in the EU

The EU has adopted a new regulatory framework for the electronic
communications sector (the New EU Framework) which replaces
much of the previous EU regulatory regime. Member States were
required to implement the New EU Framework into national law
by 24 July 2003, although some have not yet completed
implementation.

The New EU Framework comprises four principal Directives which
are intended to converge and harmonise electronic communication
regulation throughout the European Community. Amongst other
things, the Directives set out policy objectives and regulatory
principles that National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs) must follow:
they provide for a new authorisation system for companies which
provide electronic communications networks and services, contain
measures to ensure the universal provision of basic services to
consumers, and set out the terms on which providers may access
each other’s networks and services.

Importantly, the New EU Framework also harmonises the rules

for deciding when regulation may be imposed on electronic
communications providers. In particular, it provides that electronic
communications providers can usually only be subject to specific
regulation in markets in which they have “significant market power”
(SMP). SMP, for these purposes, has been aligned to the competition
law concept of dominance, which essentially means an ability to act
independently of customers, suppliers and competitors.

The European Commission (Commission) has identified in a
Recommendation (published in February 2003) a list of markets
which may be such as to justify the application of specific regulation
(the Recommendation). The Recommendation includes the following
mobile markets: (i) access and call origination on public mobile
telephone networks; (i) voice call termination on individual mobile
networks; and (iii) wholesale national market for international
roaming on public mobile networks. The Commission has stated that
it will review the need for any update to the Recommendation by

30 June 2004 on the basis of market developments.

NRAs must conduct market reviews in order to determine whether
any companies have SMP in any of the markets identified in the
Recommendation. NRAs may also, with the Commission’s consent,
review markets that are not listed in the Recommendation. Where

a company is found to have SMP in any market, the regulator must
impose one or more of the following SMP conditions on it:
transparency; non-discrimination; accounting separation; access;
price control and cost accounting. In exceptional circumstances, a
regulator may impose additional or alternative obligations, but these
have to be approved by the Commission. If a company is found not
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to have SMP in a market, then SMP conditions cannot be imposed
on it, and existing regulation must be removed.

Regulation in the United Kingdom

Implementation of the New EU Framework

The New EU Framework was implemented in the UK by the
Communications Act 2003 (Communications Act) on 25 July 2003.
Under the Communications Act, responsibility for the regulation of
electronic communications networks and services lies with the Office
of Communications (Ofcom), which replaced the Office of
Telecommunications (Oftel), the Radiocommunications Agency, the
Independent Television Commission, the Broadcasting Standards
Commission and the Radio Authority. Transitional arrangements
were put in place whereby Ofcom’s functions in relation to
telecommunications were carried out by the Director General of
Telecommunications (DGT) between 25 July 2003 and

29 December 2003. Ofcom is carrying out a Strategic Review of
telecommunications. This will provide us with the opportunity to
inform and constructively engage with Ofcom in the shaping of
future UK industry regulations.

Market reviews

In the UK, the DGT has concluded that no mobile network operator
(either individually or jointly) has SMP in the market for access and
call origination on public mobile telephone networks. This means
that various regulatory obligations (such as requirements to meet
requests for interconnection and not to show undue preference or
discrimination in the supply of wholesale services provided over
public mobile networks) which had previously been imposed on us
and Vodafone were lifted.

Ofcom has not yet completed its review of voice call termination on
individual mobile networks, but has proposed that the charges we
make to other operators for terminating calls on our network (call
termination) should be reduced.

Ofcom has proposed that our call termination charges should be
reduced from an average of 8.03 pence per minute to an average of
5.65 pence per minute for the financial year to 31 March 2005; and
that they should be reduced by a further 10.5 per cent in the
financial year to 31 March 2006, after allowing for an increase in
such charges equal to the increase in the UK Retail Price Index (RPI).

As at 17 May 2004, Ofcom was planning to complete its market
review by the end of May 2004 and to require us to make these
proposed price reductions.

National roaming

Under the previous regulatory regime, O, UK and Vodafone were
subject to an obligation in our licences to negotiate a national
roaming agreement with the new entrant mobile network operator,
3. In accordance with this obligation, we entered into an agreement
with 3 to permit it to use our second generation network to
originate and terminate calls to and from its subscribers while it
builds its own UMTS network.
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Regulation in Germany

The New EU Framework is not expected to be implemented into
German law (via a new Telecommunications Act) before June 2004.
Until then, the current German Telecommunications Act will
continue to govern the award of licences for the conduct of certain
telecommunications activities and the allocation of frequencies.
The German telecommunications regulator, RegTP, is not expected
to start carrying out its market reviews (of the markets listed in the
Commission’s Recommendation) until the New EU Framework is
implemented into German law.

0, Germany fulfilled its obligation, under German UMTS licence
requirements, to reach 25 per cent population coverage with its
UMTS network. Mobilcom handed back its UMTS licence to RegTP
in December 2003.

Regulation in Ireland

The New EU Framework was implemented into Irish law on 25 July
2003. On 1 December 2002, under the Communications Regulation
Act 2002, a new regulatory body was established for the regulation
of the communications sector in Ireland. This new three-person
regulatory body, known as the Commission for Communications
Regulation (ComReg), replaces the Office of the Director of
Telecommunications Regulation.

Under the old framework, O, Ireland and Vodafone were designated
as having SMP in the mobile telephony market and the national
market for interconnection in Ireland. Our SMP conditions under the
old framework remain in place until ComReg has completed its
market reviews.

ComReg is currently reviewing responses to its consultation
document on the wholesale mobile access and call origination
market. ComReg’s preliminary conclusion in the consultation
document was that O, Ireland and Vodafone are jointly dominant
and should be designated with SMP in this market. If this conclusion
is confirmed, ComReg proposes to impose on us SMP conditions
requiring us to enter into commercial negotiations for the purpose
of providing wholesale national roaming access to qualifying non-
SMP operators. It may also impose on us certain transparency,
non-discrimination, accounting separation and cost accounting
obligations. ComReg’s conclusions on its market analysis and
proposed SMP designations are expected to be issued in
July/August 2004.

In July 2003, O, Ireland agreed with ComReg to reduce mobile
termination rates by Retail Price Index minus 8 per cent per annum
for the period 31 August 2003 to 31 August 2005.

Regulation in the Isle of Man

The Isle of Man is a self-governing Crown Dependency with its own
parliament and is not part of the United Kingdom or the EU.
Accordingly, Manx legislation and regulations predominantly govern
our operations in the Isle of Man.

On 1 January 2004 our new licence extension, awarded by the Isle
of Man Government for 15 years, came into force.

Competition law

EU competition law

We are subject to the general competition law of the EU and, in
particular, Articles 81 and 82 of the EC Treaty (Article 81 and Article
82), which prohibit anti-competitive agreements or concerted
practices and the abuse of a dominant position respectively where
there is an effect on trade between EU Member States.

EU competition law is enforced by the Commission and, since 1 May
2004, has also been enforced by national competition authorities
and national courts. Companies which breach EU competition law
can be subjected to fines of up to 10 per cent of their group’s
worldwide annual turnover. They may also be sued in national courts
by third parties which suffer loss as a result of the breach.

We are also subject to the national competition law of the countries
in which we operate. In the UK, Germany and Ireland, national
competition law broadly mirrors the provisions of EU competition
law, prohibiting anti-competitive agreements or concerted practices
and the abuse of a dominant position.

International roaming charges

The Commission is currently investigating whether mobile operators
have infringed Article 81 and/or Article 82 in markets for
international mobile roaming services in the European Economic
Area. The investigation is continuing and no conclusions have yet
been reached.

Infrastructure sharing and national roaming

We have entered into UMTS infrastructure-sharing and national
roaming agreements with T-Mobile in the UK and Germany. The
agreements were formally notified to the Commission for negative
clearance or exemption under Article 81. The Commission formally
cleared the UK arrangement by Decision of 30 April 2003, and the
German arrangement by Decision of 16 July 2003.

The Commission took the view that the infrastructure sharing
aspects of the agreements did not restrict competition. National
roaming, on the other hand, was considered restrictive of
competition, but was granted exemption from Article 81 for certain
specified time periods. We lodged an appeal of the German decision
with the European Court of First Instance on 25 September 2003.

We also have a 2G national roaming agreement with T-Mobile in
Germany. The German competition authority indicated in August
1999 that national roaming agreements may infringe competition
laws but that, in the case of our agreement with T-Mobile, this was
unlikely to be the case at that time. However, it reserved the right
to review this position.



UK margin squeeze investigations

Ofcom has been investigating whether O, UK, Vodafone, Orange
and T-Mobile have conducted a margin squeeze in breach of UK
competition law. The investigation concerns whether the prices

we charge certain retail business customers for calls from fixed lines
to mobiles could represent a margin squeeze, when compared to
the wholesale prices we charge to others for terminating calls on
our network.

Key markets

Europe includes some of the most advanced markets for mobile
services in the world. These markets are characterised by relatively
high mobile penetration rates and revenues per customer and are
amongst the leading markets for the emergence of mobile data
services. These markets are also characterised by high population
density and GDP per capita. Across Western Europe, the proportion
of total voice traffic carried over mobile rather than fixed-line
networks continues to increase. These markets are also seeing an
increasing proportion of mobile revenues attributable to mobile data
services and we expect this trend to continue.

Our mobile businesses cover two of the largest markets in Europe,
with the UK and German markets giving us access to a total
population of over 144 million people. All our markets have seen
growth over the last few years in the number of mobile telephone
users, in large part reflecting strong demand for competitively priced
pre-pay offerings. Our markets are seeing the emergence of
additional wholesale opportunities for network operators. Through
wholesale agreements, network operators are able to sell capacity
and services on a large scale to other service providers and mobile
virtual network operators.

Historically, the number of customer connections to mobile
telephone networks in the markets where we are present has been
greater during the second half of the financial year than during the
first half, primarily due to increased sales during the Christmas
period. See “Operating and financial review and prospects — Factors
affecting our business”.

The table below presents selected data regarding the principal
countries in Europe in which our businesses operate. Due to the sale

of O, Netherlands, this table does not present data for that business.

Active mobile'
customers’ mmO,
penetration customers
at 31 March at 31 March

Population” 2004 2004
Country (in millions) (%) (in 000°s)
Germany 84 76 5,982
United Kingdom 60 91 13,264
Ireland 4 88 1,391
Total 148 20,637

1 Source: EMC Worldwide Cellular Database, May 2004.
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Employees

The Group had the equivalent of 12,905 employees at
31 March 2004, as set forth by country in the table below:

Country Number of employees
United Kingdom 7,576
Germany 3,517
Ireland 1,534
Isle of Man 278
Total 12,905

For the year ended 31 March 2004, the aggregate number of
temporary staff employed by our businesses was 2,124.

In the United Kingdom, a number of our employees are represented
by two recognised unions: Connect, which has representation
rights in respect of junior management employees, and the
Communications Workers Union, which has representation rights
in respect of clerical, engineering and technical employees.
Membership of these unions is individual and voluntary. In addition,
a non-unionised employee representative body represents certain
managers. Our other operating businesses also meet with their
employee representative bodies, or works councils, regularly.

We believe that our businesses have a good relationship with

our employees and their representatives.

Network and service platform technology

As a result of the initiative to move forward with a common
infrastructure which supports the development of services and
applications across the Group, a Nortel GPRS core network has been
installed and is now operational in the UK, Germany and Ireland.
Common UMTS core (Nortel) and radio (Nortel and Nokia) has also
been installed over the last year in these operating businesses.
Adopting this approach has brought economies of scale to the
costs of infrastructure roll-out across the Group and supports a
pan-European approach to services while enabling tailoring for

local market requirements.

Information technology

The information technology deployed in the Group is critical to the
efficient and effective operation of the businesses. The focus for
each business has been to:

>> maintain a firm level of cost control, whilst supporting overall
business growth;

>> ensure investment is maintained in the most strategic
systems; and

>> work together to leverage cross-Group benefits.
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Following a successful Group-wide initiative to reduce costs in line
with our peers, a variety of initiatives have been pursued. These
include renegotiating and consolidating supplier contracts, tightly
managing contract renewal and deploying new equipment to reduce
maintenance costs.

This cost control has allowed a shift in investment to strategic
projects, for example to enhance content billing, to consolidate
multiple legacy billing systems, to address new market segments
and to enhance significantly the CRM capability in each of

our businesses.

The IT community from each of the operating businesses has worked
together where benefits have been clearly identified. This has
enabled us to deploy common infrastructure, use common products
and re-use custom developments. There has also been a joint
approach to our key suppliers, providing benefits to both sides and
enabling the introduction of framework contracts across the Group.

Looking ahead, our businesses have major IT projects to underpin
the business strategy. These include projects to further enhance
CRM, ensure a consistently high quality end-to-end customer
experience and support key business programmes. Within the IT
units there are initiatives to increase responsiveness to change,
ensure the long term value of our systems through adherence

to architectural policies and to work with our partners in the
Starmap Alliance.

Intellectual property

We have actively taken steps to protect our brand, including the
acquisition of core trademark registrations for the O, brand and
related brand materials. In addition, we have other pending national
and European Community trademark applications in ancillary classes.

We are aware that various third parties use O, or similar brands in
connection with other goods and services. We have entered into
agreements with some such third parties, which permit the brands
to co-exist. These agreements contain some restrictions on use of
our brand, but we do not believe that these restrictions conflict with
our business model or day-to-day activities. It is not our intention to
trade under the O, brand in the United States, where our securities
trade under the mmO, plc name.

Meanwhile we have just been granted a European Patent relating to
technology used in our HomeZone service. The HomeZone service is
one of our products marketed in Germany. A third party owns two
patents which cover the technology used in the HomeZone service.
To date, this third party has not sought to challenge our patent
applications or prevent us from using the HomeZone technology.
We believe that it is unlikely to take any such action in the future.
However, if that third party sought successfully to do so, we might
have to stop using the HomeZone technology or find an alternative
solution with the third party or use an alternative technology which
serves the HomeZone functionality.

Insurance

We maintain the types and amounts of insurance customary in the
industries and countries in which our Group operates, including
coverage for employee-related accidents and injuries and property
damage. We consider our insurance coverage and that of our
operating businesses to be adequate both as to the nature of

the risks covered and amounts insured for the business conducted
by us.



Corporate responsibility

Corporate responsibility is an important part of how we run our
business, day-to-day. We are committed to behaving responsibly and
to taking full account of the social, environmental and ethical impact
of our business. Our aim is to offer excellent mobile services to our
customers, to provide lasting value for our shareholders, to consider
the views and interests of the communities we serve, and to strive to
find ways to put the benefits of our technology back into society
wherever we can.

The investment community has recognised our achievements in
corporate responsibility and we are represented in some of the
main sustainability indices and funds. These include the Dow Jones
Sustainability Indexes — where mmO; is at the top of the wireless
communications sector — the FTSE4Good index and the Business in
the Community Corporate Responsibility Index. mmO; is also a
member of the Ethibel investment and sustainability registers.

mmO, fully supports and seeks to follow the Disclosure Guidelines on
Social Responsibility laid out by the Association of British Insurers. The
guidelines focus on the significant social, environmental and ethical
risks that affect the short-term and long-term value of the business.
Details of some of these risks and other material issues are included
here as well as in the report on corporate governance.

Management of corporate responsibility risks

Social, environmental and ethical issues are integral to all aspects

of our business and are included in our risk management procedures.
These aspects are taken into account in determining the
remuneration of senior employees, including Directors. This has been
an important step in encouraging good ethical conduct in all our
dealings and in providing a framework for managing, measuring and
accounting for the impact of our business.

Our corporate responsibility programme is co-ordinated by a
dedicated team of trained practitioners. To give direction and
leadership to our policies and to monitor performance, we have
established quarterly reporting on corporate responsibility issues to
our Executive Committee, and half-yearly reporting to the Board
under the leadership of the mmO, Chief Executive Officer, Peter
Erskine. Direct responsibility for all the issues rests with individual
managers, Directors and, ultimately, the Board.

During the year, the Board was brought up to date particularly on
the issues of community investment, business ethics, health and
safety, adult content and child safety, and environmental protection.
Specific training is always given to new Directors and, on request,
to existing Directors of the Board. In common with other risks, we
manage social, environmental and ethical risks by assessing their
potential impact on the Company, by measuring our ability, resource
and tolerance in deciding how to manage them and by developing
strategies to mitigate them.

Our environmental and health and safety practices are monitored
through third party audits carried out by certification agencies and
through the operational risk reviews that underpin our insurance
arrangements. Internal auditors, reporting to the Audit Committee,
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regularly review other risks and issues. Our independent assurance
providers, Ernst & Young, verify our annual Corporate Responsibility
report.

Marketplace

We believe that mobile telephony carries clear social benefits. New
and developing services are transforming many of the ways in which
we live and interact. But the technology also poses some important
social challenges — and we recognise these too. For example, during
the year, our Executive Committee and Board have discussed how
we can protect young people from getting access to inappropriate
material on their mobile phones. As a result, the Company helped to
develop and has signed up to an industry voluntary code of practice
for the self-regulation of content.

Our purchasing policies spell out the social and environmental
standards we apply as a company and the standards we expect our
suppliers to adopt in sourcing our materials. So far, activities around
ethical purchasing have included the development of action plans
and the raising of awareness among our suppliers. We have also
actively contributed to the Global e-Sustainability Initiative, which
aims to promote ethical practices across the ICT industry.

Health

There are public concerns about the safety of handsets and

other portable equipment and worries about the location of
communication masts. Our approach is to consult directly and openly
with communities. Dedicated community relations managers are
employed to talk to and encourage open interaction with local
communities. In the UK, a helpline has been set up to handle public
enquiries about mast location and health related issues.

We participate in and provide funding for a number of industry
groups, including the UK-based Mobile Operators Association
(MOA). The MOA champions Ten Commitments to the responsible
positioning of mobile communications masts. O, Airwave — our
secure network provider for police forces in mainland Britain — and
0, UK are working openly to comply with them and to address the
recommendations of an independent review, which found that
communication had improved but could be made better still. Our
other operating businesses have committed to comply with similar
guidelines, developed by GSM Europe.

Although research has found no evidence of health risks from
mobile technology below the scientifically verified exposure
guidelines, we are aware of public concerns in this area and are
committed to funding independent and peer-reviewed research in
this area. We are therefore helping to fund the joint UK government
and industry Mobile Telecommunications and Health Research
programme, and are contributing to EU/WHO research programmes.
In Germany, we are also funding research jointly with other
operators and the government including the Informationzentrum
Mobilfunk (IZMF) group, set up to address concerns about radio
frequency emissions and to improve consultation with stakeholders.

Environment and sustainability
The direct environmental impact and associated risk of our business
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activities is relatively small. However, we regard it as essential that
we minimise any negative impact that we have on the environment
and to contribute positively to sustainable development.

We have set targets for each area of potential impact, which will

be described in detail in our 2004 Corporate Responsibility report.
Since 2002/03, our main achievements have been to establish an
environmental procurement policy and to increase the uptake of
renewable energy in line with our target of 10 per cent by 2008.
We exceeded our current target for recovering mobile phones for
re-use and recycling by 300 per cent and the scheme has now been
extended to include some of our corporate customers. By the end of
2004 we aim to have all our operations registered to the
international environmental standard 1ISO14001.

We continue to identify, reduce and eliminate environmental risk
through the operation of a Group-wide environmental management
system. We assign accountability to our “environmental forum”,
chaired by the Group Environment, Health and Safety champion,
David McGlade, who is also a member of the Board.

Our environmental initiatives include green travel schemes and
sponsorship of a number of bio-diversity projects. These include
Frontier, a conservation agency, and our newly launched partnerships
with the charity Rainforest Concern and the Tree Council of Ireland.

Workplace

We recognise that business success is inextricably linked with the
skills, abilities, leadership and operational standards of our
employees. Our culture of “can do"” is supported by our core brand
values — to be bold, open, trusted and clear in everything we do.
We aim to achieve a high-performance culture across the Group

in which individuals can thrive. We do this by offering competitive
rewards and opportunities for personal development, in a
supportive, flexible and modern working environment.

The health and well-being of all our employees is of paramount
concern. We have an established Group-wide health and safety
strategy, agreed at Board level, which is constantly reviewed. O, UK
and O, Ireland have achieved certification to the internationally
recognised health and safety system OHSAS 18001.

The United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights and
International Labour Organisation Declarations guide our
employment policy. In the UK we achieved Bronze standard in the
Race for Opportunity benchmarking exercise and Gold standard
through the Opportunity Now benchmark. We also restated our
commitment to the Two Ticks scheme for the employment of
disabled people. These initiatives helped us to provide a focus for
ensuring that we offer real equality of opportunity for our people
and potential employees.

We have continued to assess employee satisfaction and offer a channel
for feedback through our Reflect employee surveys. In 2003 we saw
employee engagement increase across the Group. We will maintain our
relationship with employees through trade unions, works councils or
representative bodies.

Community

Investment in the communities we serve is an essential part of

our approach to corporate responsibility. Our “Can Do in the
Community” programme was set up with the aim of using our
resources — notably our technology — to benefit local communities in
the UK, Ireland, Germany, and the Isle of Man. In 2003/04, we made
cash donations of £427,000 (including £192,000 from UK-based
Group companies) directly to our chosen charities and community
organisations. Additionally, we have made in-kind contributions,
which included participation by our employees.

A “matched giving” scheme was launched across the business and
Give As You Earn, supplemented by contributions from the
Company, was promoted in the UK, increasing take-up by some

30 per cent. Employees have continued to volunteer for charities
through the Cares schemes in the UK. In Ireland, more than 60
employees volunteered for the Special Olympics. Employees in our
Isle of Man business supported a major local fundraising effort

to build a new hospice. On the island we continue to sponsor the
Manx Telecomputer Bus, a valuable addition to local schools’ IT
provision. Our German operation has been engaged in a number of
new initiatives, including the Schola 21 youth education project run
by the German Children and Youth Foundation.

During the year, new projects were launched in the UK, Ireland and
Germany as part of our ongoing commitment to the International
Youth Foundation. Successful completion of trials using the O, Xda
mobile device to monitor asthma sufferers in the UK's Thames Valley
resulted in the decision to invest further in the mobile monitoring of
cystic fibrosis. Other projects include research into mobile technology
and disabilities through DisabledGo! and sponsorship of Cornwall
County Council’s road safety education campaign for primary school
children, LookAlive.

Through membership of Business in the Community and the London
Benchmarking Group, we hope to continue to improve our
community investment initiatives and to learn from benchmarking
with our peers.

Looking ahead

We believe we have made good progress in strengthening our
approach to corporate responsibility during the year. An increasing
number of customers and major investors have requested proof of
our corporate responsibility activities and this has further cemented
the value of our efforts across the business. But we recognise there
is still much to do. To achieve and continually develop best practice,
we intend to keep our approach and performance under constant
review and scrutiny.

A Group-wide corporate responsibility strategy will be launched
during the coming year to shape our activities and align them with
the aspirations of our stakeholders.

Details about mmO;'s approach to corporate responsibility can be
found in our independently verified Corporate Responsibility report,
available from July 2004 online at: www.mmo2.com/cr, or, on
request, from the Company Secretary and General Counsel.
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Operating and financial review and prospects

This commentary discusses, and is based on, the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP), included on
pages 64 to 96. This commentary should be read in conjunction with
those financial statements.

The financial information prepared under UK GAAP differs in certain
respects from that prepared under US Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (US GAAP). Details of the principal differences are provided
in the supplementary information for United States investors included
on pages 99 to 115.

Details of the operating metrics (including ARPU, churn, SAC,
pre-pay customers and post-pay customers) used in this commentary
can be found in the non-financial metrics section on page 97 of

this document.

Introduction

The year ended 31 March 2004 is our second full year of trading

as a separate group following our demerger from BT and the second
full year in which we have had sole control over our businesses

and strategy.

We provided voice and data mobile communications services and
products throughout the year in the United Kingdom, Germany and
Ireland through our wholly-owned mobile businesses, O, UK, O,
Germany and O, Ireland, respectively, and through our mobile
internet business, O, Online. We also supplied fixed and mobile
communications services in the Isle of Man through our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Manx Telecom, and we continue to develop a fully
integrated national digital radio service for the police forces of
England, Scotland and Wales through our O, Airwave business.

On 14 April 2003, we announced that we had agreed the sale of O,
Netherlands to Greenfield Capital Partners, an independent private
equity and corporate finance group. The sale completed on 3 June
2003 and resulted in a loss on disposal of £1.4 billion. A provision
for the loss on disposal was recognised in the 2003 financial year.

In early October, the Group commenced the transfer of the O, Online,
Products O, and certain other central functions to the operating
businesses, aiming to simplify lines of management, reduce costs,
and improve speed of execution.

The Group also passed an important milestone in the year ended
31 March 2004 in making its first ever retained profit of £166 million.

Foreign currency translation

The Company publishes its Group financial statements in pounds
sterling (£). The subsidiaries in Germany and Ireland report their
results and financial position in Euros (€). Consequently, fluctuations
in the value of the pound sterling against the Euro affect the amount
at which these items are reported in the Company’s Group financial
statements, even if their value has not changed in their original
currency.

Composition of the Group

We were part of BT until our demerger on 19 November 2001. Prior
to this date, we were not constituted as a separate legal group of
companies under a separate holding company within the existing

BT Group. However our consolidated financial statements, contained
elsewhere in this document, have been prepared as though we had
existed as a stand-alone group throughout the period prior to
demerger. Whilst we believe that the financial information set out in
our consolidated financial statements is an appropriate presentation,
this financial information is not necessarily indicative of the financial
results that might have occurred had we been an independently
financed and managed public entity during the periods prior to
demerger presented or of our financial results that may occur in

any future period.

Further details on the development of our key businesses are
contained in the business review on pages 6 to 18.

Factors affecting our business
Certain key factors affecting our results of operations in the three
years ended 31 March 2004 are discussed below.

The mobile telecommunications market

The Western European mobile telecommunications market has
high penetration rates. The rapid growth in customer numbers
experienced in the late 1990s has declined as penetration rates
have reached in excess of 75 per cent in each of the territories
across our footprint. Accordingly, we focus on customer retention,
and on generating increased usage from existing customers through
both voice services and data applications. At the same time we are
also focusing on acquiring higher spending contract customers. In
general, we expect subscriber acquisition costs (SACs) to decrease
and subscriber retention costs to increase, although, reflecting our
focus on higher value customers, SACs for certain customers, in
particular high value post-pay customers, may increase.

Pre-pay products

Pre-pay customers pay in advance for their usage, and comprise the
majority of our customer base across the Group. Our pre-pay
customers account for 65 per cent of our customers in the United
Kingdom (down from 66 per cent in 2003), 42 per cent in Germany
(down from 45 per cent in 2003) and 73 per cent in Ireland (up from
71 per cent in 2003).

The overall decrease in the proportion of customers using pre-pay
services rather than post-pay services reflects the success of the
Group in acquiring higher spending post-pay customers. Nonetheless,
pre-pay services offer us several significant advantages, including
lower SAC, higher average per minute charges, reduced credit risk
and lower administrative costs. However, lower average outgoing
usage minutes for pre-pay customers results in lower ARPU. As our
ARPU from pre-pay customers is lower than for post-pay customers,
to maintain profitability we give lower handset discounts to pre-pay
customers, in line with the general industry practice.
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Seasonality

Historically, the number of new customer connections to mobile
telephone networks in the markets where we are present has been
greater during the second half of the financial year than during the
first half, primarily owing to increased sales during the Christmas
period. Therefore, our revenues from equipment sales and connection
charges, and the aggregate costs of customer equipment and dealer
commissions and our other related costs of sales, have been greater
during the second half of the financial year than during the first half.
However, this trend may not continue and it is difficult to predict the
seasonality of customer connections in the future.

Impact of regulation

Our businesses operate in highly regulated markets and governmental
regulation frequently limits the revenue we may receive from certain
sources. The regulatory climate in the territories in which our
businesses operate is discussed in the regulation section of our
business review.

Critical accounting policies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted

in the UK. As part of these reporting guidelines management are
required to identify and disclose the accounting policies relating to

all aspects of the results and financial position of the Group used in
preparing the financial statements. The preparation of consolidated
financial statements requires the management to make estimates
and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of certain contingent
assets and liabilities. The accounting policies used in preparing the
Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2004 are
disclosed in note 1 of those financial statements.

The following accounting policies are considered to be critical to

the understanding of the consolidated financial statements. These
policies have the potential to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial statements, either because of the significance of the
financial statement item to which they relate, or because they require
a high degree of judgement and estimation owing to the uncertainty
involved in measuring, at a specific point in time, events that are
continuous in nature.

Full details of the US GAAP accounting policies which differ to those
under UK GAAP are provided in the supplementary information for
United States investors.

Tangible and intangible fixed assets

We estimate the useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
goodwill and other intangible assets in order to determine the
amount of depreciation and amortisation to be charged in any
reporting period. These useful lives are estimated at the time the
asset is acquired, and are based on historical experience with similar
assets, as well as taking into account future anticipated events
affecting their life. Changes in technology or changes in the Group’s
intended use of these assets may cause the estimated life or the value
of these assets to change.

We perform a review of the estimated useful life, residual value

and depreciation method for each category of tangible fixed assets,
(being property, plant and equipment and assets in the course of
construction), at the end of every reporting period. Our review of
these assets may indicate that their lives need to be lengthened or
shortened, resulting in a decreased or increased depreciation charge
respectively in future periods. Alternatively, our review may indicate
a decrease in the value of the asset, recognised by an impairment
charge.

Fixed asset impairments

In accordance with UK GAAP, we assess the carrying values of our

intangible fixed assets (including goodwill) at the end of the first full

financial year following acquisition and all our fixed assets (tangible,

intangible and goodwill) in any accounting period if events, or

changes in circumstances, indicate that the carrying values may not

be recoverable. Factors we believe are important and may trigger an

impairment review could include the following:

>> asignificant decline in a fixed asset’s market value;

>> a significant adverse change in the business or the market in
which the fixed asset is involved;

>> a significant adverse change in the statutory or other regulatory
environment; or

>> significant underperformance relative to expected or forecast
operating results.

Under UK GAAP, when a triggering event has occurred, we perform
an impairment review by comparing the carrying value of the income
generating unit (IGU) with its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is deemed to be the higher of the IGU’s value-in-use and its
net realisable value. Unless an IGU is to be disposed of, the
recoverable amount is deemed to be equal to its value-in-use, which
is determined by calculating the net present value of the future
estimated cash flows.

We have not identified any events requiring an impairment review to
be undertaken in the current year.

Revenue recognition

In turnover we only recognise transactions that are considered to be

part of our principal ongoing operations. In particular:

>> voice and data service revenue is recognised in the profit and
loss account based on minutes of airtime processed over the
Group’s networks;

>> turnover derived from connection fees and subscriptions is
recognised evenly over the estimated customer relationship
period, or the contracted period to which they relate;

>> income received from sales of pre-pay call cards is deferred
until the customer has used the value in the card to pay for
relevant calls; and

>> revenues from handsets are recognised at the point of sale.

The Group recognises revenue on a gross basis where its role is

that of principal in a transaction. The gross basis represents the gross
value of the billing to the customer after trade discounts, with any
related costs being charged to operating expenses. Where the Group



acts as agent in a transaction, the net revenue earned is recognised
as turnover.

Debtor recoverability

In connection with recording revenue, we maintain provisions for
doubtful debts for estimated losses that result from the inability of a
portion of our customers to make required payments. We base our
provision on historical results and future expectations, the economic
and competitive environment and other relevant factors, and review
the provision regularly.

Mast site restoration provisions

We have certain legal obligations relating to the restoration of leased
property at the end of the lease term to its original condition. This
obligation relates principally to mast sites. We provide for expected
costs of restoring those sites on which we believe that we will have
a material liability. The provision is based on assumptions covering
the lease term, the characteristics of the site, the expected cost of
restoring the site and the period of time before the obligation is
expected to be incurred. There is inherent uncertainty given the long
period over which certain leases run and actual restoration costs may
differ to those estimated.

Basis of presentation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using
merger accounting principles as if the businesses comprising the
Group had been part of the Group for all periods presented, since
they have been under common control throughout this period.

The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared using
accounting policies which differ in certain respects to those used in
the preparation of the financial information contained within the
Listing Particulars of mmO, plc dated 18 September 2001. In those
listing particulars, a portion of BT's short- and long-term loans and
other borrowings were allocated to the mmO, Group. The basis of
preparation adopted for these financial statements shows the results
and financial position of the Group with no allocations of loans and
other borrowings from BT. This is consistent with the debt structure
of the Group following the completion of its demerger from BT and
reflects the fact that these notional loans and other borrowings were
not passed down to the Group on demerger.

The principal components of our Group in the periods under review

are as follows:

>> 0, UK, O, Germany and Manx Telecom, which have been
included throughout the periods covered by the consolidated
financial statements;

>> O, Netherlands has been included up to 3 June 2003, the date
at which our disposal of this business completed and control
passed to the purchaser;

>> O, Ireland has been consolidated in our Group financial
statements throughout the periods under review. The remaining
49.5 per cent interest which BT did not already own in
0O, Ireland was acquired on 18 April 2001;

>> the assets and results of our O, Airwave business have been
included in the consolidated financial statements for all periods
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presented although it operated as a separate unit within the BT
group until the business was transferred to the Group prior to
demerger; and

>> the O, Online internet portal business was operated as a division
of O, UK until 2001, when the business and assets of O, Online
were transferred into a separate legal entity which was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of O, UK. On 1 April 2004, the main business
of O, Online was subsumed back into O, UK.

Financial performance measurement

We define EBITDA as our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation and exceptional items, excluding our share of operating
profits and losses of our joint ventures and associates. We use EBITDA,
a non-GAAP financial measure, as one of the key performance
indicators for evaluating the financial performance of our business
units. We believe that EBITDA provides an important measure of the
underlying operating performance of our Group because it excludes
recurring non-cash items such as depreciation and amortisation.

We believe that this measure is also used by readers of this Annual
Report in order to assess our performance against other comparable
companies. Other measures used include revenues, operating profit or
loss and capital expenditure.

We also believe that EBITDA is one of the key indicators of our
borrowing potential as indicated by the financial covenants attaching
to some of our credit facilities which require compliance with EBITDA
targets and EBITDA-based ratios. Further details are provided in the
treasury management and policies section on page 37.

As EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under UK GAAP,
it may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies because EBITDA is not uniformly defined. EBITDA should
not be considered by investors as an alternative to Group operating
profit or loss or profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation as
an indication of operating performance, or as an alternative to cash
flow from operating activities as an indication of cash flows.

Group operating profit/(loss) is considered to be the UK GAAP
financial measure most directly comparable to EBITDA. The
reconciliation of EBITDA to Group operating profit/(loss) for the three
years ended 31 March 2004 is as follows:

2004 2003 2002

fm £m £m

EBITDA 1,367 859 433

Depreciation before exceptional items'  (926) (932) (747)
Goodwill amortisation before

exceptional items (201) (374) (369)

Other amortisation (7) 31) (23)
Operating profit/(loss) before

exceptional items 233 (478) (706)

Exceptional items (75) (8,300) (150)

Group operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,778) (856)

TExcludes depreciation of £2 million charged as an exceptional item in 2004 as part of
the restructuring discussed in the exceptional items section on page 28.
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Sale of O, Netherlands

On 14 April 2003, the Group announced that it had agreed the sale
of its wholly-owned Dutch subsidiary, O, Netherlands, to Greenfield
Capital Partners, an independent private equity and corporate
finance group with existing interests in the fixed telecoms sector, for
€25 million in cash. The sale completed on 3 June 2003 and took
the form of the sale of all the issued shares of O, Netherlands.

In the year ended 31 March 2003 the Group recognised a non-
operating provision for the loss on disposal of O, Netherlands of
£1,364 million. This represented the impairment of the assets of O,
Netherlands, and goodwill relating to the original purchase of the
stake in O, Netherlands, down to their net recoverable amount
which in this case was the sale proceeds less the estimated direct
costs of disposal. The total loss on sale arising on completion was
£1,369 million which, after utilisation of the provision recognised
in 2003, resulted in a non-operating exceptional loss of £5 million
in the year.

In accordance with FRS 3 “Reporting financial performance”, the
results of O, Netherlands for the three years ended 31 March 2004
have been classified as discontinued.

The summarised results of the Group, excluding O, Netherlands, for
the three years ended 31 March 2004 are:

2004 2003 2002

£m fm fm

Group turnover 5,646 4,611 4,076

Cost of sales (3,291) (2,854) (2,519)

Gross profit 2,355 1,757 1,557
Administrative expenses before

exceptional items (2,121) (2,115) (2,111)

Group operating profit/(loss)

before exceptional items 234 (358) (554)

Exceptional items (75) (8,300) (138)

Group operating profit/(loss) 159 (8,658) (692)

Operating results

Introduction to results of operations

The main components of turnover, cost of sales and administrative
expenses, which form our results of operations, are described below.

Turnover

Our turnover from operations can be analysed into three areas:

service, equipment and other revenue, with service revenue our

principal source of income. These income streams are briefly

described below:

>> service revenue is derived from our customers’ use of our
mobile networks. This includes both voice-related airtime and
data services, such as SMS and GPRS. It also includes
interconnection fees from other networks terminating calls on
our customers’ mobile phones, and roaming fees from other
network customers using our networks;

>> equipment revenue is derived from the sale of handsets and
other accessories; and

>> other revenue includes sales we recognise when acting as a
service provider for non-0O, customers, national roaming and
wholesale contracts revenue. It also includes connection charges
and revenue from other sources such as voice messaging and
paging services.

Cost of sales

The principal items within cost of sales are:

>> service cost of sales mainly comprises interconnection charges
and operation and maintenance costs relating to our networks.
Interconnection charges are payments made by us to other fixed
line or mobile network operators domestically and abroad when
our customers use voice or data services which terminate on
other networks. These costs are variable in nature, increasing
as the usage of the network increases. Costs relating to the
operation and maintenance of our networks mainly comprise
core transmission costs, mast site leases, network equipment
maintenance and depreciation charges related to our network
assets. These costs are more fixed in nature, and depend on the
size of the network, not the usage of the network. We expect
service cost of sales to increase as we depreciate our UMTS
networks once they are constructed and operational;

>> equipment cost of sales includes the cost of purchasing
handsets and other hardware items, such as SIM cards, from
manufacturers; and

>> other cost of sales includes costs associated with the provision
of roaming and wholesale contracts and the network cost of
providing voice messaging and paging services.

Administrative expenses before exceptional items

Principal administrative expenses are:

>> promotional and advertising expenses primarily comprising
bonuses and commissions to retailers, for the acquisition and
retention of customers. They also include expenditure on
advertising, marketing and loyalty programmes;

>> overhead expenses including personnel costs relating to
functions such as finance, planning, network, regulatory, legal,
marketing and customer care. They also include property
charges, facilities, training and information technology support;

>> depreciation charges on non-network assets; and

>> amortisation charges on goodwiill arising on the acquisition
of businesses and on our UMTS telecommunications licences
from the date of market launch of UMTS services.

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are large non-recurring incomes or expenses
that have been disclosed separately to avoid distortion of reported
trading profit.



mmO, consolidated results of operations for the years ended
31 March 2004, 2003 and 2002

The following table presents certain financial data for our Group,
including O, Netherlands, for the years ended 31 March 2004, 2003
and 2002 extracted from our consolidated financial statements:

2004 2003 2002
£m £fm £fm
Group turnover 5,694 4,874 4,276
Cost of sales (3.314) (3,060) (2,714)
Gross profit 2,380 1,814 1,562
Administrative expenses before
exceptional items (2,147) (2,292) (2,268)
Exceptional items (75) (8,300) (150)
EBITDA" before exceptional items 1,367 859 433
Group operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,778) (856)
Group's share of operating result
of joint ventures and associates - 5 8
Total operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,773) (848)
Total loss on sale of business (5) (1,364) -
Net interest payable and
similar charges (58) (66) (25)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
before taxation 95 (10,203) (873)
Taxation 71 55 23
Retained profit/(loss) for the year 166  (10,148) (850)

TEBITDA is our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional
items, excluding our share of operating profits and losses of our joint ventures and
associates. The use of EBITDA as a financial performance measure is discussed on page 23.

Year ended 31 March 2004 compared to the year ended
31 March 2003

Group turnover

The following table shows contributions of our businesses to

Group turnover:
Year ended 31 March

2004 2003 per cent
fm £fm variation
Continuing operations
0, UK 3,451 3,025 14
0O, Germany 1,508 1,060 42
0, Ireland 529 442 20
0, Online 140 93 51
Other operations 139 64 117
Intragroup eliminations (121) (73) 66
5,646 4,611 22

Discontinued operations
0, Netherlands 48 263 (82)
Total 5,694 4,874 17

Group turnover from continuing operations increased by 22 per

cent from £4,611 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£5,646 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. All our businesses
contributed to the rise in Group turnover. The principal reasons for the
increases in our mobile telecommunications businesses were the
overall rise in subscriber numbers in the current year and the increased
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usage of the Group’s services by subscribers. The rise in turnover of
our other operations is due mainly to our Airwave business which
contributed £73 million of the increase.

The strengthening of the Euro during 2004 has also improved

the growth. Translating the results of our overseas business at the
exchange rates prevailing in the prior year would reduce the reported
growth in turnover by £153 million.

A description of the significant new products and services offered by
the Group during the year, and the development of the O, brand,
are given in the business review on pages 6 to 18.

0, UK
O, UK’s overall turnover increased by 14 per cent from £3,025 million
for the year ended 31 March 2003 to £3,451 million for the year
ended 31 March 2004. O, UK’s total active customer base increased
from 12.1 million at 31 March 2003 to 13.3 million at 31 March
2004, an increase of 10 per cent. This includes a net increase in
post-pay subscribers of over half a million customers.

The following table provides an analysis of O, UK’s turnover:

Year ended 31 March

2004 2003 per cent

fm fm variation

Service 3,183 2,738 16
Equipment 194 190 2
Other 74 97 (24)
Total 3,451 3,025 14

Service Service revenue is the principal element of O, UK’s turnover,
comprising 92 per cent of total turnover for the year ended 31 March
2004. O, UK’s service revenue increased by 16 per cent from

£2,738 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to £3,183 million
for the year ended 31 March 2004. Of this, service revenue from
post-pay customers remains the principal source of income,
accounting for over 65 per cent of the total. This represents

a decrease from the 67 per cent recorded for the year ended

31 March 2003 and is a function of the strong growth in pre-pay
ARPU in the year ended 31 March 2004.

0, UK’s revenue has grown as a result of a combination of an increase
in the subscriber base, partly arising from improving levels of retention
of existing post-pay users, and an increase in post-pay ARPU.

Post-pay subscriber gross additions for the year ended 31 March

2004 total 1.7 million, taking our total post-pay customer base to

4.6 million (representing 516,000 net additions for the year). Post-pay
churn for the year ended 31 March 2004 was 26 per cent, a fall of

2 percentage points from the churn of 28 per cent recorded for the
year ended 31 March 2003. This reflects our efforts to attract higher-
spending customers through innovative products and services as

well as targeted and successful campaigns in the business market.

We have also increased our use of ARPU-share incentive arrangements
with independent distributors to increase revenue and reduce churn.
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ARPU for both post-pay and pre-pay customers has grown strongly in
the year. Post-pay ARPU has increased from £503 for the year ended

31 March 2003 to £525 for the year ended 31 March 2004. Pre-pay

ARPU has increased from £121 for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£141 for the year ended 31 March 2004.

Data revenues, as a proportion of total service revenues, increased
steadily through the year from 17.1 per cent for the year ended

31 March 2003 to 20.4 per cent for the year ended 31 March 2004.
Data revenue as a proportion of total service revenue for the final
quarter of the year ended 31 March 2004 was 22.3 per cent. Included
within these statistics, the popularity of text messages continued to
grow, with in excess of 8.0 billion messages sent during the year
ended 31 March 2004, compared with 5.8 billion during the year
ended 31 March 2003.

Equipment revenues Equipment revenues have increased by only

2 per cent in the 2004 financial year compared to the 2003 financial
year. Although the level of gross additions to our subscriber base has
remained level in 2004 compared to 2003, handset prices have
generally decreased year on year, the effect of which has been offset
by the sales mix.

Other revenues Other revenues have fallen by 24 per cent from 2003
to 2004 reflecting a reduction in service provider and non-mobile retail
revenues, which is partially offset by increased revenue from national
roaming and wholesale contracts.

0, Germany

0O, Germany’s overall turnover increased by 42 per cent from

£1,060 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to £1,508 million
for the year ended 31 March 2004. O, Germany’s total active
customer base increased by 24 per cent from 4.8 million at 31 March
2003 to slightly less than 6.0 million at 31 March 2004.

The following table provides an analysis of O, Germany’s turnover:

Year ended 31 March

2004 2003 per cent

fm £fm variation

Service 1,347 944 43
Equipment and other 161 116 39
Total 1,508 1,060 42

Service Service revenue is the principal element of O, Germany’s
turnover, comprising 89 per cent of total turnover for the year ended
31 March 2004. O, Germany’s service revenue increased by 43 per
cent from £944 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£1,347 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. Of this, service
revenue from post-pay customers is the principal source of income,
with post-pay revenue accounting for 84 per cent of the total.

This increase in service revenue is principally the result of a significant
increase in the active subscriber base described above. In particular,
the post-pay customer additions in the year ended 31 March 2004
were 836,000, representing 71 per cent of total net additions. The
pre-pay customer base increased by 15 per cent from the 2003

financial year to the 2004 financial year, with pre-pay customers
totalling 2.5 million at 31 March 2004. A further contributory factor
in the growth in service revenue is the effect of foreign exchange.
Translating O, Germany'’s service revenue in 2004 at the exchange
rates prevailing in the prior year would reduce the reported growth
in turnover by £101 million.

A large proportion of the post-pay additions during the year relate
to customers who have subscribed to the Genion “HomeZone”
service, our location-based tariffing technology, which allows
reduced call rates within a small geographical area, usually at home.
0, Germany also offers an equivalent service to business customers.
Both Genion Home and Business are part of our drive across the
Group to attract high-value customers. At 31 March 2004, over 42
per cent of the total customer base subscribed to the Genion service
compared with 30 per cent at 31 March 2003.

Post-pay ARPU has increased from £341 for the year ended 31 March
2003 to £375 for the year ended 31 March 2004. This rise is a
function of the continuing drive to win higher spending customers.

0O, Germany have continued to offer advanced data services during
the 2004 financial year. This has been reflected in the increase in the
proportion of data revenues compared to total service revenues which
have risen to 19.5 per cent during the year ended 31 March 2004.
The proportion for the three months ended 31 March 2004 reached
20.7 per cent. The principal element of data revenue is generated

by text messages and O, Germany recorded in excess of 1.8 billion
text messages in the year ended 31 March 2004, an increase of

466 million messages over last year.

Equipment revenues Equipment revenues have risen by 56 per cent
to £147 million compared to the prior year. This is principally owing
to the increase of almost 500,000 gross additions in the 2004 year
compared to the 2003 year.

0, Ireland

O, Ireland’s revenue has increased by 20 per cent from £442 million
for the year ended 31 March 2003 to £529 million for the year ended
31 March 2004. This increase in revenue is a combination of an
increase of 136,000 in the customer base and an 11 per cent rise in
blended ARPU. Post-pay customer numbers increased from 366,000
at 31 March 2003 to 381,000 active subscribers at 31 March 2004
and the pre-pay customer base increased from 889,000 at 31 March
2003 to 1,010,000 at 31 March 2004.

A further contributory factor in the growth in revenue is the effect
of foreign exchange. Translating O, Ireland’s revenue in 2004 at the
exchange rates prevailing in the prior year would reduce the reported
growth in turnover by £40 million.

Other operations

Within other operations, revenue at our Airwave business has
increased by over 450 per cent from £16 million for the year ended
31 March 2003 to £89 million for the year ended 31 March 2004.
The roll-out of the secure digital communication network for the
police forces of England, Scotland and Wales continued during the



year and by 31 March 2004 had achieved live status in 35 of the
country’s 51 forces.

0, Online

During the year O, Online acted as the online sales channel for
0, UK and as the developer of the Group’s mobile data capability.
Subsequent to the year end, the operations of O, Online and
Products O, have been transferred to O, UK as part of the
reorganisation undertaken in the year ended 31 March 2004.

O, Online generated internal revenue mainly from connection fees,
airtime voucher sales and the provision of WAP gateway and portal
services to other Group companies. External revenues include sales of
devices outside the Group’s territories, paid-for alerts and ring-tones
and advertising.

In the current year, gross connections through the Online channel
doubled compared to the 2003 year to over 1.0 million.

Net operating expenses before exceptional items

Net operating expenses before exceptional items comprises cost of
sales and administrative expenses. Net operating expenses from
continuing operations (excluding O, Netherlands) increased by 8 per
cent from £4,969 million for the 2003 financial year to £5,412 million
for the 2004 financial year. This reflects the increase in the cost of
sales arising from the growth in turnover described earlier. Translating
the net operating expenses of our overseas businesses at

the exchange rates prevailing in the prior year would reduce these
costs by £147 million.

Group cost of sales

Group cost of sales from continuing operations increased by

15 per cent from £2,854 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£3,291 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. The increase in cost
of sales for the 2004 financial year is commensurate with the increase
in Group turnover of 22 per cent, partly offset by the improvement in
gross margin percentage in our businesses. The gross profit margin of
the Group, excluding O, Netherlands, increased by four percentage
points to 42 per cent.

The gross margin percentage (gross profit divided by turnover) of
our newer business in Germany is lower than those of our more
established businesses in the UK and Ireland. O, Germany is in the
process of building its customer base and, as revenues grow,
additional contribution is made towards the fixed element of cost of
sales, which increases the margin. As a consequence, in the year
ended 31 March 2004, O, Germany increased its gross margin by
10 percentage points to 38 per cent. As our O, Airwave business
matures, we expect the gross margin to improve similarly.

Group administrative expenses before exceptional items
Group administrative expenses before exceptional items from
continuing operations, which exclude O, Netherlands, have

increased from £2,115 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£2,121 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. Given the growth
in subscribers and revenues in 2004, the static level of administrative
expenses before exceptional items reflects the benefit of a full year of

mmo2.com 27

cost savings following the restructuring undertaken by the Group in the
2002 and 2003 financial years, and certain savings already realised
from the reorganisation started in 2004. Translating the administrative
expenses of our overseas business at the exchange rates prevailing

in the prior year would reduce them by £62 million from the

£2,121 million reported.

Group administrative expenses before exceptional items from
continuing operations, as a percentage of turnover, have decreased
from 46 per cent in the 2003 financial year to 38 per cent in the
2004 financial year.

An analysis of the net operating expenses before exceptional items,
between the operating companies is provided in the table below:

Year ended 31 March

2004 2003 per cent
Continuing operations £m £m variation
0, UK 2,899 2,691 8
O, Germany 1,579 1,295 22
O, Ireland 389 356 9
O, Online 224 216 4
Goodwill amortisation 201 340 41)
Other operations and central costs 120 71 69
Total 5,412 4,969 9
0, UK

0, UK’s net operating expenses before exceptional items have
increased by 8 per cent, from £2,691 million for the year ended
31 March 2003, to £2,899 million for the year ended 31 March 2004.

The variable element of O, UK's service cost of sales has increased
in line with the network usage. Interconnection charges increased
significantly during the financial year 2004, compared to the year
ended 31 March 2003, reflecting increased calls from O, UK
customers terminating on other networks including other mobile
networks whose termination charges are generally higher than
charges levied by fixed-line network providers.

0, UK’s depreciation charge has increased from £477 million in
the year ended 31 March 2003 to £488 million in the year ended
31 March 2004, an increase of 2 per cent.

The advertising and marketing spend for the year ended 31 March
2004 has remained static year on year reflecting the focused nature
of the spend in this area. Within this, subscriber acquisition costs
have fallen as the unit cost of connections has declined despite an
increase in the volume of gross subscribed additions. Post-pay SACs
have decreased from £177 to £160 per subscriber and pre-pay SACs
have decreased from £25 to £16 per subscriber.

Compared to the year ended 31 March 2003, O, UK's overheads have
increased by 8 per cent for the year ended 31 March 2004, which,
despite the increased turnover and concentration on improving
customer service, reflects the cost control measures during the year
and the cost savings which continue to be derived from the
restructuring of the business announced in February 2002.
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0, Germany

0O, Germany’s net operating expenses before exceptional items
increased from £1,295 million for the year ended 31 March 2003
to £1,579 million for the year ended 31 March 2004.

T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH (T-Mobile) provides national roaming
capacity to O, Germany in areas where O, Germany has not developed
its own network. The cost of the contract is determined based on a
fixed number of minutes available to O, Germany. In February 2003 an
extension to this agreement gave O, Germany access to T-Mobile’s 3G
network over a longer period. The access provides us with an effective
route to provide UMTS services to our customers in Germany.

Net operating expenses as a percentage of turnover was 122 per cent
for the 2003 financial year and for the 2004 financial year has fallen
to 105 per cent. This reflects the rapid growth in revenues at O,
Germany. For O, Germany, we expect this ratio to be higher than

the same ratio of our more established businesses, as it is a newer
business and is in the process of building up its customer base.

The total depreciation charge (for both network and non-network
fixed assets) was £295 million for the year ended 31 March 2004, a
14 per cent increase over the charge for the year ended 31 March
2003 of £259 million. This reflects the continuing investment by O,
Germany in their network.

Blended subscriber acquisition costs have increased by 11 per cent
from £107 per subscriber for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£119 per subscriber for the year ended 31 March 2004. The euro-
denominated SAC has remained static for both pre-pay and post-pay
connections from 2003 to 2004. The increase in blended SAC is
mainly attributable to the strengthening of the euro against the
pound sterling from 2003 to 2004 which increases the SAC when
translated into pounds sterling for reporting purposes.

0, Ireland

Net operating expenses before exceptional items for O, Ireland
have increased by 9 per cent from £356 million for the year ended
31 March 2003 to £389 million for the year ended 31 March 2004.

The principal reason for the increase is the expansion of the business
in the 2004 financial year as the total turnover of O, Ireland has
grown by 20 per cent from the 2003 financial year to the 2004
financial year. The effect of the revenue increase was reduced as

a result of the continuing cost control measures.

0, Online

O, Online’s net operating expenses before exceptional items increased
by 4 per cent from £216 million for the year ended 31 March 2003
to £224 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. This reflects the
Group’s continued focus on developing mobile data capability while
at the same time minimising expenditure prior to the transfer of the
trade to O, UK immediately after the 2004 year end.

Other operations

Within other operations and central costs, the net operating expenses
of our Airwave business have increased by £68 million from 2003 to
2004 as the business has expanded.

Goodwill amortisation

The Group’s goodwill amortisation charge relating to continuing
operations before the exceptional impairment charge recognised in
the 2003 financial year decreased from £340 million in the 2003
financial year to £201 million in the 2004 financial year. This is due
to the impairment charge recognised in 2003 which reduced the
ongoing annual amortisation charge.

Exceptional items

In the year ended 31 March 2004, we incurred an exceptional
operating charge of £75 million in respect of the restructuring of
central functions and the resultant rationalisation of our property
portfolio. This arose on the transfer of O, Online, Products O, and
certain other central functions to our operating businesses in the
UK, Germany and Ireland and includes provisions relating to
redundancies and the termination of property leases. The objectives
of the reorganisation were to simplify the lines of management,
reduce costs and improve speed of execution.

The charge gave rise to a cash outflow of £17 million in the year
ended 31 March 2004 and a provision of £54 million remains at the
year end in respect of these costs.

We have also recognised a non-operating exceptional charge of
£5 million in the 2004 year relating to the completion of the sale
of O, Netherlands. We incurred a total loss of £1,369 million

in respect of this disposal compared to a provision for loss on
disposal of £1,364 million at 31 March 2003.

In 2003, we recognised an exceptional non-cash charge relating to the
impairment of fixed assets in our continuing businesses (being our UK,
German and Irish businesses) of £8,300 million.

Full details of the impairment charges and provision recognised in the
year ended 31 March 2003 are contained later in this operating and
financial review and prospects in the section “Year ended 31 March
2003 compared to the year ended 31 March 2002".

EBITDA

EBITDA is our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation
and exceptional items, excluding our share of operating profits and
losses of our joint ventures and associates. Our businesses with larger
market shares in their countries of operation, O, UK and O, Ireland,
have generated positive EBITDA over the last three financial years.

0, Germany, a newer business, has historically made EBITDA losses,
until the 2003 financial year, during which O, Germany achieved a
positive EBITDA result for the first time and in the 2004 financial year
has achieved an EBITDA margin of 15 per cent.
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The reconciliation of EBITDA to Group operating profit/(loss), the most directly comparable UK GAAP financial measure, by business is as follows:

Group operating Exceptional
profit/(loss) Depreciation Amortisation items EBITDA
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
fm £m £'m fm fm £fm fm £m fm fm

Continuing operations
0, UK 346 (2,116) 488 478 150 175 57 2,300 1,041 837
0O, Germany (72) (4,979) 295 259 - 47 2 4,700 225 27
O, Ireland 87 (1,331) 67 67 53 121 1 1,300 208 157
0O, Online (93) (122) 36 34 4 15 10 - (43) (73)
Other businesses (109) (110) 39 20 1 - 5 - (64) (90)

159 (8,658) 925 858 208 358 75 8,300 1,367 858
Discontinued operations
0, Netherlands (1) (120) 1 74 - 47 - - - 1

158 (8,778) 926 932 208 405 75 8,300 1,367 859

The following table shows contributions of our businesses to Group
EBITDA:
Year ended 31 March

2004 2003
£m £fm
Continuing operations
0, UK 1,041 837
0O, Germany 225 27
O, Ireland 208 157
0, Online (43) (73)
Other operations (64) (90)
1,367 858
Discontinued operations
0O, Netherlands - 1
Total 1,367 859

Group EBITDA from continuing operations has increased by 59 per
cent from £858 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 to
£1,367 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. The increased
EBITDA contribution has come from all the trading operations of
the Group.

Total operating profit/(loss)

We have recorded our first ever total operating profit in the year
ended 31 March 2004, of £158 million. This compares with a total
operating loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2003 of
£8,773 million which included the exceptional impairment charge
of £8,300 million referred to above. Excluding exceptional items, the
total operating loss recorded in 2003 of £473 million reversed to a
profit of £233 million in 2004. This can be ascribed to both increased
revenues generated by all our businesses arising from the increased
number of subscribers and the rise in ARPUs and to the continuing
cost control exhibited by our businesses.

Net interest payable

Net interest payable relates to the finance charges payable on
external debt, net of interest received on amounts invested. In the
2004 financial year we incurred an interest charge totalling

£58 million, a decrease of 12 per cent over the 2003 financial year

reflecting the decrease in net debt over that period. In the 2004
financial year, the principal elements of our interest charge were

the interest on our revolving credit facility amounting to £8 million
(2003: £12 million) and the interest accrued, of £62 million (2003:
£63 million) on our long-term bonds, which we issued in January
2002. In accordance with UK GAAP, we are amortising the issue costs
of our bank facility and our bonds over the lives of the facilities (five
and ten years respectively), through the interest line in the profit and
loss account. Amortisation of these costs amounted to £4 million

in the 2004 financial year (2003: £3 million). We also incur interest
charges on the O, UK loan notes and on our finance leases and
other borrowings, and have received interest on our short-term
investments. See “Liquidity and capital resources” on page 34.

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

We have recognised a tax credit of £71 million for the year ended
31 March 2004 compared to a credit of £55 million for the year
ended 31 March 2003. The increase in the tax credit is principally as
a result of the improved financial performance of the Group for the
2004 financial year and the related recognition of certain losses as
deferred tax assets. However, overall the Group continues to have a
net deferred tax liability.

Year ended 31 March 2003 compared to

year ended 31 March 2002

Group turnover

The following table shows contributions of our businesses to Group

turnover:
Year ended 31 March

2003 2002 per cent

fm £m variation

0, UK 3,025 2,756 10
0O, Germany 1,060 875 21
O, Ireland 442 395 12
O, Netherlands 263 200 32

O, Online 93 100 (7)
Other operations 64 54 18

Intragroup eliminations (73) (104) 31
Total 4,874 4,276 14
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Group turnover increased by 14 per cent from £4,276 million for

the year ended 31 March 2002, to £4,874 million for the year ended
31 March 2003. All our mobile telecommunications businesses
contributed to the rise in Group turnover. The principal reasons for
this were the overall rise in subscriber numbers in the current year
and the increased usage of the Group’s services by subscribers. These
factors are considered in detail below in the review by business.

0, UK

0, UK’s overall turnover increased by nearly 10 per cent from
£2,756 million for the year ended 31 March 2002 to £3,025 million
for the year ended 31 March 2003. Turnover is largely comprised of
service revenue, which increased by 13 per cent from £2,426 million
for the year ended 31 March 2002 to £2,738 million for the year
ended 31 March 2003.

0, UK'’s total active customer base increased from 11.1 million at
31 March 2002 to 12.1 million at 31 March 2003, an increase of
9 per cent, which includes a net increase in post-pay subscribers
of over half a million customers. In addition to this, post-pay churn
has continued the downward trend established in the year ended
31 March 2002.

The following table shows a breakdown of O, UK's turnover:

Year ended 31 March

2003 2002 per cent

fm fm variation

Service 2,738 2,426 13
Equipment 190 136 40
Other 97 194 (50)
Total 3,025 2,756 10

Service Service revenue is the principal element of O, UK's turnover,
comprising 91 per cent of total turnover for the year ended

31 March 2003. O, UK's service revenue increased by 13 per cent from
£2,426 million for the year ended 31 March 2002 to £2,738 million
for the year ended 31 March 2003. Of this, service revenue from
post-pay customers is the principal source of income, accounting for
over 67 per cent of the total. This represents an increase over the
65 per cent recorded for the year ended 31 March 2002.

0, UK’s revenue has grown as a result of a combination of an
increase in the subscriber base, partly arising from better retention
of existing users, and an increase in post-pay ARPU.

Post-pay subscribers’ gross additions for the year ended 31 March 2003
total 1.7 million, taking our total post-pay customer base to 4.1 million
(representing 519,000 net additions for the year). The post-pay
churn rate has continued the downward trend established in the
2002 financial year. Post-pay churn for the year ended 31 March 2003
was 28 per cent, a fall of 10 per cent from the churn of 31 per cent
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2002.

These improvements were driven by the success of the O, brand,
launched in May 2002, and new and innovative product offerings
to customers in both voice and mobile data services. An example of

these are the “bolt-ons”, our packages offering additional data and
voice services to customers, which attracted high-spending users and
grew revenues from existing customers rather than incurring SACs.

Data revenues, as a proportion of total service revenues increased
steadily through the year from 11.8 per cent for the year ended

31 March 2002 to 17.1 per cent for the year ended 31 March 2003.
Data revenue as a proportion of total service revenue for the final
quarter of the year ended 31 March 2003 was 19.1 per cent.
Included within these statistics, the popularity of text messages
continued to grow, with nearly 5.8 billion messages sent during the
year ended 31 March 2003, compared with 3.4 billion during the
year ended 31 March 2002.

Equipment and other revenues Equipment revenues have
increased 40 per cent in the 2003 financial year compared to the
2002 financial year. The principal reason for the rise is the increase
in the gross post-pay additions of customers in the year ended

31 March 2003.

0, UK’s other revenue in the 2002 financial year mainly comprised
revenue from Lumina, a service provider acquired in the 2000 financial
year, and sales of non-mobile products by the O, retail shops. Lumina
had a customer base which included both O, UK and Vodafone
customers. At the end of the 2002 financial year we sold the Vodafone
customers and no longer derive revenue from them. The sales by the
0, shops have also fallen following the rationalisation of the retail chain
in the first half of the 2003 calendar year. However, the sales per store
of the remaining shops were more than double those of the previous year.

0, Germany

The year ended 31 March 2003 was the second full year of
ownership of O, Germany. The total revenue of O, Germany for the
year ended 31 March 2003 was £1,060 million, an increase of 21 per
cent over the year ended 31 March 2002 revenue of £875 million.

The following table details O, Germany’s revenue split between

service and other revenues:
Year ended 31 March

2003 2002 per cent

fm £m variation

Service 944 696 36

Equipment 94 127 (26)

Other 22 52 (58)
Total 1,060 875 21

Service O, Germany’s service revenue for the year ended 31 March
2003 increased by 36 per cent compared to the previous year.

This increase in revenues was principally the result of a significant
increase in the subscriber base, which rose from 3.9 million active
subscribers at 31 March 2002, to 4.8 million active subscribers at 31
March 2003. Post-pay customer additions in the year ended

31 March 2002 were 651,000, representing 71 per cent of total net
additions. The pre-pay customer base increased by 14 per cent from
the 2002 financial year to the 2003 financial year, with pre-pay
customers totalling 2.2 million at 31 March 2003.



A large proportion of the post-pay additions during the year related
to customers who subscribed to the Genion HomeZone service, our
location-based tariffing technology, which allows reduced call rates

within the home zone. O, Germany also offers an equivalent service
to business customers. Both Genion Home and Business are part of
our drive across the Group to attract high-value customers.

Post-pay ARPU has increased from £313 for the year ended

31 March 2002, to £341 for the year ended 31 March 2003.

This rise is a function of the continuing drive to win higher spending
customers. At 31 March 2003, over 30 per cent of the total
customer base subscribed to the Genion service.

0, Germany continued to launch new data services during

the 2003 financial year, following the launch of the first operational
German GPRS network in January 2001. New services announced

in the year ended 31 March 2003 included multimedia messaging
and Java games. In addition, SMS messaging continued to gain in
popularity. This was reflected in the increase in the proportion of data
revenues compared to total service revenues which have risen to
19.3 per cent during the year ended 31 March 2003. The proportion
for the three months ended 31 March 2003 reached a record 21.0
per cent. The principal element of data revenue was generated by
text messages; O, Germany recorded 1,337 million text messages in
the year ended 31 March 2003, an increase of 564 million messages
over last year.

Equipment and other revenues Both equipment and other
revenues fell by 26 per cent and 56 per cent respectively compared
to the prior year.

The fall in equipment revenues was caused by a decline in the sales
of devices to shops and third-party dealers in the 2002 financial year
which have not been repeated in the 2003 financial year. Other
revenues represented several other revenue streams. These include
certain support contracts with BT Ignite following the demerger
from BT which were reaching the end of their term.

Other mobile telecommunication businesses

The Group had two other mobile telecommunication businesses
in Europe during the year ended 31 March 2003 - O, Ireland and
0, Netherlands.

O, Ireland’s revenue increased by 12 per cent from £395 million for
the year ended 31 March 2002, to £442 million for the year ended
31 March 2003. This increase in revenue was a combination of an
increase of 75,000 in the customer base and a 7 per cent rise

in blended ARPU. Contract customer numbers increased from
356,000 at 31 March 2002 to 366,000 active subscribers at

31 March 2003 and the pre-pay customers bases increased from
824,000 at 31 March 2002 to 889,000 at 31 March 2003.

O, Netherlands’ revenue increased by 32 per cent from £200 million
for the year ended 31 March 2002, to £263 million for the year
ended 31 March 2003.
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0, Online

O, Online acts as the online sales channel in the UK and Ireland
and as the developer of all of the Group’s mobile data capability.
O, Online increased external revenues by 15 per cent from

£33 million in the year ended 31 March 2002 to £38 million in
the year ended 31 March 2003. Approximately 60 per cent of
revenues in the year ended 31 March 2003, down from 66 per
cent in the year ended 31 March 2002, were generated internally.
Internal revenue is generated mainly from connection fees and airtime
voucher sales as well as the provision of WAP gateway and portal
services to other Group companies.

Net operating expenses before exceptional items

Net operating expenses before exceptional items comprises cost of
sales and administrative expenses. Net operating expenses increased
by 7 per cent from £4,982 million for the year ended 31 March
2002 to £5,352 million for the 2003 financial year. This increase
arose from an increase in the cost of sales in the current year
reflecting the increase in turnover described earlier.

Group cost of sales

Group cost of sales increased by 13 per cent from £2,714 million for
the year ended 31 March 2002, to £3,060 million for the year ended
31 March 2003. This increase in cost of sales in the 2003 financial
year was commensurate with the increase in Group turnover of

14 per cent.

The gross margin percentage (gross profit divided by turnover) of
our newer business in Germany was lower than those of our more
established businesses in the UK and Ireland. This is because O,
Germany is in the process of building its customer base. Despite
this, O, Germany increased its gross margin by 16 percentage points
to 28 per cent. However, the gross profit margin of the Group
remained constant at 37 per cent as both O, Online and O, Airwave
contributed a higher cost of sales. This was due to the increase in
activity at both operations.

Group administrative expenses before exceptional items
Group administrative expenses before exceptional items increased by
1 per cent from £2,268 million for the year ended 31 March 2002 to
£2,292 million for the year ended 31 March 2003. Administrative
expenses did not grow in line with the rise in revenues following the
restructuring at the UK and German operations initiated in February
2002 which have realised cost savings.

Group administrative expenses before exceptional items, as a
percentage of turnover, decreased from 53 per cent in the 2002
financial year to 47 per cent in the year ended 31 March 2003.

O, Germany had a higher ratio of administrative expenses as

a percentage of turnover than those of our more established
businesses, because it is still building its customer base. As the
business of O, Germany matures, we expect that the ratio will fall and
for O, Germany for the year ended 31 March 2003, it has fallen by
7 percentage points compared to the year ended 31 March 2002.
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An analysis of the net operating expenses before exceptional items,
between the operating companies is provided in the table below:

Year ended 31 March

2003 2002 per cent

fm fm variation

0, UK 2,691 2,458 9

0O, Germany 1,295 1,275 2
Other mobile telecommunication

businesses 705 655 8

0O, Online 216 194 11

Goodwill amortisation 374 369 1

Other operations and central costs 71 31 129

Total 5,352 4,982 7

0, UK

0, UK’s net operating expenses before exceptional items increased
by 9 per cent, from £2,458 million for the year ended 31 March
2002 to £2,691 million for the year ended 31 March 2003. Net
operating expenses as a percentage of turnover remained constant
at 89 per cent for the two financial years under review.

The variable element of O, UK's service cost of sales increased in
line with the network usage. Interconnection charges increased
significantly during the financial year 2003, compared to the year
ended 31 March 2002, reflecting increased calls from O, UK
customers terminating on other networks, including other mobile
networks whose termination charges were generally higher than
charges levied by fixed-line network providers.

0, UK’s depreciation charge increased from £372 million in

the year ended 31 March 2002 to £477 million in the year ended
31 March 2003, which reflects the continued investment in
improving O, UK’s network quality and the shortening of the useful
economic life of certain network assets which were being swapped
out of the network.

The advertising and marketing spend for the year ended 31 March
2003 increased by 9 per cent on the 2002 financial year. This arose
from an overall increase in subscriber acquisition costs resulting from
the increased level of connections in the business in the 2003
financial year. The overall rise in SACs contrasts with a decrease in
both the pre-pay and post-pay average subscriber acquisition costs.
Post-pay SACs decreased from £180 to £177 per subscriber, and pre-
pay SACs decreased from £53 to £25 per subscriber.

Compared to the year ended 31 March 2002, O, UK’s overheads
decreased by 4 per cent for the year ended 31 March 2003, which,
despite the increased turnover and concentration on improving
customer service, reflected the cost control measures during the year
and the cost savings derived from the restructuring of the business
announced in February 2002.

0O, Germany

0O, Germany’s net operating expenses before exceptional items
increased from £1,275 million for the year ended 31 March 2002, to
£1,295 million for the year ended 31 March 2003.

Net operating expenses as a percentage of turnover was 146 per cent
for the 2002 financial year and for the 2003 financial year decreased
to 122 per cent. This reflected the rapid growth in revenues at

0O, Germany.

The total depreciation charge (both network and non-network
fixed assets) was £259 million for the year ended 31 March 2003,

a 14 per cent increase over the charge for the year ended 31 March
2002 of £228 million. This represented the continuing investment
by O, Germany in their network.

Blended subscriber acquisition costs increased by 13 per cent from
£95 per subscriber for the year ended 31 March 2002 to £107 per
subscriber for the year ended 31 March 2003. This reflected the
very high level of contract customer connections in the year, with
over 70 per cent of net additions being post-pay customers who
traditionally have required a higher SAC to attract. Despite this, the
SAC per customer for post-pay subscribers remained almost
constant year on year.

Other mobile telecommunication businesses

Net operating expenses before exceptional items for our other
mobile telecommunication businesses, O, Netherlands and O,
Ireland, increased by 8 per cent from £655 million for the year ended
31 March 2002, to £705 million for the year ended 31 March 2003.

The principal reason for the increase was the expansion of the
businesses in the 2003 financial year; the total turnover of O, Ireland
and O, Netherlands grew by 18 per cent from the 2002 financial
year to the 2003 financial year.

O, Ireland’s net operating costs before exceptional items have
increased by 6 per cent from £337 million in the year ended

31 March 2002 to £356 million in the year ended 31 March 2003,
reflecting the effect of the 12 per cent increase in service revenue
during the 2003 financial year compared to the 2002 financial year.
The effect of the revenue increase was reduced as a result of the
implementation of cost control measures.

O, Online

0O, Online’s net operating expenses before exceptional items
increased by 11 per cent from £194 million for the year ended

31 March 2002 to £216 million for the year ended 31 March 2003.
This reflected the Group’s continued focus on developing mobile
data capability. The ratio of net operating expenses to external
turnover at O, Online in 2003 remained similar to the ratio in 2002.

Goodwill amortisation

The goodwill amortisation charge before the exceptional
impairment charge, included in the Group’s results increased
marginally from £369 million in the year ended 31 March 2002 to
£374 million in the year ended 31 March 2003. Goodwill relating
to our overseas businesses was held as a foreign currency
denominated asset. The fall of almost 4 per cent in the average
Euro to Sterling exchange rate for the year between the 2002
financial year and 2003 financial year increased the goodwill
amortisation charge recognised in our reporting currency, Sterling.



Exceptional items
In accordance with FRS 11 “Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill”
we regularly monitor the carrying values of our fixed assets.

During the second half of the year ended 31 March 2003 certain
events, including our strategic review of the Dutch market which led
to the announcement of the disposal of O, Netherlands, indicated
that we should perform impairment reviews of our four principal
operations; the mobile telecommunications operations in the UK,
Germany, Ireland and the Netherlands.

In April 2003, we announced the sale of O, Netherlands resulting in
an accounting loss of approximately £1.4 billion, which provided an
indication that the valuation of mobile businesses might be lower
than previously estimated. Additionally, following the Competition
Commission’s report on mobile termination charges, we announced
that we were reviewing the launch dates of our 3G services and
would adopt a more prudent timetable where local regulatory
requirements permitted. This revision in the timetable, together with
the current absence of evidence as to the present mass market
appeal of 3G services and the limited availability of 2G/3G compatible
handsets, led us to review and revise the business plans of our
mobile operations across our European footprint.

As a result of the above events, the carrying value of the fixed assets
of each of our principal income generating units (IGUs), being O, UK,
0, Germany, O, Ireland and O, Netherlands, were compared to their
respective recoverable amounts.

The announced disposal of O, Netherlands led to the carrying
value of the net assets of the Dutch IGU being written down to
their recoverable amount, which in this case was the sale proceeds
less direct costs of disposal. This resulted in an exceptional
impairment charge of £1,364 million being recognised in the
profit and loss account below Group operating loss.

With respect to the IGUs that are held for continuing use within
the Group (being O, UK, O, Germany and O, Ireland), the carrying
values of their fixed assets were compared to their value in use to
the Group. The value in use of each IGU was calculated with
reference to the net present value of its future cash flows derived
from the assets, using cash flow projections for the period up to 31
March 2013. These projections cover a ten-year period, as we believe
that throughout this ten-year period, the annual growth rate of the
IGUs being assessed will differ from the average growth rates for
the countries concerned. For the periods beyond 1 April 2013, the
projections use a long-term growth rate assumed to be at or below
the nominal GDP of the country concerned. The discount rates
applied to the projections were based on the post-tax weighted
average cost of capital for the Group. The effective pre-tax discount
rate for each of our territories ranged between 10.4 per cent and
12.5 per cent.

The impairment review performed during the year ended 31 March
2003 revealed that the fixed assets of each of the IGUs held for
continuing use within the Group were impaired, resulting in an

mmo2.com 33

exceptional impairment charge of £8,300 million included within
operating expenses.

The total exceptional impairment charges in the year ended
31 March 2003 are analysed below:

Licences,
other
intangible
assets and Tangible
Goodwill  investments assets Total
fm fm fm £m
Operating exceptional items:
0O, UK 198 2,102 - 2,300
O, Germany 903 3,797 - 4,700
O, Ireland 1,300 - - 1,300
2,401 5,899 - 8,300
Non-operating exceptional items:
O, Netherlands 649 423 292 1,364
3,050 6,322 292 9,664

The carrying value of the Group’s goodwill and licences after
the impairment charges were £3,418 million and £4,164 million
respectively.

The impairment charge relating to goodwill includes £47 million

in respect of goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 April 1998
which has been written off directly to reserves. This goodwill has
been reinstated and written off through the profit and loss account.

In calculating the value in use there is considerable uncertainty as

to the present value of the future cash flows. In assessing the future
cash flows, assumptions have been made using the best estimates
available at the time of performing the impairment review. These
estimates include those used to reflect the growth rates up to 2013,
the long-term growth rates beyond 2013, the discount rate, the
competitive landscape, the take up and charge rate of data services
and the availability of functioning technological infrastructure to
support the 3G roll-out. The actual outcome is uncertain and these
estimates may change over time as subsequent changes in the
mobile telecommunications industry, including advances in technology,
changes in the performance of our businesses as a result of
competitive pressure or otherwise, or potential difficulty in the
implementation of the UMTS network, may in the future shorten the
estimated useful lives or result in a further write-down of these assets.

Exceptional items for the year ended 31 March 2002 amounted to
£150 million. These related to the costs arising as a result of the
demerger of the Group from BT in November 2001, and costs
relating to the reorganisation of the Group subsequent to the
demerger. We incurred exceptional costs of £27 million which
were directly attributable to the demerger of the Group from BT.
The remaining £123 million of exceptional items relate to the
restructuring of our UK and German operations post demerger,

of which £87 million was in respect of redundancy costs.
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The reconciliation of EBITDA to Group operating (loss)/profit, the most directly comparable UK GAAP financial measure, by business is as follows:

Group operating Exceptional
(loss)/profit Depreciation Amortisation items EBITDA

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m £m £m £fm fm fm fm

0, UK (2,116) 36 478 372 175 176 2,300 86 837 670
0O, Germany (4,979) (472) 259 228 47 49 4,700 29 27 (166)
O, Ireland (1,331) (57) 67 61 121 118 1,300 - 157 122
O, Netherlands (120) (164) 74 57 47 44 - 12 1 (51)
O, Online (122) (103) 34 20 15 5 - 10 (73) (68)
Other businesses (110) (96) 20 9 - - - 13 (90) (74)
(8,778) (856) 932 747 405 392 8,300 150 859 433

EBITDA

EBITDA is our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation
and exceptional items, excluding our share of operating profits and
losses of our joint ventures and associates.

Our businesses with larger market shares in their countries of
operation, O, UK and O, Ireland, have generated positive EBITDA
over the last three financial years. O, Germany, a newer business,
has historically made EBITDA losses until the 2003 financial year,
during which O, Germany has achieved a positive EBITDA result for
the first time. The following table shows contributions of our

businesses to Group EBITDA.
Year ended 31 March

2003 2002

fm £fm

0, UK 837 670
0O, Germany 27 (166)
O, Ireland 157 122
O, Netherlands 1 (51)
0, Online (73) (68)
Other operations (90) (74)
Total 859 433

Group EBITDA increased by 98 per cent from £433 million for the year
ended 31 March 2002 to £859 million for the year ended 31 March
2003. The increased EBITDA contribution came from all four mobile
telecommunication businesses in the Group.

Total operating loss

The total operating loss of the Group increased significantly from

a loss of £848 million for the year ended 31 March 2002 to a loss
of £8,773 million for the year ended 31 March 2003. This included
the exceptional impairment charge of £8,300 referred to earlier.

The total operating loss excluding exceptional items decreased by
44 per cent from a loss of £848 million for the year ended 31 March
2002 to £473 million for the year ended 31 March 2003. This fall in
total operating loss before exceptional items can be ascribed to both
the increased revenues generated by all our businesses arising from
the increased number of subscribers and the rise in ARPUs and to
the cost reduction measures implemented in 2002 after demerger
by O, UK and O, Germany.

Net interest payable

Net interest payable relates to the finance charges payable on
external debt, net of interest received on amounts invested. In the
2003 financial year we incurred a full year's interest charge totalling
£66 million, an increase of 164 per cent over the 2002 financial year.
In the 2003 financial year, the principal elements of our interest
charge were the interest on our revolving credit facility amounting to
£12 million, and the interest of £63 million accrued on our long-term
bonds, which we issued in January 2002. In accordance with UK GAAP,
we are amortising the issue costs of our bank facility and our bonds
over the lives of the facilities (five and ten years respectively), through
the interest line in the profit and loss account. Amortisation of these
costs amounted to £3 million in the 2003 financial year. We also
incurred interest payable in relation to the O, UK loan notes and
interest on our finance leases and other borrowings, and received
interest on our short-term investments. Prior to demerger, we were
principally funded by BT and no interest was applied to that element
of our funding. At 19 November 2001, the date we demerged from
BT, we had net debt of £506 million. For the year ended 31 March
2002, the Group's net interest charge was £25 million, representing
the cost of external borrowings for the four months after demerger
to the end of that financial year.

Tax on loss on ordinary activities

The Group had a tax credit of £55 million for the year ended

31 March 2003 compared to a credit of £23 million for the year
ended 31 March 2002. The increase in the tax credit was principally
as a result of the losses of the Group for 2003 financial year and the
recognition of certain losses as deferred tax assets. However, overall
the Group had a net deferred tax liability.

Liquidity and capital resources

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years ended

31 March 2004, 2003 and 2002 extracted without adjustment from
our consolidated financial statements.



2004 2003 2002
£m £fm £fm
Net cash inflow from operating
activities 1,391 1,033 457
Returns on investments and
servicing of finance (62) (63) 9)
Tax paid (13) (4) (4)
Net cash outflow from capital
expenditure and financial
investment (1,1149) (868) (1,231)
Acquisitions and disposals (6) - (864)
Cash inflow/(outflow) before
management of liquid
resources and financing 196 98 (1,651)
Management of liquid resources (191) (3) (459)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
financing (50) (47) 1,790
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year  (45) 48 (320)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Our operating activities provided cash of £1,391 million,

£1,033 million and £457 million during the three years ended

31 March 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. Our Group operating
profit of £158 million, loss of £8,778 million and loss of £856 million
in each of the years were offset by significant non-cash depreciation
and amortisation charges totalling £1,136 million, £9,637 million
(including in 2004 exceptional depreciation of £2 million and in
2003 the exceptional impairment charge of £8,300 million) and
£1,139 million respectively.

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Net cash outflows for servicing of finance in the 2004 and 2003
financial years have increased compared to the 2002 financial year

as prior to our demerger in November 2001 we were funded by
interest free loans from BT. In the year ended 31 March 2002 we
incurred interest on external funding for four months after demerger
whereas in the years ended 31 March 2003 and 31 March 2004 we
incurred a full year's charge. The servicing of finance cash outflow for
the year ended 31 March 2004 consisted mainly of net interest
payable of £62 million (2003: £66 million) on our loans. This can be
analysed as £6 million interest paid on our revolving credit facility
(2003: £13 million, 2002: £6 million) and interest paid on our long-
term bonds of £62 million (2003: £64 million, 2002: £8 million).
Offset against this as part of the management of our liquid resources,
we have invested surplus cash in various short-term investments, on
which we have received approximately £16 million (2003: £14
million, 2002: £5 million) in interest.

Tax paid

The total tax paid for the Group in the years ended 31 March 2004
was £13 million, an increase over 2003 and 2002 during which the
Group paid £4 million each year.
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Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and

financial investment

Cash outflow in respect of capital expenditure for the 2004 financial
year was £1,114 million, an increase of 28 per cent over the
equivalent outflow of £868 million for the 2003 financial year. The
increase at O, UK and O, Germany is a consequence of the ongoing
spend on rolling out our planned UMTS networks, which accounted
for 35 per cent of capital expenditure at O, Germany in the year
ended 31 March 2004. Around 25 per cent of capital expenditure by
O, UK in the 2004 financial year related to investment in new
customer care systems.

Our Airwave business also increased capital expenditure in the
current year as the roll-out of its new secure network has
accelerated.

Capital expenditure in the year ended 31 March 2002 of £1,231
million related mainly to tangible fixed asset purchases across our
footprint in respect of network expansion and improvement.

Across the Group, there are generally timing differences between
the recognition of a new fixed asset in our financial statements,
and the cash payment, because we are often able to secure delayed
non-interest bearing payment terms with our capital suppliers.

The following table presents the capital additions recognised for
each of the years in the three-year period ended 31 March 2004:

2004 2003 2002
£m £m fm

Continuing operations
0, UK 502 362 556
O, Germany 308 141 250
0, Ireland 52 59 85
O, Online 14 21 59
0, Airwave 243 163 90
Other operations 1 8 5

UMTS licences and other
intangible assets 83 131 -
1,213 885 1,045

Discontinued operations

O, Netherlands 5 59 97
Total 1,218 944 1,142

Total capital expenditure by continuing operations, excluding

O, Netherlands, for the year ended 31 March 2004 has increased
by 37 per cent to £1,213 million from £885 million for the year
ended 31 March 2003. Capital expenditure also included the second
payment in respect of the network sharing agreement in Germany,
of £83 million. In the 2003 financial year the Group purchased a
UMTS licence in Ireland for £73 million.

We expect to incur significant capital expenditure in the medium
term a material portion of which relates to the roll-out of our UMTS
networks. We expect to fund our future capital spend from our bank
facilities and long-term bonds described below, and from net cash
flows from operations. The Group will maintain tight control of its
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investment programme, and in particular will aim to match the
timing and quantum of capital expenditure on our UMTS network
roll-out with the emerging demand for mobile data services.

Acquisitions and disposals

During the year ended 31 March 2004, we sold O, Netherlands

for €25 million. The sale proceeds, net of cash disposed with O,
Netherlands, were £7 million. In 2004 we also invested a
combination of loan notes and partly-paid equity totalling £6 million
in Tesco Mobile Limited, our joint venture with Tesco plc. Cash
outflow from acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2002 was
£864 million which related to the acquisition in April 2001 of

the remaining 49.5 per cent interest in O, Ireland, including deferred
payments owing, for a total consideration of £877 million. All
deferred consideration had been paid by 31 March 2004.

Financing

During the year ended 31 March 2004, we incurred a cash outflow
from financing of £50 million. This was principally in relation to loan
repayments of £53 million. We also issued shares vesting under
various option and award schemes which realised a cash inflow of
£3 million. The cash outflow in the year ended 31 March 2003 was
£47 million being mainly the redemption of O, UK loan notes during
the first half of the 2003 financial year. During the year ended

31 March 2002, our cash inflow from financing was £1,790 million.
This cash inflow comprises cash inflow prior to our demerger from
BT on 19 November 2001, and financing cash inflow post demerger.
Pre demerger, we received net funds from BT amounting to

£847 million. In January 2002, we received £989 million in respect of
our Euro medium-term bond issue. We repaid £74 million of our O,
UK loan notes. Our financing activities are described further below.

Sources of liquidity and capital resources

Prior to demerger our principal sources of liquidity were funding
from BT and cash from operating activities. Since demerger our
principal sources of liquidity are cash from operating activities, bank
financing and bond financing described below.

Upon demerger from BT, we had net debt of £506 million, of which
approximately £444 million, net of cash remaining in our Group, was
owed to BT. This debt to BT was refinanced shortly after completion
of the demerger out of the financing arrangements described below.

Total gross debt at 31 March 2004 amounted to £1,382 million
(2003: £1,465 million, 2002: £1,496 million), including the O, UK
hire purchase obligations (the QTE leases), the obligations of which
are fully offset by cash deposits held in trust. Net debt was

£366 million (2003: £549 million, 2002: £617 million). Included

in the total gross debt are €1,000 million and £375 million of
eurobonds issued in January 2002 which have a five year and

ten year term, respectively. Loan notes outstanding in aggregate
amounted to £8 million (2003: £19 million), redeemable at any
time at the option of the holder.

As at 31 March 2004, bank facilities totalled £1,825 million. These
comprise a syndicated facility totalling £1,725 million and a bilateral
facility totalling £100 million, both with a final maturity date of

14 September 2006. During the year, £150 million of the syndicated
facility was cancelled. As at 31 March 2004, both the syndicated and
bilateral facilities were un-drawn.

Interest on loans drawn under the bank facilities is calculated at a
margin above LIBOR (or in the case of Euro advances, EURIBOR) from
time to time. The margin varies according to the long-term credit
rating assigned to mmO, plc by major credit rating agencies but is
subject to a maximum of 1.50 per cent. As at 31 March 2004 all
bank facilities bear a margin of below 1 per cent.

Interest on our eurobonds is at a fixed rate at 6.375 per cent per
annum and 7.625 per cent per annum on the Euro and the Sterling
bond issues, respectively. Interest on the €1,000 million bond issue
has been swapped to floating rate. Interest on €500 million is
calculated at a margin above Sterling LIBOR, having been swapped
from Euro into Sterling and interest on the other €500 million is
calculated at a margin above EURIBOR.

The Group’s contractual obligations, including commitments for
future payments under hire purchase contracts, and long- and short-
term debt arrangements are summarised in the table below. Details
of these obligations are fully disclosed in notes 13, 14, 15 and 22 of
the Group’s financial statements.

Payments due by period

Less than 1to3 3to5 After

Total 1 year years years 5 years

Future commitments £m £m £m £m £m
Debentures 1,012 - - 639 373
Gross obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 325 39 59 58 169
Loan notes 8 8 - - -
Other loans and borrowings 37 6 14 17 -
Other creditors 47 - 3 5 39
Operating lease commitments 1,847 194 185 487 981
Commitments not provided in the accounts 466 381 28 57 -
Total 3,742 628 289 1,263 1,562




Treasury management and policies

Group Treasury (Treasury) operates as a centralised service for the
Group. The role of Treasury is to identify, monitor and manage
financial risk within the framework of Board approved policies and
delegated authorities. Treasury is not permitted to add to the
financial risks inherent in the business and may not undertake
speculative activity.

The principal financial risks of the Group are identified below.

Banking covenants

It is our current policy to fully fund our business plan by access to
the debt capital markets and other sources of funding. Borrowing
is centralised and there are no material local facilities. The Group is
committed to maintaining the key financial ratios as set out in the
covenants relating to the multi-currency revolving credit facility, of
Group EBITDA to interest and net debt to Group EBITDA. As at

31 March 2004, actual ratios were Group EBITDA to interest of
23.6 times (2003: 13.0 times, 2002: 17.3 times) and net debt of
0.3 times Group EBITDA (2003: 0.6 times, 2002: 1.4 times). As at
31 March 2004, the Group's projected funding requirements were
fully funded through a combination of bonds issued under the
Group’s bond financing programme (£375 million and €1,000
million) and committed bank facilities (£1,825 million).

Foreign exchange management

The policy of the Group is to hedge (primarily by the use of foreign
currency forward contracts) identified foreign exchange flows,
although the current level of transaction risk exposure is low due

to the fact that cash flows are primarily domestic in each Group
company. The policy of the Group regarding foreign exchange
translation risk is to manage material risk on the translation of
foreign currency assets and liabilities into pounds sterling primarily
through natural offsets and the use of currency debt, cross-currency
and foreign exchange swaps. At 31 March 2004, the majority of net
debt was denominated in pounds sterling after taking account of
the effect of derivative instruments. In line with the development of
positive cash flows in our oveseas businesses and as visibility of the
future financial profile of our Group becomes clearer, we anticipate
increasing the level of hedging of our overseas assets through the
redenomination of existing debt and the use of cross-currency and
foreign exchange swaps.

Interest rate management

The debt level within the Group is a key determinant of the impact
of interest rates. It is current policy to fix or protect expected interest
flows where Group profits or key financial ratios would be materially
at risk from interest rate movements. Treasury maintains the
proportion of fixed rate debt within a Board approved range of

25 to 75 per cent by the issuance of fixed rate debt and the use

of derivative instruments (primarily interest rate swaps). As at

31 March 2004, and after taking into account the effect of
derivative instruments, 39 per cent (2003: 36 per cent, 2002:

34 per cent) of gross borrowings (excluding the QTE lease which

is fully defeased) were fixed for a period of at least three years
(2003: three years, 2002: three years). Based on the net debt as

at 31 March 2004, a one per cent rise in market interest rates
would increase debt costs which would be broadly offset by
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investment deposit returns. The effect on the Group’s profit before
tax would therefore be insignificant (2003: adverse effect £7 million,
2002: adverse effect £2 million).

Credit risk management

It is our current policy to mitigate credit risk to our financial
counter-parties through the application of strict counter-party limits.
Counter-party limits are based on credit ratings issued by the main
credit rating agencies and outstanding transactions are weighted
according to potential risk to the Group. Counter-party limits are
reviewed on a regular basis by Treasury.

Off balance sheet arrangements
We do not participate in, or secure financing for, any unconsolidated
special purpose entities.

Research and development, patents and licences
We have not engaged in any significant research and development
activities during any of the last three financial years.

Outlook and prospects

At O, UK, in a highly competitive market, we expect service revenue
growth of between 5 and 8 per cent, reflecting the continuing
momentum generated by the strong customer growth in the year
ended 31 March 2004, partially offset by the substantial cut in
termination revenue expected to be incurred.

The EBITDA margin, reported on the same basis as the 2004 year,
is expected to remain stable. The margin actually reported for the
2005 year will reflect the transfer to O, UK of a substantial part
of the O, Online and Products O, functions, partially offset by the
efficiencies achieved as a result of the restructuring programme
completed in the second half of the 2004 year.

At O, Germany, we expect to deliver further strong service revenue
growth, and achieve an EBITDA margin for the full year to 31 March
2005 rising to the high teens per cent, and reflecting further rapid
growth of the customer base, UMTS network running costs, and the
continuing cost of national roaming.

We expect the Group to incur capital expenditure slightly higher
than in the 2004 year. An increase in UMTS investment in the UK is
expected to be partially offset by reduced UMTS capital expenditure
in Germany. O, Airwave capital expenditure is expected to be similar
to that incurred in the 2004 year.

We expect to launch competitive commercial services on our UMTS
platform later in 2004, having achieved the level of UMTS network
coverage and quality required across all our markets, to enable
delivery of a superior customer service experience. We do not expect
UMTS services to become a mass market, generating material
revenue, until late 2005.

At the time of the demerger we expected that all available cash from
operations would be used to finance the development and growth
of the operating businesses and to meet capital and other
expenditure requirements. We did not anticipate paying dividends in
the foreseeable future. Having reported, for the first time, positive
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earnings per share and positive cash flow for the full year, and as
visibility of the future financial profile of the Group becomes clearer,
it is now appropriate to review the distribution policy established at
the time of demerger. This review will be undertaken during the first
half of the 2005 year, and we will aim to update the distribution
policy at the time of our Interim Results announcement, scheduled
for November 2004.

US GAAP reconciliation

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with UK GAAP, which differs in certain respects from US GAAP. A
detailed description of the principal differences between UK GAAP
and US GAAP as they relate to us and a reconciliation to US GAAP
of net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ funds is given in the
supplementary information for United States investors.

Our results determined in accordance with US GAAP for the three
years ended 31 March 2004 were 2004, a net profit of £180 million,
2003, a net loss of £3,671 million and 2002, a net loss of £1,463
million compared with our result determined under UK GAAP of a
net profit of £166 million, a net loss of £10,148 million and a net loss
of £850 million, respectively. The principal differences affecting the
determination of net profit under US GAAP for the year ended
31 March 2004 are:
>> adjustments in relation to capitalisation of interest, net of
related depreciation of £(77) million (2003: £(67) million,
2002: £579 million);
>> adjustments for goodwill amortisation of £201 million
(2003: £374 million, 2002: £23 million);
>> adjustments for software and other intangible asset
amortisation of £(37) million (2003: £(37) million,
2002: £(217) million);
>> recognition of compensation expense in respect of
employee share plans of £(26) million (2003: £(1) million,
2002: £(1) million);
>> adjustments for restructuring costs of £19 million
(2003: £(21) million, 2002: £21 million);
>> adjustments for the fair value of derivative financial instruments
of £5 million (2003: £50 million, 2002: £(19) million);
>> recognition of losses on disposal of O, Netherlands of
£(6) million (2003: nil, 2002: nil);
>> adjustments in relation to the adoption of SFAS No. 143
(“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”) in the current
year of £(4) million (2003: nil, 2002: nil);
>> accumulative adjustments in relation to the adoption of
SFAS No. 143 of £(4) million (2003: nil, 2002: nil); and
>> adjustments for deferred taxation on US GAAP differences
of £(56) million (2003: £(176) million, 2002: £(240) million).

Recent UK accounting pronouncements

Amendment to FRS 5 “Reporting the substance of
transactions” — revenue recognition

The amendment takes the form of an additional application note to
FRS 5, being “Application Note G”. This codifies the basic principles
of revenue recognition and provides specific guidance in five areas.
Of particular importance to our Group is the guidance on

presentation of turnover as agent or principal. We recognise revenue
on a gross basis where our role is that of principal. The gross basis
represents the value of the billing to the customer after trade
discounts, with any related costs being charged to operating
expenses. Where we act as agent in a transaction, we recognise the
net revenue earned as turnover.

Pension accounting

We continue to apply the transitional disclosure arrangements set
out in FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”. Mandatory implementation is
not required until the year ended 31 March 2006 by which time we
expect to have adopted International Accounting Standards. The
transitional disclosures required are provided in note 29 to the
financial statements. The changes introduced by FRS 17 principally
affect the way defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for.
At each year-end the pension scheme assets should be measured at
market value while pension scheme liabilities should be measured at
a present value using a specified actuarial valuation method and
discounted at a corporate bond rate. The resulting pension scheme
surplus or deficit must be shown on the Group’s balance sheet, and
could be volatile because of the dependence on market conditions
at the balance sheet date.

Recent US accounting pronouncements

Full details of recent United States accounting pronouncements are
provided in the supplementary information for United States
investors.

International accounting standards

The Council of the European Union announced in June 2002 that
listed companies in Europe would be required to adopt International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The adoption of IFRS will
apply to our Group for the first time for the half year ending

30 September 2005 and the year ending 31 March 2006.

We have established a project team to manage the conversion from

UK GAAP to IFRS. The scope of the project includes:

>> an initial assessment of the impact on the Group’s reported
financial results and position of the change to IFRS;

>> continued assessment of the impact of future developments
in International Accounting Standards;

>> identification of changes required to the Group’s existing
financial systems and procedures;

>> appropriate training of all necessary staff; and

>> an internal and external communication strategy of areas of
significant change.

We expect the adoption of IFRS by the Group for our year ending
31 March 2006 to result in significant changes in the accounting,
presentation and disclosure of certain items in our financial
statements. We expect to publish details of the differences, and a
reconciliation between our existing UK GAAP results and net assets
and those under IFRS in due course.



Risk factors

Business risks

We face increasing competition from new and existing
providers of mobile services

We are competing increasingly with new mobile service providers,
virtual network operators and resellers of mobile services. Also,
competition from existing service providers may be more intense
than anticipated, driving down prices. Failure to compete
effectively could result in a decrease in our customers, revenues
and profitability.

We face competing technologies

We face competition from communications technologies that are
under development or that will be developed in the future, including
cordless technologies and private and shared radio networks. As a
result of current trends in the telecommunications industry in
Europe, such as the rapid convergence of technologies, we expect
there to be further technological advances in the future. Failure to
compete could result in a decrease in our customers, revenues and
profitability.

We may be unable to execute our network-sharing
agreements with T-Mobile on the most favourable
commercial terms

We have network-sharing agreements with T-Mobile in the UK
and in Germany. Our network-sharing agreements may not deliver
the customer and financial benefits anticipated and may not
function optimally. This could have a significant effect on the
profitability of our businesses.

Our relatively small scale causes disadvantage in sourcing of
devices, network infrastructure, content and applications and
in exploiting the mobile data opportunity

We may be unable to leverage scale to our best advantage to secure
exclusivity in relation to certain devices, to have devices built to our
own specifications and to obtain other favourable terms. This could
have a detrimental effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Alleged health risks associated with mobile
telecommunications could lead to decreased usage of our
services and products, increased difficulty in obtaining
transmitter sites or potential liability

Public concern about the alleged or perceived health risks of mobile
communications could have a detrimental impact on our business
through negative customer perception of our brands, services or
products, difficulties in retaining or attracting customers, reduced
usage times per customer of our mobile telecommunications services
or increased difficulty in obtaining transmitter sites. We cannot
assure you that further medical research and studies will refute a link
between the radio frequency emissions of wireless handsets and
base stations and these health concerns. Government authorities
could increase regulation of wireless handsets and base stations as a
result of these health concerns, or wireless companies, including us,
could be held liable for costs or damages associated with these
concerns, which could have a negative impact on our business.
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In addition, regulators may reduce the prescribed limits for exposure
to electromagnetic radiation in the countries in which we operate,
which would mean that the exclusion areas around our antennas in
those countries may have to increase in some situations. In this event
we may suffer additional costs associated with repositioning our
network equipment and we may experience delays in the roll-out

of our networks.

O, Germany may be unable to reach economic scale in a
reasonable time frame

If O, Germany fails to meet its sales forecast in terms of new
customers and increase in ARPU, this could have a significant
negative impact on the profitability of our business.

Implementation of a new billing and operational system

for O, UK

Implementation of a new billing and operational system will require
the migration of all post-pay customers from our existing system,
which is discussed in greater detail in the business review on page 9.
Our internal support structure will need to change to implement the
new system. It is a large-scale and complex transformation, which is
due to be completed by early calendar 2005. If the transition is not
completed successfully, this may affect operational performance.

We may fail to roll out Airwave on time

A change in the planning regime, relating to the siting of masts,
may impact on our ability to deploy the network and therefore could
have an effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operation.

We may fail to achieve our strategic goal of earning revenues
from more sophisticated data services

If the market for non-SMS data services does not grow as quickly as
we currently anticipate and SMS yields fall faster than we currently
anticipate and voice price erosion increases faster than we currently
anticipate, this could have a negative impact on our business and
results of operations.

We may be disadvantaged by our UMTS offerings

Our UMTS offerings may suffer as a consequence of later launches
and weaker ranges of products and services. This could have a
negative impact on our business and our results of operations.

Misuse of our networks by our customers through fraud

or in a way that damages our reputation

Certain customers may misuse our networks in ways which

damage our reputation, for example using the network to make
inappropriate contact with children, spamming or propagation of
viruses. Certain customers may also misuse our networks in ways
which impact our costs or revenues, including fraud. This could have
a negative impact on our business.
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Risk factors

Competition law and regulatory risks

We operate in highly regulated markets that limit our
flexibility to manage our business

We must comply with an extensive range of requirements that
regulate and supervise the licensing, construction and operation

of our networks and the provision and pricing of our products and
services in countries in which we operate. We must also co-operate
with agencies or other governmental authorities that regulate and
supervise the allocation of frequency spectrum and which monitor
and enforce regulation and competition laws which apply to the
mobile telecommunications industry. Our business and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected by changes in

the law, regulation or government policies directed at the mobile
telecommunications markets in which we operate. In particular,
decisions by regulators and competition authorities relating to tariffs,
interconnection or the effects of expansion into new markets, or the
accessibility of our network to mobile virtual network operators or
service providers could have a negative impact on our business and
results of operations.

Action by the Commission or regulators may result in fines
and a decrease in roaming revenues

If the Commission finds that there have been infringements

of Article 81 and/or Article 82 EC Treaty in the markets for
international roaming services in which we operate, it may fine
us. The Commission could also require us to reduce our wholesale
charges or retail prices for international roaming or to change the
way in which such charges and prices are set.

In addition, national regulators in the UK, Germany or Ireland

may seek to regulate our international roaming charges, if they
find that we have SMP (significant market power) on the wholesale
roaming market.

Any fines or future regulation of roaming charges could have a
negative impact on our business and results of our operations.

We may be subject to new regulatory obligations
Implementation of the New EU Framework may result in new
or more onerous regulatory obligations being imposed on us in
Germany, the UK and Ireland. Depending upon the obligations
imposed, this could have a significant effect on the profitability
of our businesses.

We may be required to provide access to our network in
Ireland

In Ireland, if ComReg confirms its preliminary conclusion that we
have SMP in the mobile access and origination market then we

may be subject to increased regulation in this market. We may be
required to offer wholesale national roaming to other operators, to
provide access to service providers, and to comply with transparency,
non-discrimination and accounting separation obligations. Any
increase in regulation in this market could have a significant effect
on the profitability of our business in Ireland.

Regulation of call termination charges may increase in the UK
In the UK, Ofcom is proposing that we should be required to reduce
our call termination charges from an average of 8.03 pence per
minute to an average at 5.65 pence per minute for the financial year
to 31 March 2005. Ofcom is also proposing that we should have to
reduce these charges by a further 10.5 per cent in the financial year
to 31 March 2006, after allowing for an increase in such charges
equal to the increase in the UK Retail Price Index. Ofcom is planning
to adopt measures which would require us to make these proposed
price reductions within the next few months.

Any increase in the regulation of call termination charges in the UK
could have a significant effect on our profitability.



Board of directors

David Varney (58) Chairman @@

David Varney was appointed to the Board in 2001 as full-time Chairman.
In April 2003, he became part-time Chairman as envisaged at the time of
the demerger from BT. He has extensive experience both in the UK and
overseas markets gained during his four years as Chief Executive Officer
of BG Group (formerly British Gas) from 1996 to 2000. Prior to joining
BG Group, he held a variety of senior roles in Shell including the position
of Managing Director of AB Svenska Shell in Sweden and Director of
Shell International with responsibility for Shell’s Oil Products business in
Europe. He is also Chairman of Business in the Community and President
of the Council for the Institute of Employment Studies. He will be retiring
from the Board at the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General
Meeting being held on 28 July 2004.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Peter Erskine (52) Chief Executive Officer @- @

Peter Erskine was appointed to the Board in 2001 as the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer. He joined the Company from BT where, since
March 1993, he held a number of senior positions including Director of
BT Mobile, President and Chief Executive of Concert, and, from 1998,
Managing Director of BT Cellnet. Prior to joining BT he was European
Vice President of Sales and Customer Service for Mars and Senior Vice
President Sales and Marketing for UNITEL. Mr Erskine was appointed
to the Advisory Board of the University of Reading Business School in
July 2003.

David Finch (48) Chief Financial Officer @-®

David Finch was appointed to the Board in 2001. Mr Finch is the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer and has extensive experience in
financial management having previously held senior finance positions at
Exel, Novar (formerly Caradon) and Grand Metropolitan. In addition to
Group Finance, he has direct responsibility for the Group Treasury and
Investor Relations functions.

Rudolf Gréger (49) CEO O, Germany @

Rudolf Gréger was appointed to the Board on 1 April 2003. He joined
the Company in October 2001 as Chief Executive Officer of O, Germany.
Prior to this, he was Managing Director of T-Systems International GmbH,
a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom, from 1999 to 2001. He played a key
role in the acquisition of Debis Systemhaus GmbH and its integration into
Deutsche Telekom. He has also worked for Siemens and was head of its
German information and communication product operations.

David McGlade (43) CEO O, UK®

David McGlade was appointed to the Board on 1 April 2003.

Mr McGlade joined O, UK (previously called BT Cellnet) in October 2000.
Before being appointed as Managing Director of BT Cellnet, he was
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PureMatrix, a mobile webnet
software company based in Colorado, and remains a non-executive
Director of this company. He was also President and Chief Executive
Officer of Catch TV, President West Region of Sprint PCS where he
launched the first CDMA network outside Asia and a Vice President of
TCI. Mr McGlade is also a board member of the GSM Association and
Tesco Mobile.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Andrew Sukawaty (48) @ ©®

Andrew Sukawaty was appointed to the Board in 2001. Mr Sukawaty
is the non-executive Deputy Chairman of the Company and senior
independent Director. He is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Inmarsat Group. He is President of Cable Partners Europe LLC, which
invests in and operates cable television services in Europe. He is also
Chairman of Telenet and Deputy Chairman of Xyratex Group Limited.
He has considerable experience in the mobile telephone industry and
telecommunications industries in the United States and Europe having
at different times in those periods held the offices of Chief Executive
and President of Sprint PCS, Chief Executive Officer of NTL and Chief
Operating Officer of Mercury One20ne, where he launched the world’s
first digital Personal Communications Services company. He has also
been a former Chairman of the Cellular Telephone and Internet
Association (CTIA) in the United States.

David Arculus (57) (M- @

David Arculus was appointed to the Board on 1 April 2003. Mr Arculus
is Chairman of Severn Trent, a position which he will relinquish by the
end of 2004, and the Better Regulation Task Force and a non-executive
Director of Barclays. Mr Arculus was previously Chairman of IPC Group
Limited and, before that, Group Managing Director of EMAP. Mr Arculus
will become Chairman on 28 July 2004 at the conclusion of the
Company’s 2004 Annual General Meeting.

David Chance (47) M- @

David Chance was appointed to the Board in 2003. Mr Chance was
Deputy Managing Director of BSkyB until June 1998 and is Chairman of
Modern Times Group and Top Up TV Limited, and is a non-executive
Director of ITV and Sunderland AFC. He previously held senior marketing
and business development roles at US telecoms companies, Scientific
Atlanta and Grass Valley Group, and European satellite broadcaster, SES.

Stephen Hodge (62) "

Stephen Hodge was appointed to the Board in 2001. Mr Hodge was
Director of Finance of the Royal Dutch/Shell Group, prior to his
retirement in September 2001, where he had responsibility for all
financial and investor relations issues for the Shell Group and its parent
companies. He has extensive knowledge of the financial management of
international companies, having worked throughout the world including
Australia, the Netherlands, Venezuela and Argentina in a variety of
financial positions. He is Chairman of Shell Pensions Trust Limited and

a member of the Franchise Board of Lloyd’s of London.

Neelie Kroes (62) (V- &)

Neelie Kroes was appointed to the Board in 2001. Ms Kroes is a member
of the Supervisory Boards of a number of Dutch enterprises including
Cério, Lucent Technologies, Nederlandse Spoorwagen, New Skies
Satellites and Royal P&O Nedlloyd. She is also a member of the
Supervisory Boards of Volvo Group, Thales Group and Prologis. She is a
former President of Nijenrode University in the Netherlands. Before this,
she served as Adviser to the European Transport Commissioner and also
served two periods, in the Netherlands, as Cabinet Minister of Transport,
Public Works and Telecommunications and Secretary of State for
Transport, Public Works and Telecommunications. She was also a
member of the Dutch Parliament and a member of the Rotterdam
Municipal Council.
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lan Meakins (47) M- 4

lan Meakins was appointed to the Board in 2001. Mr Meakins is
currently President, European Major Markets and Global Supply of
Diageo. He has held a number of senior marketing and operational
directorships since joining United Distillers in 1992 from strategic
management consultants, The Kalchas Group, where he was a
founding partner. Prior to this, he worked at Bain & Company and
Procter & Gamble.

Paul Myners (56) - ©

Paul Myners was appointed to the Board in 2001. Mr Myners is
Chairman of Guardian Media Group, Aspen Insurance Holdings and

Tate Trustees and a non-executive Director of The Bank of New York

and Marks & Spencer. He was Chairman of Gartmore Investment
Management until November 2001 and has previously held directorships
at National Westminster Bank, Coutts & Co., the Investment
Management Regulatory Organisation, the Lloyd's Market Board, Celltech
Group, the Scottish National Trust, Powergen and Orange.

Executive management team

mmO,'s Executive Committee comprises Messrs. Erskine (Chairman),
Finch, Groger, and McGlade and the following senior executives
(including Kent Thexton up to 31 March 2004):

Danuta Gray (45) CEO O, Ireland

Danuta Gray joined the Company from BT, where she was employed
since 1984. Before transferring to her present role in July 2001, Ms Gray
was Senior Vice President of BT Wireless's businesses in Europe. Prior to
this, she was a General Manager of BT Mobile, Leeds from 1994 to
1999, Sales Manager and Deputy General Manager of BT Global
Communications from 1992 to 1994 and Account Director for BT Global
Communications, Commercial Sector from 1990 to 1992. She also
worked in various departments as a manager and consultant for BT.

She is a board member of Business in the Community in Ireland.

Andrew Harley (43) Group HR Director

Andrew Harley joined the Company from BT, where he had worked since
1980. Before being appointed as Senior Vice President, HR, BT Wireless
in February 2001, Mr Harley was Senior Vice President, Human
Resources, BTopenworld, BT's fixed internet service provider, and before
that he was Human Resources Director for BT Cellnet. Mr Harley was
also Human Resources Director for Telenordia in Sweden.

Richard Poston (44) Director Corporate Affairs

Richard Poston joined the Company in 2001. Previously Mr Poston was
the Director of Communications for TI Group from 1999 to 2001 and,
prior to this, Director of Corporate Communications for Racal Electronics
from 1994 to 1999. He held a number of corporate communications and
public affairs roles in Racal Electronics. During this time, he was closely
involved with the early growth of Vodafone leading to its demerger from
Racal and the formation of Camelot Group, operator of the National
Lottery, in which Racal was a major shareholder. He started his career in
the Royal Navy where he served from 1978 to 1986.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND GENERAL COUNSEL
Philip Bramwell (47)

Philip Bramwell joined the Company from BT, where he was employed
since 1998, initially as Legal Manager, Group Strategy and Development
and then as Chief Counsel, Corporate Development. Before joining BT,
he was a partner in DDV, a European specialist telecommunications
consultancy firm. Prior to this, he held the position of Vice President and
General Counsel at BellSouth Europe and Secretary and Legal Advisor at
SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals international division. He was
called to the Bar in 1983.

Key to membership of Board Committees:

M Audit Committee @ Chairman’s Committee @) Executive Committee
@) Nomination and Governance Committee

) Remuneration Committee

All of the non-executive Directors are considered independent of the
management of the Company.

Sohail Qadri (43) Group Director Strategy

& Performance Management

Sohail Qadri joined the Company from BT where he had worked since
1993 initially as Director of Operations and Strategy for BT Cellnet,
from 1997 as Director of Mobility, Group Strategy and Development,
and from 2000, as President, Strategy & Business Development of BT
Wireless. Before joining BT, he was a Principal Consultant at Coopers
& Lybrand, now PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Kent Thexton (41) Chief Data and Marketing Officer

Kent Thexton joined the Company from BT where he had worked since
1998 as Marketing Director of BT Cellnet before becoming Managing
Director of O, Online (previously called Genie) in 2000. He was
appointed Chief Data and Marketing Officer for the Company in July
2001. Before joining BT Cellnet, he spent eight years in the Canadian
mobile industry, holding the position of Chief Operating Officer and
Executive Vice President of Rogers Cantel (now Rogers Wireless). Prior
to this he held management positions at Northern Telecom and Bell
Canada. He is also a non-executive Director of two private Canadian
companies, Audience View and Casero. Mr Thexton, who was appointed
to the Board on 1 April 2003, resigned as a Director of the Company
on 4 February 2004 but remained on the Executive Committee until

31 March 2004, when he left the Company.

David Williams (46) Chief Technology Officer

David Williams joined the Company in 2003 from Cingular Wireless,
where he was Vice President for Strategic Planning. Prior to the merger
of SBC Wireless and BellSouth Cellular in the US to form Cingular, he ran
all technological operations for SBC Wireless west region. He joined SBC
Wireless following the acquisition of Pacific Bell Mobile Services by that
company and was instrumental in integrating the two networks. After
working for both Orange and Vodafone in the UK, he relocated to the
US in 1996 to direct the build-out of one of the US’s first digital mobile
networks for Pacific Bell.



Report of the directors

The Directors of mmO; plc have pleasure in presenting to
shareholders their report and the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2004.

Principal activity

mmO; plc is a leading provider of mobile communications services in
Europe. The Group traded through its wholly-owned subsidiaries in
the UK, Germany, Ireland and the Isle of Man throughout the year,
and in the Netherlands until 3 June 2003. The Group also provides

a nationwide mobile radio service designed to serve the needs of
the police and other public safety organisations in England, Wales
and Scotland through O, Airwave. On 3 June 2003, mmO, plc
completed the sale of O, (Netherlands) B.V. to Greenfield Capital
Partners, an independent private equity and corporate finance
group, for €25 million in cash. On 4 June 2003, mmO; plc
announced the creation of a new 50:50 joint venture, Tesco Mobile,
to sell exclusively Tesco branded mobile services in Tesco stores across
the UK, using O,'s technology and network.

The business review on pages 6 to 18 and the operating and
financial review and prospects on pages 21 to 38 contain a review
of the business during the year and an indication of future
developments and form part of this report.

Results

The audited financial statements are presented on pages 64 to 96.
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2004.

Directors

The names and biographical details of the Directors are given on
pages 41 and 42. All Directors served throughout the financial year,
except for Kent Thexton who resigned from the Board on 4 February
2004 but remained a member of the Executive Committee until he
left the Company on 31 March 2004.

As previously announced, David Varney will be retiring from the
Board at the conclusion of the 2004 Annual General Meeting, in
accordance with his letter of appointment, and David Arculus will
become Chairman of the Company from that time.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that Directors are
required to retire by rotation every three years. It is the Board's
intention that shareholders will be given the opportunity to re-elect
Directors within that timescale. David Finch, Stephen Hodge and
Andrew Sukawaty will retire by rotation this year and are proposed
for re-election at the 2004 Annual General Meeting. In addition,
David Varney will be retiring as Chairman and a Director of the
Company at the conclusion of the 2004 Annual General Meeting
and is not seeking re-election.

Details of the Directors’ service contracts, emoluments and share
interests as at the year-end can be found in the report on directors’
remuneration on pages 51 to 62.
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Share capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company at
31 March 2004 and details of share allotments made during the year
are given in note 17 of the financial statements on page 82.

The authority given at last year's Annual General Meeting for the
Company to purchase in the market 867,000,000 ordinary shares,
representing approximately 10 per cent of the share capital in issue
at 31 March 2003, expires at the conclusion of the 2004 Annual
General Meeting. The authority was not used during the year and
shareholders will be asked to give a similar authority at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, based on approximately

10 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March
2004. The Company has no current intention to utilise the authority.

Substantial shareholdings

At 10 May 2004, the following notifications had been received by
the Company in respect of holdings of three per cent or more of the
Company’s issued share capital:

Number of mmO; plc
ordinary shares

Percentage of issued

Shareholder ordinary share capital

FMR Corp. and Fidelity

International Limited 507,619,175 5.85
Legal & General Investment
Management Limited 304,856,559 3.51

Interest of management in certain transactions

During and at the end of the 2004 financial year, none of the
Company’s Directors had a significant interest in any material
transaction in relation to the Group’s business.

Employees

The Company operates a number of employee share schemes,
including savings-related option schemes, which encourage regular
saving and enable employees to acquire options over shares in the
Company, and an all employee share ownership plan in the UK
allowing employees to buy shares in the Company.

The Company has a wide range of communication channels with
employees including face-to-face meetings, team briefings, audio
conferences and a comprehensive Company intranet that includes
a regular newsletter. The aim of all these channels is to ensure
employees fully understand the Group’s objectives and its
operational and financial performance. In addition, the Company
conducts annual attitude surveys and maintains a constructive
dialogue with unions, employee representative bodies and

works councils.

The Company continues to be committed to the development of all
people in the organisation and actively promotes this through many
training and development initiatives. People are encouraged and
supported in maintaining personal development plans. The Company
has invested in e-learning technology to give people better access to
a wide range of learning opportunities.
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The Group is committed to employment policies that follow best
practice, based on equal opportunities for all, and recognises that a
diverse workforce is a strength in a competitive marketplace. The
Company has a Diversity Champion at Executive Committee level
and integrates equal opportunity into all its management processes.
This approach extends to the fair treatment of people with
disabilities in relation to their recruitment, training and development.
Full consideration and every effort are given to the retention of
people who become disabled during employment. O, UK is a
member of the Employers’ Forum on Disability.

Policy on the payment of suppliers

The Group aims to pay all of its creditors promptly. The payment
terms for major contracts are agreed at the same time as other
terms are negotiated with individual suppliers. It is the Group's policy
to make payments for other purchases within 30 working days of
the invoice date, provided that the relevant invoice is presented in

a timely fashion and is complete.

The Group had 34 days’ purchases outstanding as at 31 March 2004
(2003: 32 days) based on the average daily amount invoiced by
suppliers during the year.

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance is set out on pages 45 to 50.

Community involvement

During the financial year, the Group made cash donations to
charitable and community organisations totalling £427,000 of which
£192,000 was made from UK-based Group companies. As in
previous years, no political donations were made. Further details
regarding the Company’s involvement in the community are set

out in the corporate responsibility section of this report on pages

19 and 20.

Auditors

Resolutions concerning the re-appointment of the auditors and
authorising the Directors to set their remuneration will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting

The resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be
held on Wednesday, 28 July 2004, together with explanatory notes,

appear in the separate Notice of Annual General Meeting sent to all
shareholders.

By Order of the Board

Philip Bramwell Company Secretary and General Counsel
17 May 2004

Registered Office: Wellington Street, Slough,

Berkshire SL1 1YP

Registered number: 4190833

Statement of directors’ responsibility

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to:

>> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

>> make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

>> state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements. The financial
statements have complied with UK disclosure requirements in this
report in order to present a consistent picture to all shareholders.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to
ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Group website. The Directors understand that uncertainty
regarding legal requirements is compounded as information
published on the internet is accessible in many countries with
different legal requirements relating to the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements.

By Order of the Board
Philip Bramwell Company Secretary and General Counsel
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The Board supports high standards in corporate governance. The
application during the financial year of the principles in Section 1

of the Combined Code published by the Hampel Committee on
Corporate Governance in 1998 is described in the appropriate
sections of this statement and in the report on directors’
remuneration on pages 51 to 62. The Directors consider that the
Company has fully complied with the provisions set out in Section 1
of the 1998 Combined Code, except for the service contract in
respect of Rudolf Gréger, which is for a fixed term ending on

31 October 2005 in recognition of local market practice, but will
convert to a one-year rolling contract after the end of this initial
period. Additionally, in the event of termination of Mr Gréger’s
employment within 12 months of a change of control of mmO,

or its German business, the employer is obliged to make a cash
payment equal to two times his base salary and bonus. The
amount of bonus payable will be that expected for an on-target
performance. On-target bonus is equal to 80 per cent of base salary.

In July 2003, the Financial Reporting Council issued a revised Code
on Corporate Governance (the revised Combined Code) which is
effective for reporting years beginning on or after 1 November 2003.
The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
arrangements in the light of the revised Combined Code and

this report also reflects changes which have been made as a
consequence of that review.

The Board
The Directors’ biographies appear on pages 41 and 42.

The Board currently comprises the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, two further executive Directors, and seven
independent non-executive Directors, which is considered to be an
effective size and balance for the Company. The Board considers that
all the non-executive Directors are independent under the criteria set
out in the revised Combined Code, including David Arculus at the
date of the announcement of his appointment as Chairman from
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on 28 July 2004.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer has been set out in writing and agreed
by the Board.

Andrew Sukawaty, the Deputy Chairman, is recognised as the
senior independent Director to whom concerns can be conveyed
independently of the Chairman or Chief Executive Officer or Chief
Financial Officer by other Directors or by shareholders.

The differing roles of executive Directors and non-executive Directors
are clearly delineated, with both having fiduciary duties towards
shareholders.

Non-executive Directors are appointed initially for three years. During
the financial year, the non-executive Directors entered into revised
letters of appointment setting out their expected time commitment
and key elements of the role, reflecting the guidelines in Sir Derek
Higgs' review of the role and effectiveness of non-executive directors

mmo2.com 45

(the Higgs’ Report). Their appointment is subject to one month’s
notice from either the Company or the Director. Towards the end of
the three-year period, the Board will consider whether to continue
the appointment for a further three-year period.

At the time of a Director’s appointment to the Board, an internal
induction programme is provided on the Group’s strategic and
business plans and developments to date. The content of this
induction programme and, where appropriate, any additional
training which may be required by the Director is kept under review.
Directors are also advised of their legal and other obligations as a
Director of a listed company.

In accordance with the revised Combined Code and the Company’s
Articles of Association, all Directors submit themselves for re-election
every three years.

The Board as a whole is collectively responsible for the success of the
Company and provides entrepreneurial leadership of the Company
within a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables
risk to be assessed and managed. It sets out the Company'’s values
and standards and ensures that its obligations to its shareholders
and other stakeholders are understood and met.

The Board has regular scheduled meetings throughout the year
together with an annual off-site conference to review and discuss
corporate strategy. Additional meetings are held as necessary. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2004, the Board met nine times.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it
for decision, including the approval of strategic plans and the annual
operating plan, significant investments and capital projects, and
treasury and risk management policies. All Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

Guidelines are in place concerning the content, presentation and
timely delivery of papers by management to Directors for each
Board meeting, so that the Directors have enough information

to be properly briefed. Where issues arise at Board meetings, the
Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed and, where
necessary, appropriate further enquiries are made.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who, under the direction of the Chairman, is responsible
to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed,
maintaining compliance with all applicable rules and regulations,
and advising the Board on all governance matters. The appointment
and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board

as a whole. There is an agreed procedure for Directors to take,

if necessary, independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense.

Whilst not actively involved in the day-to-day management of the
Company, the non-executive Directors play an important role in
bringing their independent judgement and considerable knowledge
and experience to the Board’s deliberations with their advice being
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reflected in management meetings. They have regular contact with
senior managers in the business.

During the financial year, the Chairman met regularly with non-
executive Directors without the executive Directors present and the
non-executive Directors also met without the Chairman present
under the leadership of the senior independent Director. One of
these latter meetings was to review the performance of the
Chairman.

During the financial year, the Board conducted an internal review
of its performance and that of its principal Board Committees and
individual Directors. Each Director completed a comprehensive
questionnaire and there were one-to-one interviews between the
Chairman and each Director. Directors were asked to comment on
matters such as the culture and approach of the Board, the effective
setting of strategy based on information about the business and
how the market operates, the quality and timeliness of information
provided, the composition of the Board, the role of the senior
independent Director, Board meeting processes, the form of
continuing professional development, and communication of Board
decisions and discussions. The results of this review were considered
in one-to-one discussions with the Chairman and collectively at a
Board meeting. The Directors concluded that the Board and its
Committees operated effectively and that, as individuals, the
Directors were each contributing to the overall effectiveness

of the Board.

There is a programme of regular dialogue with major institutional
shareholders and fund managers and summaries of these discussions
and meetings are provided to the Board. In addition, the Board
received a presentation on the findings of an independent investor
audit. These summaries and reports enable the Directors to gain an
understanding of the views and opinions of those with an interest in
the Company.

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
in respect of legal action against its Directors.

The Board has adopted appropriate governance policies dealing

with the conduct of Board affairs and has delegated responsibility
for monitoring the day-to-day performance of the Group as a whole,
allocation of resources within agreed plans, implementation of
policies and decisions relating to specific value-related commitments
to the Executive Committee and designated managers in accordance
with a schedule of delegated authorities.

Attendance
The attendance of Directors at Board and principal Board Committee
meetings held during the year is detailed in the table below:

Nomination
and
Audit Governance Remuneration
Board Committee Committee = Committee

(9 meetings) (4 meetings) (2 meetings) (8 meetings)

D Varney 9 n/a 2 n/a
P Erskine 9 n/a n/a n/a
D Finch 9 n/a n/a n/a
R Groger 9 n/a n/a n/a
D McGlade 8 n/a n/a n/a
K Thexton' 7 n/a n/a n/a
A Sukawaty 9 n/a 2 8
D Arculus 9 2 2 n/a
D Chance 9 4 2 n/a
S Hodge 9 4 n/a 8
N Kroes 9 2 n/a 8
| Meakins 8 2 n/a 7
P Myners 9 n/a 2 7

n/a — non-applicable as not a Committee member.
'Kent Thexton resigned from the Board on 4 February 2004.

Arrangements were made for any Directors who were unable to
attend meetings to discuss the agenda items with the relevant
Chairman of that meeting in advance.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated authority to the Committees described
below on specific matters. All of the Committees have formal terms
of reference. Minutes of meetings are formally recorded.

The terms of reference of the Audit, Nomination and Governance,
and Remuneration Committees were reviewed and revised during
the year in the light of the recommendations in the Higgs’ Report
and Sir Robert Smith’s report on the role of audit committees.

As part of that review, the Nomination Committee was renamed the
Nomination and Governance Committee. The terms of reference of
these Committees are posted on the Company’s website and are
available, on request, from the Company Secretary and General
Counsel who acts as Secretary to these Committees. The Board
reviews the membership of the Committees on an annual basis

at the start of each financial year or more frequently as
circumstances require.

During the year, the Board disbanded the Finance Committee and
delegated its responsibilities for reviewing and approving financing
and investment decisions to the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer and other specified senior managers.



Chairman’s Committee. Chairman: David Varney

The Chairman’s Committee advises and assists the Chairman in the
preparation for Board meetings. The Committee also acts on behalf
of the Board between scheduled Board meetings, in exceptional
circumstances, where it is not possible or practicable to convene a
meeting of the Board. In addition to the Chairman, Peter Erskine
and David Finch are members of the Committee. Following the
conclusion of the 2004 Annual General Meeting, David Arculus
will become Chairman of the Committee.

Audit Committee. Chairman: Stephen Hodge
The Committee comprises Stephen Hodge, David Arculus, David
Chance, Neelie Kroes and lan Meakins.

The Committee monitors the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements; reviews the Company’s internal financial control system
and risk management systems; monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function; makes
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of

the external auditors and recommends the audit fee (and terms

of engagement) to the Board following appointment by the
shareholders in general meeting; monitors and reviews the external
auditors’ independence, objectivity and effectiveness; considers
management’s response to any major external or internal audit
recommendations; approves the appointment or dismissal of the
Head of Internal Audit; reviews the Company’s procedure for
handling allegations from whistleblowers; and considers other topics,
such as the Company’s policies for preventing or detecting fraud and
its code of corporate conduct/business ethics.

Further details of the Committee and a report of its work during the
financial year are set out below.

Audit Committee Report

The composition of the Committee was reviewed at the end of the
previous financial year as part of the Board'’s overall review of its
governance committee arrangements. Further details of the
members of the Committee are set out in the biographies of the
Directors on pages 41 and 42.

Stephen Hodge, as Chairman of the Committee, is considered by the
Board to be the audit committee financial expert and the member of
the Committee with recent and relevant financial experience. He
receives an additional fee of £5,000 for acting as Chairman of the
Committee, which is included in the Directors’ remuneration table
contained in the report on directors’ remuneration on page 57.

The Company Secretary and General Counsel is secretary to the
Committee and minutes of meetings are circulated to all Board
members. Regular attendees to Committee meetings, at the
invitation of the Committee, include the Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Internal Audit and
representatives of the external auditors. The Committee has
authority to seek any information that it requires from any employee;
authority to obtain independent professional advice; and access to
sufficient resources generally to carry out its activities.
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As referred to earlier, the Committee undertook a review of its terms
of reference following the issue of the revised Combined Code in
July 2003 and reported back to the full Board. The amended terms
of reference were approved by the Board in November 2003 and
are available on the Company’s website and, on request, from the
Company Secretary and General Counsel.

The Committee met four times during the financial year. Following
each meeting, the Committee members met with the external
auditors in private. The Committee members have also met privately
with the Head of Internal Audit.

The Committee worked to a structured programme of activities, with

agenda matters focused to coincide with key events of the annual

financial reporting cycle, together with standing items that the

Committee is required to consider at each meeting. The Committee

reviewed the following matters and reported its conclusions to the

full Board:

>> the financial disclosures contained in the Company’s annual and
interim reports to shareholders and other interested parties;

>> various accounting matters, including the Company’s
accounting policies, raised by management and the external
auditors in the context of the financial disclosures;

>> the Group’s risk management process, including monitoring and
progress on the management of key risks identified by the
Company and within the Group’s operating businesses;

>> the effectiveness of internal controls and measures to detect
and prevent fraud;

>> the annual external audit plan for the Group’s auditors. This
review included the audit objectives, auditor independence and
objectivity policies, partner rotation, audit scope, team,
timetable, deliverables and fee proposal;

>> the amount and purpose of non-audit fees. As noted in last
year's annual report, the Board has adopted a formal policy
governing the independence of the Company’s external auditors
and defining those non-audit services that may be provided to
the Group, including those which require the prior approval of
the Committee. This was further reviewed and amended during
the financial year to provide for approval by the Chairman of
the Committee of contracts relating to permissible tax services
up to an aggregated value of £25,000 between scheduled
Committee meetings. Details of non-audit services are reviewed
at each meeting of the Committee. Further details of the
statutory audit and non-audit services fees are set out in note
26 of the financial statements on page 90. The policy also
covers employment of former auditor employees by the
Company and audit partner rotation;

>> the external auditors’ year-end report and the findings of their
work and confirmation that all significant matters had been
satisfactorily resolved;

>> the performance of the external auditors, which resulted in
the Committee recommending the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the Company; and

>> the internal audit plan and resources for the internal audit
function. This review included detailed reports from the Head of
Internal Audit on progress on matters identified in the plan,
current resources of the internal audit function and updates on
matters requested by the Committee.
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The Committee has reviewed the ongoing and updated process for
the handling of complaints received by the Company regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and for
the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns
regarding questionable accounting, auditing, employment, ethical or
other matters.

The Committee received regular updates from the Company
Secretary and General Counsel on corporate governance issues in
the UK and US, emanating from the revised Combined Code and
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

The Committee also received minutes of all meetings of the
Disclosure Committee. Details of the remit of this Committee are
provided in the internal control section of this report.

Nomination and Governance Committee.

Chairman: David Varney

The Committee comprises David Varney, David Arculus, David
Chance, Paul Myners and Andrew Sukawaty. Following the
conclusion of the 2004 Annual General Meeting, David Arculus
will become Chairman of the Committee. The Committee is
responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board and for recommending candidates for Board membership for
the approval of the Board.

In the appointment of new Directors, the Committee reviews the
current balance of skills on the Board. It draws up a specification to
include any specific knowledge or expertise it considers of future
benefit to the Board having regard to the business throughout the
Group and the overall strategy. External search agents are used
during the recruitment process. The agents put forward a short list
of candidates for the Committee to review before submitting its
recommendation to the Board. Whilst the Chairman of the Board
chairs this Committee, he is not permitted to chair meetings when
the appointment of his successor is being reviewed.

The Committee ensures that the performance of the Chairman,
senior independent Director and other Directors is regularly
reviewed.

During the financial year, the Committee met twice. It recommended
to the Board those Directors who should retire by rotation and seek
re-election at the 2004 Annual General Meeting and considered the
leadership needs and succession plans of the Group as a whole. It
also established a sub-committee of all the non-executive Directors
to review the performance evaluation processes and succession plans
for all Directors. The process leading to the selection of the new
Chairman was conducted by an ad-hoc committee of independent
Directors headed by the Deputy Chairman and advised by an
independent executive search agency.

Remuneration Committee. Chairman: Andrew Sukawaty

The Committee comprises Andrew Sukawaty, Stephen Hodge, Neelie
Kroes, lan Meakins and Paul Myners. The Committee is responsible
for determining the framework and broad policy for the

remuneration of the Chairman, all executive Directors, the Company
Secretary and General Counsel, and members of the Executive
Committee, and for determining, within agreed terms of reference,
specific remuneration packages for each of these, including any
pension rights, any compensation payments and the implementation
of executive incentive schemes. The Committee operates on the
principle that members of the executive management should be
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage superior
performance and should, in a fair and responsible manner, be
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of the
Group. The report on directors’ remuneration is set out on pages

51 to 62.

The Executive Committee, chaired by Peter Erskine, and
comprising the other executive Directors and his senior executive
team, is responsible for the executive day-to-day running of the
Company, the preparation and maintenance of strategic plans for
the Group, and monitoring the day-to-day performance of the
Group as a whole.

US corporate governance compliance

mmO, American Depositary Shares are traded on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE). The Company is required to comply with
those provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 implemented
by the Securities and Exchange Commission as applicable to
foreign issuers.

Under the NYSE rules, listed foreign issuers, like mmO,, must
disclose any significant ways in which their corporate governance
practices differ from those followed by US domestic companies
under NYSE listing standards. There are no significant differences in
the corporate governance practices followed by mmO, as compared
to those followed by US domestic companies under the NYSE listing
standards, except that mmO, follows the recommendations in the
revised Combined Code with respect to membership of its
Nomination and Governance Committee which permits membership
of this Committee to be composed of a majority of independent
non-executive Directors. The NYSE listing standards require that the
Nomination Committee be composed entirely of independent
Directors.

Internal control

Responsibility

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of
internal control and risk management and for reviewing the
effectiveness of those systems. Such systems are designed to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives; any system can provide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board sets the policy on Internal Control and Risk Management
that is implemented by management. This policy is in accordance
with the Turnbull Guidance “Internal Control: Guidance for Directors
on the Combined Code”.



Internal Control compliance, Risk Management and Internal Audit
are the responsibility of separate functions within the Company
but they operate holistically to deliver an effective internal

control system.

In the case of joint ventures and associated undertakings, where
the Group does not have operating responsibility, our policy is to
influence and encourage our own high standards of Internal Control
and Risk Management and to offer practical advice wherever
appropriate.

Control environment

As referred to earlier in this report, the Audit Committee, on behalf
of the Board, considers the effectiveness of the operation of internal
control procedures in the Group during the financial year. It reviews
reports from the Executive Committee and from both the internal
and external auditors, keeping under review the scope and results of
the audit and the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of
the auditors and reports its conclusions to the Board. The Group’s
internal auditors carry out regular assessments of the quality of the
Internal Control and Risk Management process as part of their
cyclical risk-based audit approach. The Internal Control and Risk
Management policies were reviewed during the year, and the
Internal Control policy was updated.

Risk management

The Group has a detailed ongoing risk management process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by
the Company.

Risk assessment and evaluation take place as an integral part of
the Group’s annual strategic planning cycle and this includes the
consideration of major business risks by senior management.

The risk management process comprises the following key elements:
>> Group operating companies and key functions in the business
carry out risk assessments, using workshop techniques, to

determine the nature and extent of risks facing the Company;

>> the Executive Committee undertakes a formal Group-wide risk
review every six months, which is reviewed by the Board. Risk
management is a formal item at each Executive Committee
meeting;

>> registers are produced which detail significant risks and indicate
likelihood, impact, and the level of controls, together with
mitigating actions;

>> the profile of the significant risks from the registers is
summarised and tracked using a consolidated risk map;

>> senior management is accountable and responsible for
managing risks within the Group, supported by dedicated risk
managers. These risk managers assist in embedding risk
management within the business culture via risk forums, team
meetings, training sessions and the Company’s intranet;

>> the Internal Audit function also promotes effective risk
management in the business operations; and

>> a fast track process for identifying and responding to evolving
risks and significant changes to existing risks so that they are
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reported to an appropriate level of management and corrective
action is taken.

Assurance

The Audit Committee receives a summary six-monthly report from

the Chief Executive Officer on the effectiveness of the Company’s

internal controls which is based on senior management reports on

their area of responsibility. This includes:

>> the Group risk registers, risk maps and dashboards; and

>> the Group Corporate Governance Certificates authorised by
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

Disclosure

The Company has a Disclosure Committee which considers the

materiality of information and the respective disclosure obligations
in releases made to regulatory bodies. This Committee assists the

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to evaluate the

effectiveness of the Group’s disclosure controls and procedures in

order to ensure that material information relating to the Group is

made known to them.

Annual assessment

The Board has reviewed the nature, extent and development of the
significant risks to the business. The Group’s current key risks are
summarised in risk factors on pages 39 and 40.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has reviewed regularly
the effectiveness of the system of internal controls and reported its
findings to the Board.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded, after evaluating the effectiveness of the Group’s
disclosure controls and procedures within the past 90 days, that
mmO,'s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring
that material information relating to the Company is made known to
them by others within the Group. The procedures provide reasonable
assurance that problems are identified on a timely basis and dealt
with accordingly.

There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of the most recent evaluation.

These processes have been in place for the whole of the financial
year and have continued up to the date on which this document
was approved.

Business principles

To reinforce our commitment to achieve best practice in our
standards of business ethics and corporate governance, mmO, has
a set of Business Principles covering the whole Group including its
Directors and senior financial officers, which have been endorsed by
the Chairman. There have been no waivers or changes to these
Business Principles during the year. A copy of the statement is
available on the Company’s website. These high-level principles are
supported by a confidential helpline and e-mail facility, which are
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available to employees who want to report incidents and for those
who have questions regarding the application of the principles.
The Company also continues to require its business partners and
suppliers to apply these principles when dealing with mmO,.

Corporate responsibility

The Board takes regular account of significant social, environmental
and ethical issues that affect the Group. This includes risks and
opportunities that relate to our people, our supply chain, our
customers, the environment and society around us.

The management of these issues are covered in the corporate
responsibility section of this report, on pages 19 and 20, which
contains information in accordance with the Disclosure Guidelines
on Social Responsibility, issued by the Association of British Insurers.

We are also producing a separate externally verified Corporate
Responsibility report, which will be available in July 2004. Copies of
the report can be obtained from the Company’s website or, on
request, from the Company Secretary and General Counsel.

Investor relations

The Company is committed to ongoing development of open and
effective communications with shareholders. The Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer regularly meet with
institutional shareholders and analysts and the Company’s Annual
General Meeting is used as an opportunity to communicate with
private investors and encourage their participation. All substantial
issues, including the adoption of the annual report and financial

statements, are proposed at the Annual General Meeting on
separate resolutions. At last year's Annual General Meeting the
number of proxy votes received for or against each resolution,
together with the number of proxy abstentions, were indicated after
the vote had been dealt with on a show of hands. In accordance
with evolving best practice, all of the resolutions being proposed
at the Company’s 2004 Annual General Meeting will be conducted
by way of a poll. The poll results will be notified to the UK Listing
Authority and published on the Company'’s website following
verification by the Company’s share registrar. It is intended that the
Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination and Governance, and
Remuneration Committees will be available to answer questions at
the Annual General Meeting.

The Company’s website provides financial and other business
information about the Group. It contains an archive of past
announcements and annual reports, share price information and
a calendar of events as well as information on mmO,'s approach
to corporate responsibility and the Company’s Business Principles.

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s liquid resources and
borrowing facilities, and the Group’s budget and cash flow forecast
for the year to 31 March 2005, and outline projections for the
subsequent year. On the basis of this review, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the
Directors adopt the going-concern basis in the preparation of the
financial statements.



Report on directors’ remuneration

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee (the
Committee) and has been approved by the Board. A resolution will
be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (the AGM)
on 28 July 2004 inviting them to consider and vote on this report.

Introduction

The mmO, Group operates in a highly competitive environment,
which experiences continual, rapid transformation. The Committee
believes that the remuneration strategy must fully support the
Group’s paramount aim of delivering sustainable shareholder value
and that performance measures should be closely linked to the key
performance drivers.

During the year ended 31 March 2004, the Committee undertook a
comprehensive review of the long-term incentives portfolio in light
of the key concerns and challenges currently faced by the Group.

Following this review, the Committee is proposing to introduce

a Deferred Equity Incentive Plan which will be based on the
achievement of excellent year-on-year progress against both strategic
and tactical objectives with a strong and robust link to sustainable
value creation. The plan will only deliver the maximum level of
reward if that balanced annual performance is then combined with
three further years of shareholder returns that place the Group in
the top 20 per cent of European telecoms companies.

The Committee believes that the long-term success of the Group is
built on a foundation of strong, regularly measured performance.
This year we have reviewed performance measurement under the
annual bonus process to ensure that it is both quantifiable and
independently verified, and that the measures themselves contribute
to the long-term strength of the business.

The Committee actively seeks dialogue with our shareholders and
takes independent advice to ensure that we deliver a remuneration
strategy that aligns the interests of shareholders with our executives,
and engages senior management to drive the long-term success of
the Group. The Committee is confident that the policies detailed

in this report will support achieving these objectives.

The Remuneration Committee

Role

The Committee is responsible for determining policy on the

remuneration and performance of executive Directors, the Company

Secretary and General Counsel, and members of the Executive

Committee as set out on pages 41 and 42. It determines, within

agreed terms of reference, specific remuneration packages for each

of the above, including:

>> service contracts;

>> salaries;

>> benefits;

>> pension rights;

>> any compensation payments; and

>> the operation of the mmO, Executive Share Portfolio (the
Portfolio), which will include the Deferred Equity Incentive
Plan described below, if approved by shareholders.
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Membership and meetings

The Committee consists entirely of independent non-executive
Directors. No member of the Committee has any personal financial
interest, other than as a shareholder, in the matters to be decided
by the Committee.

During the year, the Committee was chaired by Andrew Sukawaty,
and its other members were Stephen Hodge, Neelie Kroes, lan
Meakins and Paul Myners. David Varney, Chairman, and Peter
Erskine, Chief Executive Officer, are invited to attend meetings of
the Committee, except when their own remuneration is discussed.

The Committee met eight times between 1 April 2003 and
31 March 2004.

Advisers

The Committee takes advice from both inside and outside the
Group on a range of remuneration matters, to ensure that it is able
to exercise informed judgment in determining a remuneration policy
that supports the business, is market competitive and represents
good practice.

The following people and organisations provided advice or

services that materially assisted the Committee in its consideration

of Directors’ remuneration matters during the year ended

31 March 2004:

>> the Committee consulted Peter Erskine on matters relating to
the remuneration of the other executive Directors who report to
him. David Varney and Andrew Harley, Group HR Director, were
consulted in relation to the remuneration of all executive
Directors.

>> the Committee appointed independent executive remuneration
consultants, New Bridge Street Consultants and Deloitte &
Touche, to provide advice on executive remuneration. Deloitte &
Touche also provided the Group with audit services in relation to
the mmO, pension plan, and specialist corporation tax, VAT and
expatriate services during the financial year.

Remuneration philosophy

The Committee believes that executive remuneration at mmO,
should provide appropriate incentives to encourage superior
performance, and should, in a fair and responsible manner, reward
executives for their contribution to the success of the Group.

The Committee believes that executive remuneration policy should
be flexible to support the changing objectives of the business, and
recognises the particularly important role that performance-related
incentives play in driving and rewarding superior performance from
our executives.

Remuneration policy

The overriding objective of the remuneration policy is to motivate
and retain the high calibre of executives required to build the success
of the Group. In addition, the Committee considers it vital to align
the interests of the leadership team with those of shareholders, by
linking a significant proportion of the package to the creation of
shareholder value.
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The remuneration policy for executives is based on the

following principles:

>> the Committee sets base salaries based on each executive’s
contribution and criticality to the business. Decisions are made
with reference to the median of the relevant market, executive
wage levels in other companies and to general wage levels
elsewhere in the Group;

>> emphasis is placed on providing a total cash and total
compensation package that has potential to be upper quartile
for high performance; and,

>> performance-related remuneration aligns the interests of
executive Directors with those of the shareholders through
the imposition of stretching business performance targets
and share-based long-term incentives.

The policy has been designed to provide an appropriate balance
between fixed remuneration and performance-related elements of
reward. Presently, on the basis of achievement of “on-target” bonus
and long-term incentives, the balance between fixed (base salary
and benefits) and variable (annual bonus and long-term incentives)
pay is approximately 46:54.

Fixed vs variable pay

Benefits Annual bonus

Fixed Variable
Salary Long-term
incentives

The Committee reviews the total remuneration of the executive
Directors annually, to ensure that the balance between fixed and
variable remuneration remains appropriate.

This report sets out the Company’s policy on executive Directors’
remuneration for the year ending 31 March 2005 and, as far as
possible, for subsequent years. The Committee believes it is
important to operate a dynamic policy which evolves and adjusts

in light of changing circumstances. Accordingly, while the
Committee is able to state its remuneration policy for the year
ending 31 March 2005, it is likely to change over time. Any changes
in policy for subsequent years will be described in future reports on
directors’ remuneration.

Elements of remuneration

Base salary

Base salaries are reviewed (but not necessarily increased) annually
by the Committee. Salary increases are made when the Committee
believes that this would result in a better reflection of past and
future contribution, level of responsibility, competitiveness and
criticality to the business.

As at 31 March 2004, David Varney, Chairman, received an annual
fee of £350,000.

As at 31 March 2004, the annual salaries payable to Peter Erskine,
Chief Executive Officer, David Finch, Chief Financial Officer, Rudolf
Groger, Chief Executive Officer O, Germany, and David McGlade,
Chief Executive Officer O, UK, were £620,000, £400,000, €600,000
and £385,000 respectively. With effect from 1 June 2004 their
annual salaries will be £675,000, £430,000, €650,000 and
£420,000 respectively.

Annual incentives
All executives, with the exception of David Varney, participate in the
annual incentive plan.

For the year ended 31 March 2004, the bonus payable to Peter
Erskine and David Finch was 65 per cent of salary for on-target
performance, and 100 per cent of salary for maximum performance.
The other executive Directors each have an on-target and maximum
bonus potential of 80 per cent and 120 per cent of salary. Bonuses
are not pensionable.

Details of the actual annual bonus payable in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2004 can be found on page 57.

The annual incentive arrangements for the past year and for
the year ending 31 March 2005 are based on a balance of key
performance indicators, including EBITDA, EBIT, cash flow, net
service revenue, data ARPU and customer satisfaction targets.
The Committee considers these measures to be the key drivers
of shareholder value. The percentage of salary payable to all
executive Directors at on-target and maximum will remain
unchanged for 2004/05.

Long-term incentives

The Committee believes that long-term incentives should form a key
part of the executive remuneration package, and that executives
should look to the performance-related elements of the package to
achieve superior reward. The Committee believes it is important to
adapt the incentive arrangements offered in future years to support
the Group’s strategic objectives. This is achieved through a flexible
portfolio of long-term incentives, which the Committee actively
reviews to ensure that incentives remain appropriate to the needs

of the business.

The Portfolio is the primary vehicle for aligning the interests of key
employees and executive Directors with those of shareholders. It
comprises three elements:

>> performance shares;

>> share options; and

>> restricted shares.

All employees of the mmO, Group, including executive Directors,

are eligible to be invited to participate in long-term incentives, at

the discretion of the Committee. The Committee determines the

appropriate performance targets, and reviews the extent to which
they have been met. Awards and options are not pensionable.



The Portfolio provides a range of plans that can be tailored to meet
the needs of the Group. Other than in exceptional circumstances,
executives will only be made an award under one plan in any year.
In the year ended 31 March 2004, only the performance share
element of the Portfolio was operated.

Performance under the long-term incentives is, and will continue to
be, measured by Total Shareholder Return (TSR), as the Committee
believes that is the most appropriate means of aligning the interests
of executives with those of shareholders. TSR compares the net
return of an mmO, plc shareholder (share price growth and assumed
reinvestment of any dividends) with that of a shareholder in each of
a group of comparator companies.

Proposed arrangements
As a result of this year's review of the long-term incentives, the

Committee has recommended the implementation of a new

mmO, Executive Share Portfolio - Summary of Plans
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executive share plan, the Deferred Equity Incentive Plan (the DEIP).
It is envisaged that the DEIP will form part of the Portfolio, and,
subject to shareholder approval being obtained at the AGM in
July 2004, will be the primary form of long-term incentive for

the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and General
Counsel, and Executive Committee members for the year ending
31 March 2005.

A summary of the DEIP is set out below. Further details of the DEIP
can be found in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

If shareholder approval is not obtained, the Committee will operate
the Performance Share Plan for this group on a similar basis to last
year. Further details of the Performance Share Plan are set out below.

Deferred Executive Incentive Plan (DEIP)
Under the DEIP, participants will receive a Deferred Award and a
Performance Uplift.

Deferred Award

>> In 2004/05 the Deferred Award will be shares equal in value
to one half of the annual bonus paid in respect of 2003/04
performance, and will generally vest after three years, subject
to continued employment.

Performance Uplift

>> The maximum Performance Uplift is two times the Deferred
Award, and vesting of these shares is subject to the long-term
performance of the Company.

Performance measures

>> Vesting of the Performance Uplift is subject to the Company’s
relative TSR performance against a comparator group over a
fixed three-year period as set out below:

mmO, TSR ranking % Performance Uplift vests

Below median 0%
Median 30%
Upper quintile (top 20%) 100%

(Vesting on a straight line basis between median and
maximum performance)

>> The comparator group for the year to 31 March 2005 will be
the constituents of the FTSE E300 Telecoms Service Index at
the time the Performance Uplift is awarded.

>> The Performance Uplift will only vest to the extent that the
Committee is satisfied that the Company’s TSR performance
is a genuine reflection of the Company’s underlying financial
performance over the period. There are no retesting
opportunities.

Performance Share Plan

The Committee operated the Performance Share Plan as the
primary form of long-term incentive for senior management in
the year ended 31 March 2004.

Subject to the DEIP obtaining shareholder approval, awards of
Performance Shares will not be made to DEIP participants in the
year ending March 2005.

Performance Shares will continue to be used as the primary
long-term incentive for senior management below the DEIP
participation level.

Award

>> During 2003/04, each of the executive Directors was made
an award of Performance Shares equal to 120 per cent of
salary. Details of these awards can be found on page 60.

Performance measures

>> Vesting is subject to the Company’s relative TSR performance
against a comparator group over a fixed three-year period as
set out below:

mmO, TSR ranking % Performance Shares vest

Below median 0%
Median 30%
Upper quartile (top 25%) 100%

(Vesting on a straight line basis between median and
maximum performance)

>> The comparator group consists of the constituents of the
FTSE E300 Telecoms Service Index at the time the award
is made.

>> Awards will only vest to the extent that the Committee is
satisfied that the Company’s TSR performance is a genuine
reflection of the Company’s underlying financial performance
over the period. There are no retesting opportunities.
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Share Option Plan

>> No options were granted and no options were exercised by
executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2004.

>> Following the review of long-term incentives by the
Committee, it is not proposed to make any option grants to
executive Directors in the year ending 31 March 2005, save
for in exceptional circumstances; for example, if required to
secure an appointment.

Restricted Share Plan

>> Apart from the proposed grant of a restricted share award
to the new Chairman (see page 55), there is currently no
intention to make any awards to executive Directors under
this plan in the 2004/05 financial year. However, the
Committee reserves the ability to grant awards in exceptional
circumstances; for example, if required to secure an
appointment.

>> No restricted shares were awarded in the year ended
31 March 2004.

All-employee share schemes

The Committee believes that it is in the interests of all employees
across the business to be given the opportunity to own mmO,
shares, and wishes to encourage this by taking advantage of
favourable tax treatment where available for employee
shareholdings.

Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Group’s
all-employee share schemes on the same terms as other eligible
employees. There are no performance conditions attached to
these schemes and both operate within specific tax legislation:
>> the mmO, Sharesave Plan, under which the Directors can grant
options to all employees across the business to acquire shares
at an exercise price set at a discount of up to 20 per cent to
the market value of a share at the time of invitation.
>> the mmO, Share Ownership Plan, under which the
Directors can award shares to UK employees on a variety of
tax-favoured terms.

Details of Directors’ sharesave interests can be found on page 60.
Details of their holdings under the mmO, Share Ownership Plan are
included in their beneficial interests shown on page 58.

Former long-term incentives
Outstanding awards under former long-term incentive arrangements
are described on pages 61 and 62.

Pension benefits

There are pension arrangements in place in the main jurisdictions in
which the mmO, Group operates. Schemes vary in accordance with
local market practices in each jurisdiction, and as such there are
several arrangements in place for executive Directors, the Company
Secretary and General Counsel, and Executive Committee members.
David Varney does not participate in any mmO, plc pension
arrangements.

Peter Erskine and David Finch are entitled to final salary-related
pension benefits up to the statutory earnings cap. In addition, they
are entitled to supplementary pension benefits in respect of earnings
above the statutory earnings cap (comprising unfunded final salary
related benefits in the case of Peter Erskine and funded defined
contribution benefits in the case of David Finch). Peter Erskine’s
pension arrangements provide for a total pension of two-thirds of
final salary at age 60, inclusive of any retained benefits from his

previous employment, and a widow’s pension of two-thirds of his
pension. The majority of his pension is provided outside the mmO,
Pension Plan as an unfunded benefit promise from the Company.

David Finch’s pension arrangements provide for an annual accrual of
1/30 of the earnings cap subject to any restriction due to retained
benefits. In addition, he is entitled to a supplementary defined
contribution benefit, the level of which is determined on an annual
basis. For the year ended 31 March 2004 this was equal to 32.5 per
cent of base salary; 21 per cent paid to a Funded Unapproved
Retirement Benefit Scheme (FURBS), and 11.5 per cent paid as a
cash supplement.

Rudolf Groger’s pension arrangements provide for a pension at age
60 of 20 per cent of salary after the first three years of service and
an annual pension accrual of 1.5 per cent of salary thereafter.

The benefit is provided by the Company as an unfunded pension
promise. David McGlade receives a cash allowance of 20 per cent
of basic salary in lieu of pension benefits. This cash allowance will
increase to 30 per cent of basic salary with effect from 1 June 2004.

The pension arrangements provide for life cover of four times salary.
This is arranged separately for David Varney.

Details of pension arrangements within mmO, are set out in note 29
to the financial statements.

Other benefits

The main benefit provisions in the contracts of executive Directors
are a company car or cash equivalent; healthcare for the executive
and family; dental care for the executive and spouse, and personal
tax and financial planning costs reimbursed to a specified maximum.
David Varney, Peter Erskine and Rudolf Gréger have the use of

a driver.

Contracts and notice periods

It is the Committee’s general policy that executive Directors will
have contracts and service agreements with similar provisions.
Where this may not be possible initially, every effort will be made
to bring the agreements in line with the Committee’s policy as
soon as practicable.

David Varney serves as Chairman under a letter of appointment
dated 31 March 2003.



The service contracts and notice periods for the executive Directors
are set out below:

Effective date of

Director service agreement Notice period
P Erskine 24 October 2001 12 months
D Finch 19 November 2001 12 months
D McGlade 1 April 2003 12 months
R Groger 1 April 2003 Fixed term ending

31 October 2005*

*In recognition of local market practice in Germany, Rudolf Gréger's contract is initially for
a fixed term ending on 31 October 2005, but will convert to a one-year rolling contract
in line with the other executive Directors after the end of this initial period.

The Company may in its discretion terminate without notice and
make a payment in lieu of notice equal to the sum of 12 months’
pay including the value of employers’ pension contributions,
benefits, and a bonus payment of not less than the previous year’s
bonus. This payment in lieu of notice provision does not prevent
the Company from terminating in breach of contract, which may
enable the Company to pay a reduced amount by requiring
greater mitigation.

On termination of employment within 12 months of a change of
control, mmO, is obliged to make a liquidated damages payment
equal to the base salary, the value of employer pension contributions
and benefits for the notice period, plus additional payments
generally equal to the annual bonus potential for that year, and

in respect of the loss of rights under share incentive schemes.

In the event of termination of Rudolf Groger's employment within
12 months of a change of control of mmO, or its German business,
the employer is obliged to make a cash payment equal to two times
his base salary and bonus. The amount of bonus payable will be that
expected for on-target performance.

Changes to the Board

Chairmanship

As previously reported, David Varney retires as Chairman at the
conclusion of this year's AGM on 28 July 2004. No compensation for
loss of office will be paid to Mr Varney on his retirement. He was not
awarded any further share options or share awards following the
announcement in April 2003 of his intention to step down, however,
the share options granted to him in 2001 and 2002 will continue for
one year after he leaves, but will only be exercisable subject to the
TSR performance of mmO, where applicable.

David Arculus, who currently serves as a non-executive Director of
the Company, has agreed to serve as Chairman with effect from the
conclusion of the AGM under an agreement dated 4 May 2004. His
time commitment is anticipated to be an average of two days per
week. David Arculus will be entitled to an annual fee of £325,000 as
Chairman, of which £25,000 will, at his request, be paid into his
personal pension arrangements. The notice period required by the
Company to terminate this agreement is 12 months. David Arculus
has agreed to invest 15 per cent of his after-tax fee in the
Company’s shares, to be retained until his retirement as Chairman.
On a change of control, in the event that his agreement is
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terminated, he will be entitled to 12 months’ pay in lieu of notice.
This can be subject to mitigation in the event that he finds a
comparable alternative role.

In addition to the above, the Company is proposing to make a

one-time award of restricted shares with a market value on grant

of £300,000 shortly after David Arculus takes over the duties of

Chairman. The vesting of the award is subject to two conditions:

>> Within 12 months of grant, he must build up a personal
investment in mmO, shares equivalent in number to those
granted to him; and

>> a corporate performance condition of the Company’s relative
TSR performance against the comparator group (FTSE E300
Telecoms) over a fixed three-year period from the date of
award. Thirty per cent of the award will vest if the Company
is ranked at the median, 100 per cent will vest if the Company
is ranked in the upper quartile. Vesting between these points
will occur on a straight-line basis.

On a change of control, the award will normally roll over into an
equivalent award of shares in the acquiring company and will
continue to be subject to the TSR performance condition and the
personal investment requirement. However, if it is impracticable for
the award to be rolled over, or if the Chairman’s appointment is
terminated in connection with the change of control, the award will
normally vest based on the TSR performance achieved by that date
but will be reduced by reference to the time elapsed since the grant
date, and further reduced to the extent that the personal investment
requirement has not been met.

Other changes
Rudolf Groger, David McGlade and Kent Thexton were appointed to
the Board on 1 April 2003.

Having overseen the restructuring of O, Online, Products O, and
Group central functions initiated in October 2003, Kent Thexton
resigned from the Board on 4 February 2004 and left employment
on 31 March 2004. He entered into a consultancy arrangement with
the Company for 16 months from 1 April 2004. Further details of
Mr Thexton's arrangements following cessation of employment are
provided in a footnote to the Directors’ remuneration table on

page 57.

Policy on outside appointments

It is the Group’s policy to support executive Directors and senior
managers taking external directorships or similar roles where it is
beneficial for both the individual concerned and the Group and does
not detract from their responsibilities to the Group. The number of
such appointments must not exceed two, only one of which may be
with a FTSE 100 company. Appointments relating to executive
Directors and Executive Committee members require the prior
approval of the Board. Appointments relating to other senior
executives require the prior approval of the Chairman. The Company
permits the executive Director or senior executive concerned to
retain any fees earned from such a position provided they are at a
reasonable level. Peter Erskine is a member of the University of
Reading Business School Advisory Board, Kent Thexton is a director
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of Canadian-based Casero and Audience View and David McGlade is
a non-executive Director of a US-based company called PureMatrix.
None of the executive Directors receive fees in respect of these
external directorships.

Performance graph

The performance graph below illustrates the Company’s TSR
performance over the period from 19 November 2001 (when the
Company was first listed following its demerger from BT) to 31
March 2004, compared to the FTSE 100 Index and the FTSE E300
Telecoms Service Index over the same period. The FTSE 100 Index
was selected by the Committee because it is recognised as an
externally valid and robust comparator group of UK-based
companies of similar size to mmO, in terms of market capitalisation.
The FTSE E300 Telecoms Service Index was chosen because it more
closely compares the Company with its sector.

The graph shows the growth in value from 19 November 2001 to
31 March 2004 of £100 invested in mmO, compared with the value
of £100 invested in the FTSE 100 or FTSE E300 Telecoms Indices.

Total shareholder return against the FTSE 100 Index and
FTSE E300 Telecoms Service Index

Source: Thomson Financial
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Remuneration of non-executive Directors

In appointing non-executive Directors, the Group has regard to the
practice of other companies and the increasing demands on non-
executive Directors beyond attendance at relevant committee and
Board meetings.

The fees of non-executive Directors are determined by the Chairman
and executive Directors who have access to independent advice. In
the year to 31 March 2004:

(@) the annual fee payable to the non-executive Directors (other
than Andrew Sukawaty) was £40,000 plus an additional fee of
£5,000 per annum for chairmanship of a Committee and an
additional fee of £5,000 for membership of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees and £3,000 for membership of the
Nomination and Governance Committee; and

(b) the Deputy Chairman of the Company (Andrew Sukawaty)
received a fee of £100,000 per annum.

Following a review of the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors, it was agreed that with effect from 1 April 2004
the annual fees payable to the non-executive Directors would
remain unchanged.

Each non-executive Director has agreed that a portion of their after-
tax fee, equivalent to a minimum of 50 per cent and up to a
maximum of 100 per cent, would be invested in shares (the Share
Portion). This arrangement was approved by the Board in 2002. Fees
are paid quarterly in arrears and the shares are allotted on the same
basis. The number of shares to be allotted in respect of each quarter
is calculated by dividing the Share Portion for the quarter by the
average middle market quotation on the three dealing days
preceding the date of the quarterly allotment. The Group suspended
this arrangement in relation to fees for the period 1 October 2003 to
31 March 2004.

Following the Higgs Report, the non-executive Directors have
entered into revised letters of appointment with mmO, covering,
amongst other items, their terms of appointment and expected time
commitment, together with a general statement of their role and
duties. Non-executive Directors are appointed initially for three years
unless otherwise terminated earlier by and at the discretion of either
party upon one month’s written notice. Non-executive Directors

are typically expected to serve two three-year terms subject to
satisfactory performance and re-election by shareholders. The initial
terms of three years began at demerger or 20 December 2001 in the
case of lan Meakins, 21 January 2003 in the case of David Chance
and 1 April 2003 in the case of David Arculus. The non-executive
Directors do not participate in any of mmO,’s pension or incentive
arrangements.

Compliance

The Group has complied with the 1998 Combined Code’s provisions
relating to directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2004, except for the service contract in respect of Rudolf Groger.
His contract is for a fixed term ending on 31 October 2005 in
recognition of local market practice, but will convert to a one-year
rolling contract after the end of this initial period. In the event of
termination of Rudolf Gréger's employment within 12 months of a
change of control of MmO, or its German business, the employer is
obliged to make a cash payment equal to two times his base salary
and on-target bonus.

The revised Combined Code which was published in July 2003 will
apply to the Company from 1 April 2004.

This report complies with the Directors’ Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002 (the Regulations). The Regulations require the
Group's auditors to report to shareholders on the auditable part
of the report and to state whether, in their opinion, that part of
the report has been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the Regulations).

The auditable sections of the report include those relating to
Directors’ remuneration and benefits, share incentive schemes
and pension benefits.



Directors’ remuneration (excluding pension arrangements) was as follows:

Benefits

Gains from long-term
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Salary and fees' Annual bonus excluding pensionsz incentive plans Total Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

D Varney 350,000 500,0003 - - 36,125 17,308 - - 386,125 517,308
P Erskine* 607,500 537,500 564,200 387,000 40,602 36,651 - 48,303 1,212,302 1,009,454
D Finch 395,833 370,833 364,000 206,250 24,705 48,158  146,717> 109,333 931,255 734,574
R Groger® 399,211 - 499,896 - 20,543 - - - 919,650 -
D McGlade’ 372,500 - 462,000 - 100,0478 - - - 934,547 -
K Thexton® 279,508 - 374,691 - 27,288 - - - 681,487 -
A Sukawaty! 100,000 100,000 - - - - - - 100,000 100,000

Yy

D Arculus®™ 48,000 - - - - - - - 48,000 -
D Chance' " 48,000 7,064 - - - - - - 48,000 7,064
S Hodge™ 55,000 36,000 - - - - - - 55,000 36,000
N Kroes'? 50,000 36,000 - - - - - - 50,000 36,000
| Meakins' 50,000 36,000 - - - - - - 50,000 36,000
P Myners™3 48,000 36,000 - - - - - - 48,000 36,000

1Salaries and fees are reviewed each year.

Benefits include car provision or cash allowance, healthcare, financial planning, dental care, home security and life cover.

3With effect from 1 April 2003, David Varney served as part-time Chairman and the annual fee payable was £350,000.

4Highest paid Director.
5Gain on vesting of Restricted Share Award (details can be found on page 60).

SRudolf Groger's remuneration has been converted from Euro to Sterling at an exchange rate of €1 = £0.6943. Appointed 1 April 2003.

7 Appointed 1 April 2003.

8In addition to the benefits listed in Note 1, David McGlade received a benefit relating to the cessation of his expatriate accommodation allowance.
9Appoin‘(ed 1 April 2003. Resigned from the Board on 4 February 2004 and left employment on 31 March 2004. In relation to the period from 4 February 2004 to 31 March 2004, Kent
Thexton received salary and benefits of £50,492 and £4,929 respectively under his existing contract. With effect from 1 April 2004, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement

with Kent Thexton for 16 months, to have available his expert input regarding mobile data services. Over the 16 months, Kent Thexton will receive fees of £166,668. His time

commitment is expected to be on average one to two days per calendar month. No termination payment has been or will be made to Kent Thexton, but during the consultancy period
the Company will meet the cost of his personal tax and financial planning fees up to a value of £5,000. Details regarding the treatment of his share options and share awards are

included on pages 59 and 60.

10 addition to the benefits listed in Note 1, Kent Thexton received a benefit relating to the cessation of his expatriate accommodation allowance.

MElected to receive 50 per cent of Directors’ fees after tax in shares.
2¢jected to receive 75 per cent of Directors’ fees after tax in shares.
Elected to receive 100 per cent of Directors' fees after tax in shares.
4Appointed 1 April 2003.
5Appoin‘[ed 21 January 2003.

Pension provisions

The table below includes the information required in relation to defined benefit schemes under the UKLA Listing Rules and Schedule 7A of

the Companies Act 1985.

Transfer value Increase in

Total Transfer value of Increase in of real increase  transfer

accrued pension accrued benefit™ Real increase in accrued pension in accrued benefit value less
At At At At accrued pension during year (less Directors’ Directors’ Directors’
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March during year  (including inflation) contributions)®® contri- contri-
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 butions butions
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Peter Erskine

mmO, Pension Plan 37 33 407 324 3 3 4 4 20 16 68 15
Unfunded Plan 203 160 3,124 2,155 39 41 43 43 598 543 969 0
Total 240 193 3,531 2,479 42 44 47 47 618 559 1,037 15
David Finch 9 5 72 40 3 3 4 3 27 24 32 0
Rudolf Groger®® 69 34 1,540 682 35 n/a 35 n/a 744 n/a 858 0

"The accrued annual pension represents the maximum defined benefit liability for mmO,. The amounts will be reduced by any retained benefits from previous employment.
The transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice. The transfer values of the Inland Revenue approved benefits have been calculated in accordance with Actuarial
Guidance Note GN11 using the assumptions adopted by the mmO, Pension Plan Actuary. The unapproved element of pension benefits has been valued using assumptions appropriate

to the FRS 17 accounting standard, which is consistent with GN11 principles.

These figures represent liabilities of the Company and the mmO, Pension Plan, not sums paid or due to the individual.

Rudolf Groger became an executive Director on 1 April 2003. Therefore, no figures are shown for the year prior to this date. Although his benefit does not vest until after three years of
service, the figures have been calculated on the assumption that he will complete three years of service.

SRudolf Groger's pension has been converted from Euro to Sterling at an exchange rate of €1

= £0.6943.

Under arrangements to provide David Finch with supplementary benefits in respect of earnings above the statutory earnings cap for the
year ended 31 March 2004, £83,125 (£77,875 for the year ended 31 March 2003) was paid to a defined contribution Funded Unapproved
Retirement Benefit Scheme (FURBS) and £45,521 (£42,646 for the year ended 31 March 2003) was paid as a cash supplement.

David McGlade and Kent Thexton received a cash allowance of £74,500 and £66,000 respectively equating to 20 per cent of salary in lieu of

pension benefits.
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Share price
The closing market price of mmO, shares at 31 March 2004 was 100.5p and the range from 1 April 2003 to that date was 45.75p to 112p.

Beneficial interests in ordinary shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors and their immediate families in mmO, ordinary shares of 0.1p each as at 31 March 2004 are set out
in the table below.

As at 31 March 2004 As at 1 April 2003
David Varney 279,554"23 277,237
Peter Erskine 537,027'3 534,710
David Finch 812,816"3 608,964
David McGlade 335,496 335,496
Rudolf Groger - -
Andrew Sukawaty 83,576 45,738
David Arculus 24,078 -
David Chance 15,029 -
Stephen Hodge 91,914 74,159
Neelie Kroes 59,890 27,529
lan Meakins 33,599 16,465
Paul Myners 261,401 228,320

1Since 31 March 2004 David Varney, Peter Erskine and David Finch have each acquired 253 additional ordinary shares under the terms of the mmO, Share Ownership Plan. There have
been no other changes in the Directors’ beneficial and non-beneficial interests in share capital, including options to subscribe for shares, or in the debentures of the Company
and its subsidiaries between 31 March 2004 and 10 May 2004.

2Includes 1,000 shares in the form of 100 mmO, American Depositary Shares (ADSs) (1 ADS = 10 ordinary shares).

3Includes shares held by the trustee of the mmO, Share Ownership Plan.
Includes 4,130 shares in the form of 413 mmO, American Depositary Shares (ADSs) (1 ADS = 10 ordinary shares).
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The table below shows the options which remained outstanding under the share option element of the Portfolio held by Directors during the
year ended 31 March 2004. Vesting is subject to the satisfaction of corporate performance criteria as detailed on page 60. The table also
shows options over BT shares held by David Varney, David McGlade and Kent Thexton prior to demerger. These were regranted over mmO,

shares as indicated.

Options
granted during

Number at  the year ended Number at Exercise Date

Plan Grant date 1 April 2003 31 March 2004  Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2004 price exercisable

D Varney  mmO; Legacy share 22 June 2001 491,272 - - - 491,272 101.7p 2004-2011
option plan’

Executive share 23 November 1,724,137 - - - 1,724,137 87p 23 November 2004-

option plan 2001 22 November 2011

25 July 2002 3,260,869 - - - 3,260,869 46p 25 July 2005-

24 July 2012

P Erskine Executive share 23 November 1,724,137 - - - 1,724,137 87p 23 November 2004-

option plan 2001 22 November 2011

25 July 2002 3,554,347 - - — 3,554,347 46p 25 July 2005-

24 July 2012

D Finch Executive share 23 November 1,206,896 - - - 1,206,896 87p 23 November 2004-

option plan 2001 22 November 2011

25 July 2002 2,445,652 - - — 2,445,652 46p 25 July 2005-

24 July 2012

R Groger Executive share 23 November 625,168 - - - 625,168 87p 23 November 2004-

option plan 2001 22 November 2011

25 July 2002 1,763,373 - - - 1,763,373 46p 25 July 2005-

24 July 2012

D McGlade mmO, Legacy share 1 October 113,440 - - - 113,440 $23.243 1 October 2001-

option plan’ 2000 30 September 2010

Executive share 23 November 122,059 - - - 122,059 $11.873 23 November 2004-

option plan 20012 22 November 2011

25 July 2002 2,184,782 - - - 2,184,782 46p 25 July 2005-

24 July 2012

K Thexton mmO,; Legacy share 8 September 208,369 - — (208,369) - 168p 8 September 2001-

option plan’ 1998 7 September 2008

16 February 1999 36,075 - - (36,075) - 229 16 February 2002-

15 February 2009

9 August 1999 244,678 - — (244,678) - 207p 9 August 2002-

8 August 2009

Executive share 23 November 1,034,482% - - - 1,034,482 87p 23 November 2002-

option plan3 2001 28 July 2006

25 July 2002 1,956,521 - - - 1,956,521 46p 25 July 2005-

18 October 2006

The options were regranted over mmO, shares on 20 December 2001. David McGlade’s legacy options were awarded in the form of ADSs (one ADS = 10 mmO, shares) at $23.243 per
ADS, and vest in three equal annual tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of grant. Kent Thexton’s legacy share options lapsed in full on 31 March 2004.
2The options granted to David McGlade on 23 November 2001 were in the form of ADSs (one ADS = 10 mmO, shares) at $11.873 per ADS.
On resigning as a Director of mmO, on 4 February 2004, the Remuneration Committee permitted Kent Thexton to retain his options for the maximum periods referred to in the final
column above. The exercisability of these options is dependent on the applicable performance targets being met, and on Mr Thexton's compliance with certain obligations under his
consultancy agreement including restrictive covenants.
he options granted to Kent Thexton on 23 November 2001 vest in two equal annual tranches on the first and second anniversaries of grant and can be retested on two subsequent

occasions. Vesting of each tranche is dependent on mmO,’s TSR performance against the comparator group. No part of the first and second tranches of options have vested to date as
the performance target has not been met. Performance will be retested for the final time in respect of the first tranche at 18 November 2004. Performance will be retested in respect of
the second tranche at 18 November 2004 and 2005, if necessary.

5The vesting of the options granted to Kent Thexton on 25 July 2002 is dependent on mmO,’s TSR performance against the comparator group at 18 July 2005. Performance may be
retested at 18 July 2006, if necessary.
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No share options were granted during the year, and no options were exercised by executive Directors during the year. Unrealised gains

on executive share options were nil as at 31 March 2004. Options granted previously were granted on terms that they normally become
exercisable on the third anniversary of grant subject to the TSR of the Company compared with the TSR performance of the companies

in the FTSE 100. For options granted in the year ended 31 March 2003, the first performance test is expected to be in July 2005. If the
performance goal is not satisfied in full after this period, it can be retested on two subsequent occasions, on the fourth and fifth
anniversaries of grant, extending the length of the performance period at each test. The proportion of options that can be exercised will
increase if the Company’s TSR performance improves between the test dates. TSR performance from 18 July 2002 (the start of the
performance period) to 31 March 2004 places mmO, at first position within the comparator group. For options granted in the year ended
31 March 2002, the first performance test is expected to be in November 2004. TSR performance from 19 November 2001 (the start of the
performance period) to 31 March 2004 places mmO, at 31st position within the comparator group. As noted above, these options will only
become exercisable in full if the Company’s TSR performance meets the relevant target at one of the test dates described above. Should
options be granted in the future, we will have regard to best practice at the time on retesting and performance conditions.

Performance shares
The table below shows the number of performance shares awarded to executive Directors under the operation of the Portfolio during the
year ended 31 March 2004.

Granted
during the
Number  year ended Number
at 1 April 31 March at 31 March
Grant date 2003 2004 Vested Lapsed 2004 \Vesting date
Peter Erskine 31/07/03 - 1,403,773 - - 1,403,773 31/07/06
David Finch 31/07/03 - 905,660 - - 905,660 31/07/06
Rudolf Groger 31/07/03 — 859,245 - - 859,245 31/07/06
David McGlade 31/07/03 - 815,094 - - 815,094 31/07/06
Kent Thexton 31/07/03 - 747,169 - (747,169) - 31/07/06

Kent Thexton resigned from the Board on 4 February 2004 and left employment on 31 March 2004. No performance shares were granted between these dates and his award over
performance shares lapsed in full on 31 March 2004.

Sharesave options
The table below shows the sharesave options over mmO, ordinary shares held by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2004.

Number at Number at
1 April 31 March Exercise
Grant date 2003 Exercised Lapsed 2004 price Date exercisable
David Varney 21 December 2001 12,978 - - 12,978 73.2p 14 February 2005-13 August 2005
Peter Erskine 21 December 2001 12,978 - - 12,978 73.2p 14 February 2005-13 August 2005
David Finch 21 December 2001 12,978 - - 12,978 73.2p 14 February 2005-13 August 2005
David McGlade 20 December 2002 21,477 - - 21,477 44p 13 February 2006-12 August 2006
Kent Thexton 21 December 2001 12,978 - (12,978)" - 73.2p 14 February 2005-13 August 2005

Kent Thexton’s sharesave option lapsed in full on 31 March 2004.

Restricted shares
The table below shows the number of restricted shares awarded to executive Directors under the operation of the Portfolio.

Number Number

at 1 April at 31 March
Grant date 2003" Vested Lapsed 2004 \Vesting date
Peter Erskine? 23/11/01 575,815 - - 575,815 23/11/04
David Finch3 23/11/01 403,071 (201,535) - 201,536 23/11/04
Rudolf Groger 23/11/01 156,592 - - 156,592 23/11/04
David McGlade 23/11/01 385,790 - — 385,790 23/11/04

TRestricted share awards were granted to a small group of senior executives (including executive Directors) shortly after demerger. Most awards were granted on terms that they will
normally only vest on the third anniversary of grant if the participant builds up a significant personal shareholding in the Company within 18 months of grant and retains this until the
vesting date as well as remaining in employment with the mmO, Group until this time. The awards vest on a pro rata basis if the participant builds up a lower personal investment.
As at 31 March 2004 both Peter Erskine and David Finch had met their shareholding requirement, and are required to maintain that shareholding until the third anniversary of award
in order for their restricted share awards to vest in full.

2Vestmg is subject to the satisfaction of a personal shareholding requirement as set out in note 1. The personal shareholding requirement for Peter Erskine is equal to the number of
shares under award.

\/esting is subject to the satisfaction of a personal shareholding requirement. The personal shareholding requirement for David Finch is equal to one-third of the shares under award.
The market price of an mmO, share on the grant date was 87p. Under the terms of David Finch's Restricted Share Plan award, 201,535 shares vested on 23 November 2002 at 54.5p
and 201,535 shares vested on 23 November 2003 at 72.8p being the market value of a share at those dates. In relation to the awards which vested on 23 November 2002 and

23 November 2003, David Finch received £109,333 and £146,717 on these two dates respectively.
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Peter Erskine has the following mmO, shares under award from BT Legacy Share Awards, a description of which can be found below.
Following demerger, these awards were adjusted to relate solely to mmO, shares, and any performance measure has been translated into a

measure of mmO, performance from demerger to the end of the performance period.

Number of Number of

mmO, shares mmO, shares

1 April 31 March
Name Plan Year of award 2003 Vested Lapsed 2004 \Vesting date
Peter Erskine BT Executive Share Plan 1998" 154,057 - (154,057) - 2003
19992 144,198 - - 144,198 2004

Total 298,255 — (154,057) 144,198
Peter Erskine BT Incentive Share Plan 20003 312,750 - (312,750) - 2003
Peter Erskine BT Deferred Bonus Plan* 2001 127,656 - - 127,656 2004

he performance period for the 1998 BT Executive Share Plan ended on 31 March 2003. The performance condition was not met and as a result 154,057 shares lapsed in August 2003

following the year ended 31 March 2003.

2The performance period for the 1999 BT Executive Share Plan ended on 31 March 2004. The performance condition was not met and as a result 144,198 shares will lapse in

August 2004.

The performance period for the 2001 BT Incentive Share Plan ended on 31 March 2003. The performance condition was not met and as a result 312,750 shares lapsed in August 2003

following the year ended 31 March 2003.

he vesting of shares awarded under the BT Deferred Bonus Plan is subject only to the continued employment of the Director with the Company.

Non-beneficial interests

At 31 March 2004, Peter Erskine had a non-beneficial interest in 893,175 mmO, ordinary shares held in trust by Ilford Trustees Limited as

trustee of the BT Executive Share Plan and BT Deferred Bonus Plan.

At 31 March 2004, all executive Directors had a non-beneficial interest in 1,858,232 mmO, ordinary shares and 81,573 mmO, American
Depositary Shares held in trust by Hill Samuel Offshore Trust Company Limited as trustee of the mmO, Restricted Share Plan and mmO,

Performance Share Plan.

Executive Committee

The aggregate remuneration of the Company Secretary and General Counsel, and members of the Executive Committee other than

executive Directors for services in all capacities during the 2004 financial year was £2.4 million. In addition, loans outstanding to senior

officers of the Company as at 31 March 2004 were £141,071.

The Company Secretary and General Counsel, and members of the Executive Committee beneficially own less than 1 per cent of the

Company'’s outstanding ordinary shares.

Former long-term incentives
BT Legacy Share Awards

A number of key employees of mmO, were participants in BT share plans prior to demerger. The awards made under these plans have been
adjusted so that they relate solely to mmO, shares, and any performance measure has been translated into a measure of mmO, performance

from demerger to the end of the performance period. On vesting, these awards will be satisfied in existing mmO, shares held by an

employee trust which has already been funded by BT.
No further awards will be made under these plans to mmO, employees.

mmO, Legacy Option Plan

Subsisting options over BT shares granted under BT executive share option plans have been replaced with options over mmO, shares,
granted under the mmO, Legacy Option Plan, for those participants now employed by mmO,. The replacement options were granted on the
same terms, and are exercisable between the same dates, as the options for which they were exchanged.

There are no performance conditions relating to the vesting of these options other than continued employment with the mmO, Group.
This reflects the terms of the underlying BT option plan. The legacy options will be satisfied using new issue shares, and options granted

under this plan do not count towards the dilution limits established for mmO, share option plans.
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Cash-based incentives

Prior to demerger, a variety of cash-based incentive plans operated in the mmO, businesses in the UK, Germany and Ireland and also
within O, Online. MmO, has taken steps to terminate some plans early and does not intend to renew the others when they reach the end
of their performance periods.

Under a plan introduced by O, Germany in November 2000, eligible employees are entitled, no earlier than April 2004 and no later than
April 2007, to a payment based on the value of the goodwill of O, Germany at that time. Payment is only made if O, Germany achieves
positive EBITDA in the financial year prior to payment. As at 31 March 2004, the value of the goodwill of O, Germany was such that these
awards have no value.

Under a plan operated by O, Ireland, key employees and management are entitled to cash payments by reference to the performance
of O, Ireland up to the date of payment. The final payment in respect of this plan was made in the year ended 31 March 2004.
Al participation has ceased and no further awards will be made.

By Order of the Board

Andrew Sukawaty

Deputy Chairman and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
17 May 2004



Report of the auditors

Independent auditors’ report to the members of mmO, plc
We have audited the financial statements which comprise the profit
and loss account, the balance sheet, the cash flow statement, the
statement of total recognised gains and losses and the related notes
which have been prepared under the historical cost convention and
the accounting policies set out in the statement of accounting
policies. We have also audited the disclosures required by Part 3 of
Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 contained in the report on
directors’ remuneration (“the auditable part”).

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and accounting standards are set out in the statement of
directors’ responsibilities. The Directors are also responsible for
preparing the report on directors’ remuneration.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
auditable part of the report on directors’ remuneration in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and United Kingdom
Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. This
report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of
the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and
the auditable part of the report on directors’ remuneration have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report
is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all

the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration

and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. The other information comprises only: the directors’
report, the unaudited part of the report on directors’ remuneration,
the Chairman’s statement, the operating and financial review and
the corporate governance statement.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the
Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined
Code issued in June 1998 specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements and the auditable part of
the report on directors’ remuneration. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the auditable part of the
report on directors’ remuneration are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

>> the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at 31 March 2004
and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended;

>> the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

>> those parts of the report on directors’ remuneration required by
Part 3 of Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

17 May 2004

Notes

The maintenance and integrity of the mmO; plc website is the
responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the auditors
does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes, that may
have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially
presented, on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
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Group profit and loss account
Year ended 31 March 2004

2004 2003 2002
Note £fm £fm fm
Turnover: Group and share of joint ventures and associates 2 5,859 5,020 4,407
Group’s share of associates and joint ventures turnover (165) (146) (131)
Group turnover 2 5,694 4,874 4,276
Group turnover comprises:
Continuing operations 5,646 4,611 4,076
Discontinued operation 48 263 200
Net operating expenses (including exceptional items) 3 (5,536) (13,652) (5,132)
EBITDA' before exceptional items 1,367 859 433
Depreciation before exceptional items (926) (932) (747)
Goodwill amortisation before exceptional items (201) (374) (369)
Other amortisation (7) (31) (23)
Operating profit/(loss) before exceptional items 233 (478) (706)
Exceptional items 4 (75) (8,300) (150)
Group operating profit/(loss) 34 158 (8,778) (856)
Group operating profit/(loss) comprises:
Continuing operations 159 (8,658) (692)
Discontinued operation (1) (120) (164)
Group's share of operating result of joint ventures and associates - 5 8
Total operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,773) (848)
Provision for loss on sale of business 21 - (1,364) -
Loss on sale of business — discontinued operation 21 (5) - -
Loss on sale of business comprises:
Total loss on sale of business (1,369) - -
Less provision recognised in the year ended 31 March 2003 1,364 - -
Net interest payable and similar charges 5 (58) (66) (25)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 95 (10,203) (873)
Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 6 71 55 23
Retained profit/(loss) for the financial year 18 166  (10,148) (850)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 7 1.9 (117.0) 9.8)

TEBITDA is our earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items, excluding our share of operating profits and losses of our associates and joint ventures.
EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under UK or US GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, because EBITDA is not uniformly

defined. EBITDA should not be considered by investors as an alternative to Group operating profit/(loss) or profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation as an indication of

operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as an indication of cash flows. EBITDA is one of the key financial measures used by the Group for

evaluating financial performance, and is discussed in the operating and financial review and prospects, on page 23.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Group balance sheet
As at 31 March 2004
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2004 2003
Note fm £m
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 8 7,354 7,582
Tangible assets 9 3,996 3,875
Investments 10 5 3
11,355 11,460
Current assets
Stocks 84 73
Debtors " 943 924
Investments 12 993 848
Cash at bank and in hand 23 68
2,043 1,913
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 13 (1,681) (1,572)
Net current assets 362 341
Total assets less current liabilities 11,717 11,801
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 14 (1,375) (1,451)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 16 (251) (284)
Net assets 10,091 10,066
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 17 9 9
Share premium 18 3 -
Other reserves 18 11,074 12,087
Profit and loss account 18 (995) (2,030)
10,091 10,066

The Company balance sheet is shown in note 30.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 May 2004 and were signed on its behalf by:

P Erskine Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

D Finch Chief Financial Officer
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Group statement of total recognised gains and losses
Year ended 31 March 2004

2004 2003 2002
Note fm £m £m
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 166  (10,148) (850)
Currency translation differences arising on foreign currency net investment in subsidiaries 18 (144) 1,333 161
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year 22 (8,815) (689)
Group net debt
As at 31 March 2004
2004 2003
Note £fm £m
Cash at bank and in hand 23 68
Current asset investments 12 993 848
1,016 916
Euro medium-term notes (net of issue costs) 14 (1,012) (1,015)
Loan notes 13 (8) (19)
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 15 (325) (390)
Other loans and borrowings (37) 41)
Net debt (366) (549)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Reconciliation of group operating profit/(loss) to operating cash flows

Year ended 31 March 2004

2004 2003 2002
£m fm £m
Group operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,778) (856)
Depreciation and amortisation charges 1,136 9,637 1,139
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 5 8 9
(Increase)/decrease in stocks (17) (5) 89
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (88) 166 (38)
Increase in creditors 142 58 24
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 55 (53) 90
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,391 1,033 457
Group cash flow statement
Year ended 31 March 2004
2004 2003 2002
Note £m fm fm
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,391 1,033 457
Returns on investments and servicing of finance 19 (62) (63) 9)
Taxation 19 (13) (4) 4)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 19 (1,114) (868) (1,231)
Acquisitions and disposals 19 (6) - (864)
Cash inflow/(outflow) before management of liquid resources and financing 196 98 (1,651)
Management of liquid resources 19 (191) (3) (459)
Financing 19 (50) (47) 1,790
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year 20 (45) 48 (320)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Accounting conventions

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom (UK GAAP). These differ in certain significant respects from accounting
standards in the United States of America and a reconciliation to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
(US GAAP) is included in the Supplementary information for United States investors.

Al principal subsidiary undertakings’ financial years are coterminous with those of mmO, plc.

Basis of preparation

Merger accounting

On 19 November 2001, the ordinary shares of mmO, plc were listed on the London Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.
This was the culmination of a group reorganisation undertaken by British Telecommunications plc (BT) to demerge its wireless business.

The financial statements have been prepared as if the mmO, Group had been demerged from BT prior to 1 April 2001. This presents
information which more accurately reflects the ongoing operations of the Group. Accordingly the demerger and related transactions have
been accounted for using merger accounting principles as applicable to group reorganisations.

The financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies which differ in certain respects to those used in the preparation of the
financial information contained within the Listing Particulars of mmO, plc dated 18 September 2001 (the Listing Particulars). In the Listing
Particulars, a portion of BT's short- and long-term loans and other borrowings were allocated to the mmO, Group. The basis of preparation
adopted for these financial statements shows the results and financial position of the Group with no allocations of loans and other
borrowings from BT. Loans and other borrowings previously allocated to the Group for the purpose of the Listing Particulars of £16,140
million and the related interest payable, net of taxation, of £476 million, have not been allocated to the Group for the purpose of these
financial statements. This is consistent with the debt structure of the Group following the completion of its demerger from BT and reflects
the fact that these notional loans and other borrowings were not passed down to the Group on demerger. The actual interest charge for

the Group contained in the financial statements reflects the interest on the Group’s actual borrowings in the year.

The financial statements include the results of mmO, plc and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. Certain amounts relating to the prior year have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Estimates are used when accounting for certain items such as provision for bad and doubtful debtors,
depreciation and amortisation, valuation of inventory, pensions and other benefits, and asset impairment.

Turnover
Group turnover, which excludes value added tax and other sales taxes, comprises the value of services provided, equipment sales and
other revenue.

Mobile telecommunications service turnover includes turnover earned for usage of the Group’s wireless network for voice and data
transmission by O, customers, subscription fees and interconnect revenue. Post-pay customers are billed in arrears based on usage and
turnover is recognised when the service is rendered. Turnover for pre-pay customers is recorded as deferred revenue prior to commencement
of services and is recognised as the pre-pay services are rendered. Inbound roaming revenue, earned from other mobile operators whose
customers roam onto the O, network, and outbound roaming revenue, earned from certain customers roaming outside their domestic
coverage area, are recognised based upon usage and are included in mobile service turnover. Subscription fees are recognised evenly
throughout the periods to which they relate.

Hardware turnover principally consists of revenue from the sale of wireless mobile devices. The revenue and related expenses associated with
the sale of wireless handsets and accessories are recognised when the products are delivered and accepted by the customer. Other sales
include connection charges which are deferred and recognised over the estimated customer relationship period.

Revenue is recognised on a gross basis where the Group’s role is that of principal in a transaction. The gross basis represents the gross value
of the billing to the customer after trade discounts, with any related costs being charged to operating expenses. Where the Group acts as
agent in a transaction, the net revenue earned is recognised as turnover.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Subscriber acquisition costs
Subscriber acquisition costs, which include the commission costs associated with acquiring new subscribers and other incremental costs of
customer acquisition, are charged to the profit and loss account as incurred.

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is written off in the year in which it is incurred.

Advertising
Advertising costs are included in administrative expenses and are expensed as incurred.

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions adjusted for
the effects of any hedging arrangements, except for material exceptional items which are translated at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the rates ruling
at that date.

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated into sterling at the closing rates of exchange and the differences arising from the
translation of the opening net investment in subsidiaries at the closing rate are taken direct to reserves and are reported in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses. The profit and loss and cash flows for the year of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the average rates
of exchange for the year.

All other exchange gains or losses are dealt with in the profit and loss account.

Goodwill
Goodwill, arising from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings and interests in associates and joint ventures, represents the excess of the fair
value of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired.

For all acquisitions arising on or after 1 April 1998, the goodwill arising is capitalised as an intangible asset. The goodwill is amortised on a
straight-line basis from the time of acquisition over a period estimated by the Directors to be its useful economic life. The economic life is
normally between 10 and 20 years, subject to review if and when an event or change occurs which may affect the asset life. Where
applicable, goodwill relating to overseas businesses is held as a foreign currency denominated asset.

For acquisitions made before the adoption of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 10 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, on 1 April 1998, the
goodwill was written off directly to reserves. The goodwill written off directly to reserves will be charged to the profit and loss account on
the subsequent disposal of the business to which it relates.

Other intangible fixed assets

Licence fees paid to governments, which permit telecommunication activities to be operated for defined periods, are capitalised at cost and
are amortised from the later of the start of the licence period or market launch of service, to the end of the licence period on a straight-line
basis. Other licences are amortised over the period of the licence on a straight-line basis.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. The cost of tangible fixed assets includes directly attributable incremental
costs incurred in their acquisition and installation.

Depreciation is provided on tangible fixed assets from the date they are brought into use, in equal instalments over their estimated useful
lives, taking into account any residual values. The lives assigned to tangible fixed assets are:

Freehold buildings 40 years
Leasehold land and buildings Unexpired portion of lease or 40 years, whichever is the shorter
Network assets 51to 15 years
Plant and machinery 2 to 5 years
Computers, software and office equipment 2 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets in course of construction.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Fixed asset investments
Investments in associates and joint ventures are included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
The profit and loss account includes the Group’s share of profits or losses of associates and joint ventures.

Other investments held as fixed assets comprise equity shareholdings and other interests and are stated at cost less provisions for impairment.

Share scheme accounting

Options and share awards granted over the Company’s ordinary shares are accounted for using the intrinsic value method, with the
difference between the fair value of the shares at the grant date and the exercise price charged to the profit and loss account over the
vesting period.

The Company partially hedges its future obligations under certain share awards by holding its own shares in the mmO, Employee Share Trust.
Own shares are held at cost less amortisation charged to date.

Fixed asset impairment

Goodwill and other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment: (i) at the end of the first full financial year following acquisition; and,
together with tangible fixed assets, (ii) in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be
recoverable. Such events may include continuing operating losses, technological obsolescence or significant adverse changes in the business
or the market in which the fixed asset is used.

The impairment review is performed by comparing the carrying value of the asset, or group of assets, with their recoverable amount. For
assets used in the continuing operations of the Group the recoverable amount is the assets’ value in use which is estimated by calculating
the present value of its future cash flows. For assets to be disposed, the recoverable amount is the assets’ net realisable value. Impairment
charges are recognised in the profit and loss account to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount in the period in
which the impairment is identified.

Stocks
Stocks comprise mainly handsets and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (which reflects the value to the business of the
handset in the hands of the subscriber) on a first-in, first-out basis, after provisions for obsolescence.

Debtors

Debtors are stated at estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value is the invoiced amount less provisions for bad and doubtful debtors.
Provisions are made specifically against debtors where there is evidence of a dispute or an inability to pay. An additional provision is made
based on an analysis of balances by age, previous losses experienced and general economic conditions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised by the Group when three criteria are met: (i) the Group has a constructive or legal obligation as a result of a past
event; (ii) if it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and (iii) a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

A provision is made for the present value of the cost of restoration of mast sites at the date of acquisition of the site in accordance with
FRS 12 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”.

Post retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of pension schemes as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. All pension schemes are accounted
for in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP) 24 “Accounting for pension costs”. The Group
continues to apply the transitional disclosure requirements set out in FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”.

For funded and unfunded defined benefit schemes, the expected costs of providing pensions and other post retirement benefits, as
calculated periodically by professionally qualified actuaries, are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost over the
service lives of employees in the schemes in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and expected
future pensionable payroll. For the funded schemes, the assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the principal employer.
For the unfunded schemes, no contributions are made by either employees or the employer to a separate pension fund but a provision is
recorded on the balance sheet to recognise the cumulative accrued liability of the Group.

The Group also supports a number of defined contribution pension schemes where the benefits are based on the level of contributions paid.
Costs arising from these schemes are charged to the profit and loss account in the period to which they relate.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided in full on all timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to
pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates and law. Timing differences arise
from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are included
in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be
recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Debt issue costs
Debt instruments are stated at the amount of net proceeds received. Financing costs are amortised over the term of the debt to ensure a
constant rate of charge.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group considers its derivative financial instruments to be hedges when certain criteria are met. For foreign currency derivatives, the
instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets or liabilities or a probable commitment and whose characteristics have been
identified. It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and must also reduce the risk of foreign currency
exchange movements on the Group’s operations. For interest rate derivatives, the instrument must be related to assets or liabilities or a
probable commitment, such as a future bond issue, and must also change the interest rate or the nature of the interest rate by converting
a fixed rate to a variable rate or vice versa.

Interest differentials, under interest rate swap agreements used to vary the amounts and periods for which interest rates on borrowings are
fixed, are recognised by adjustment of interest payable.

The forward exchange contracts used to change the currency mix of net debt are revalued at the closing rates of exchange with net
unrealised gains and losses being matched to the underlying transactions being hedged. The forward exchange contracts hedging transaction
exposures are revalued at the year end at the prevailing forward rate with net unrealised gains and losses being matched to the underlying
transactions being hedged.

Leases and hire purchase contracts
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in equal annual amounts over the periods of the leases.

Assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are capitalised at their fair value on the inception of the leases and depreciated
over the shorter of the period of the lease and the estimated useful economic lives of the assets. The finance charges are allocated over the
period of the lease in proportion to the capital amount outstanding and are charged to the profit and loss account.

2. Segmental analysis

The Group’s operations have been divided internally into three classes of business, in line with the day-to-day managerial and budgetary
control during the year:

1) the supply of mobile telecommunications services and products;

2) the provision of mobile internet services; and

3) other businesses, comprising O, Airwave, a terrestrial trunked radio business, and Manx Telecom, the fixed and mobile
telecommunications business in the Isle of Man.

Mobile telecommunications services mainly derives its turnover from the calls made and received by its customers using mobile telephones,
from subscription fees charged to its contract customers and from handset equipment sales. Mobile internet services generate revenue
through advertising, provision of content and application and from e-commerce and m-commerce activities.
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Segmental analysis continued

The segmental disclosures in respect of profit and loss account items are presented below.

Depreciation,

amortisation Total
Group and operating
turnover impairment' profit/(loss)
fm £fm fm
Year ended 31 March 2004
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 3,451 638 346
Germany 1,508 295 (72)
Ireland 529 120 87
Total mobile telecommunications 5,488 1,053 361
Mobile internet services UK 140 42 (93)
Other businesses UK 139 37 (13)
Central overheads and adjustments - 3 (96)
Inter-segment eliminations (121) - -
5,646 1,135 159
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 48 1 (1)
Group total 5,694 1,136 158
Year ended 31 March 2003
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 3,025 2,953 2,111)
Germany 1,060 5,006 (4,979)
Ireland 442 1,488 (1,331)
Total mobile telecommunications 4,527 9,447 (8,421)
Mobile internet services UK 93 49 (122)
Other businesses UK 64 19 (23)
Central overheads and adjustments - 1 (87)
Inter-segment eliminations (73) - -
4611 9,516 (8,653)
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands? 263 121 (120)
Group total 4,874 9,637 (8,773)
Year ended 31 March 2002
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 2,756 548 44
Germany 875 277 (472)
Ireland 395 179 (57)
Total mobile telecommunications 4,026 1,004 (485)
Mobile internet services UK 100 25 (103)
Other businesses UK 54 9 (22)
Central overheads and adjustments - - (74)
Inter-segment eliminations (104) - -
4,076 1,038 (684)
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 200 101 (164)
Group total 4,276 1,139 (848)

I the year ended 31 March 2004, depreciation includes a charge of £2 million included within the exceptional operating cost disclosed in note 4. In the year ended 31 March 2003, the
exceptional depreciation, amortisation and impairment charged to total operating profit of £8,300 million comprised a charge of £2,401 million in respect of impairment of goodwill

and £5,899 million in respect of impairment of telecommunication licences and investments held in the Group’s businesses.

Excludes non-operating exceptional impairment charge of £1,364 million relating to the sale of O, Netherlands.

Turnover is based on the country of invoice origination, which is not materially different to turnover by destination. Central overheads and
adjustments includes central costs, eliminations and other consolidation adjustments.



2. Segmental analysis continued
The segmental disclosures in respect of balance sheet items are presented below.

m
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Net operating

Capital Tangible assets/
expenditure’ fixed assets (liabilities)?
£m fm £fm
Year ended and as at 31 March 2004
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 502 2,118 5,945
Germany 308 1,051 3,160
Ireland 52 233 1,086
Total mobile telecommunications 862 3,402 10,191
Mobile internet services UK 12 22 13
Other businesses UK 252 568 450
Central assets and adjustments 2 4 (65)
1,128 3,996 10,589
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 5 - -
Group total 1,133 3,996 10,589
Year ended and as at 31 March 2003
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 362 2,111 6,226
Germany 141 1,072 3,203
Ireland 57 257 1,186
Total mobile telecommunications 560 3,440 10,615
Mobile internet services UK 17 48 20
Other businesses UK 170 353 295
Central assets and adjustments 1 3 (109)
748 3,844 10,821
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 59 31 12
Group total 807 3,875 10,833
Year ended and as at 31 March 2002
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications UK 611 2,219 8,857
Germany 248 1,065 7,183
Ireland 83 239 2,333
Total mobile telecommunications 942 3,523 18,373
Mobile internet services UK 42 65 46
Other businesses UK 95 202 161
Central assets and adjustments - 3 (36)
1,079 3,793 18,544
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 97 301 1,234
Group total 1,176 4,094 19,778

1Capital expenditure comprises tangible fixed asset additions.
Net operating assets/(liabilities) comprise tangible and intangible fixed assets (including goodwiill), stocks, debtors, creditors (excluding debt) falling due within and after one year and

provisions (excluding deferred tax).

Associates and joint ventures

Total turnover for the year ended 31 March 2004 was £5,859 million (2003: £5,020 million, 2002: £4,407 million) and included £165 million
(2003: £146 million, 2002: £131 million) representing the Group’s share of the turnover of its associates and joint ventures in the UK mobile
telecommunications business. The Group’s share of associates and joint ventures operating profit was nil (2003: £5 million, 2002: £8 million).

The related investment carried in the balance sheet is £5 million (2003: nil, 2002: £34 million).
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Segmental analysis continued

Group turnover 2004 2003 2002
£m fm fm
Continuing operations
Mobile telecommunications
Service turnover UK 3,183 2,738 2,426
Germany 1,347 944 696
Ireland 500 415 366
Total service turnover 5,030 4,097 3,488
Equipment turnover UK 194 190 136
Germany 147 94 127
Ireland 23 20 21
Total equipment turnover 364 304 284
Other turnover UK 74 97 194
Germany 14 22 52
Ireland 6 7 8
Total other turnover 94 126 254
Total mobile telecommunications turnover 5,488 4,527 4,026
Mobile internet services UK 140 93 100
Other businesses UK 139 64 54
Less segmental eliminations (121) (73) (104)
Total continuing operations 5,646 4,611 4,076
Discontinued operation
Mobile telecommunications The Netherlands 48 263 200
Group turnover 5,694 4,874 4,276
3. Net operating expenses Continuing Discontinued
operations operation Total
£m £m fm
Year ended 31 March 2004
Group turnover 5,646 48 5,694
Cost of sales (3,291) (23) (3,314)
Gross profit 2,355 25 2,380
Administrative expenses (2,196) (26) (2,222)
Administrative expenses before exceptional items (2,121) (26) (2,147)
Exceptional items (75) = (75)
Group operating profit/(loss) 159 (1) 158
Year ended 31 March 2003
Group turnover 4,611 263 4,874
Cost of sales (2,854) (206) (3,060)
Gross profit 1,757 57 1,814
Administrative expenses (10,415) (177)  (10,592)
Administrative expenses before exceptional items (2,115) (177) (2,292)
Exceptional items (8,300) - (8,300)
Group operating loss (8,658) (120) (8,778)
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3. Net operating expenses continued

Continuing Discontinued

operations operation Total
£m fm £m

Year ended 31 March 2002
Group turnover 4,076 200 4,276
Cost of sales (2,519) (195) (2,714)
Gross profit 1,557 5 1,562
Administrative expenses (2,249) (169) (2,418)
Administrative expenses before exceptional items (2,111) (157) (2,268)
Exceptional items (138) (12) (150)
Group operating loss (692) (164) (856)

Net operating expenses comprise cost of sales and administrative expenses (including operating exceptional items) and total £5,536 million in
2004 (2003: £13,652 million, 2002: £5,132 million).

The sale of O, Netherlands completed on 3 June 2003. In accordance with FRS 3 “Reporting financial performance”, the results of
0, Netherlands for the three years ended 31 March 2004 have been classified as discontinued. See note 21 for further details.

4. Group operating profit/(loss)

Group operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging/(crediting): 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets:

Owned 900 907 677

Held under hire purchase contracts 28 25 70
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (before impairment):

Goodwill 201 374 369

Other 7 31 23
Rentals under operating leases:

Hire of plant and machinery 10 12 32

Other operating leases 158 171 140
Advertising costs 224 195 198
Staff costs (note 28) 548 521 570
Own work capitalised (106) (62) (121)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 5 8 9
Research and development 10 9 8
Exceptional items:

Restructuring of central functions and property portfolio rationalisation® 75 - -

Business closure and reorganisation - - 123

Impairment of intangible assets - 8,300 -

Costs relating to demerger from BT - - 27

TIn 2004 includes a loss on disposal of fixed assets of £5 million and depreciation of £2 million.

In the year ended 31 March 2004, the Group incurred an exceptional charge of £75 million in respect of the restructuring of central
functions and the resultant rationalisation of the Group’s property portfolio. This arose on the transfer of O, Online, Products O, and certain
other central functions to the Group’s operating businesses in the UK, Germany and Ireland and includes provisions relating to redundancies
and the termination of property leases. This charge gave rise to a cash outflow of £17 million in the year.

The impairment review performed by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2003 resulted in an exceptional non-cash operating charge
in respect of the Group’s continuing businesses of £8,300 million. This comprised charges relating mainly to the impairment of UMTS licences
and goodwill in O, UK and O, Germany (totalling £2,300 million and £4,700 million respectively) and the impairment of goodwill in

0, Ireland of £1,300 million. In 2002 the exceptional reorganisation costs related to the restructuring of the UK and German operations post
demerger and included £87 million in respect of redundancy costs. They gave rise to a cash outflow of £27 million in that year.
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5. Net interest payable and similar charges 2004 2003 2002
£m fm fm
Group
Interest receivable and similar income 20 19 11
Interest payable and similar charges:
Bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings (13) (19) 21)
Amortisation of debt issue costs 4) 3) (4)
Debentures (62) (63) (12)
Group net interest payable (59) (66) (26)
Share of associates and joint ventures
Interest receivable and similar income 1 - 1
Net interest payable (58) (66) (25)
6. Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 2004 2003 2002
£fm £m £m
Current tax
United Kingdom corporation tax at 30 per cent - - (13)
Tax on Group’s share of results of associates and joint ventures 1 2 2
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (1) - 2)
Non-United Kingdom tax 13 8 2
Total current tax charge/(credit) 13 10 (11)
Deferred tax (credit)/charge
Origination and reversal of timing differences (86) (72) (6)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 2 7 (6)
Total deferred tax credit (84) (65) (12)
Tax credit on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities (71) (55) (23)

In the year ended 31 March 2004, the profit on ordinary activities before taxation was £95 million (2003: loss of £10,203 million,

2002: loss of £873 million).

The tax assessed for the year varied from the amount computed by applying the corporation tax rate to profit or loss on ordinary activities

before taxation. The differences were attributable to the following factors:

2004 2003 2002

£m £fm £m

United Kingdom corporation tax on profit/(loss) at standard rate 29 (3,061) (262)
Non-deductible depreciation, amortisation and impairment 78 2,387 124
Non-deductible non-United Kingdom losses - 23 44
Non-United Kingdom tax rate differences (16) (7) (3)
Depreciation for the year in excess/(deficit) of capital allowances 1 14 (21)
Losses carried forward 30 657 33
Losses brought forward and utilised (138) - -
Non-deductible losses on sale of discontinued operations 2 - -
Pre-demerger losses - - 74
Other timing differences and adjustments 28 (3) -
Prior year adjustments (1) - -
Current tax charge/(credit) for year 13 10 (11)
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6. Tax on loss on ordinary activities continued

Factors that may affect future tax charges
The Group expects to be able to claim capital allowances in excess of depreciation in future years. The future tax charges will also continue
to be affected by goodwill amortisation for which no tax relief is available.

The deferred taxation credit arises as follows:

2004 2003 2002

£m £m fm
Excess capital allowances 15 4 44
Other timing differences (101) (76) (50)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 2 7 (6)
Total deferred tax credit (84) (65) (12)

Other timing differences include the recognition of a deferred tax asset of £70 million in respect of UK tax losses carried forward owing to
greater certainty regarding the availability of future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets in respect of certain other UK and German losses carried forward and other timing differences totalling £3,190 million
have not been recognised due to insufficient certainty regarding the availability of appropriate future taxable profits.

No deferred tax is currently recognised on unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries.

7. Earnings/(loss) per share

2004
Profit for the financial year (£m) 166
Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year and used
to calculate basic earnings per share (millions) 8,671
Dilutive potential ordinary shares (millions) 44
Weighted average number of shares outstanding and used
to calculate diluted earnings per share (millions) 8,715
Basic and diluted earnings per share (pence) 1.9

In the year ended 31 March 2003, the basic and diluted loss per share of 117.0 pence (2002: 9.8 pence) has been calculated by dividing the
loss for the year of £10,148 million (2002: £850 million) by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year (2002: the period
from demerger to 31 March 2002).
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8. Intangible assets Licences
and other
intangible
Goodwill assets Total
fm £m fm
Cost
At 1 April 2003 10,673 10,555 21,228
Additions - 85 85
Disposals - (8) 8
Sale of subsidiary undertaking (757) (484) (1,2471)
Currency movements (212) (200) (412)
At 31 March 2004 9,704 9,948 19,652
Amortisation
At 1 April 2003 7,255 6,391 13,646
Charge for the year 201 7 208
Disposals - 7) @)
Sale of subsidiary undertaking (757) (484) (1,241)
Currency movements (184) (124) (308)
At 31 March 2004 6,515 5,783 12,298
Net book value
At 31 March 2004 3,189 4,165 7,354
At 31 March 2003 3,418 4,164 7,582
9. Tangible assets Assets in
Land and Plant and course of
buildings equipment construction Total
£m £m £m £fm
Cost
At 1 April 2003 325 6,245 658 7,228
Additions 4 285 844 1,133
Transfers 39 736 (775) -
Disposals (16) (191) - (207)
Sale of subsidiary undertaking - (514) (18) (532)
Currency movements 3 (79) (1 (83)
At 31 March 2004 349 6,482 708 7,539
Depreciation
At 1 April 2003 124 3,211 18 3,353
Charge for the year® 29 899 - 928
Disposals (7) (190) - (197)
Sale of subsidiary undertaking - (479) (18) (497)
Currency movements - (44) - (44)
At 31 March 2004 146 3,397 - 3,543
Net book value
At 31 March 2004 203 3,085 708 3,996
At 31 March 2003 201 3,034 640 3,875
Mhe charge for the year includes an exceptional charge of £2 million relating to the restructuring described in note 4.
The net book value of land and buildings comprises: 2004 2003
£m fm
Freehold 76 80
Long leases 23 22
Short leases 104 99
Net book value 203 201
The net book value of assets held under hire purchase contracts comprises:
Cost 733 731
Accumulated depreciation (368) (347)
Net book value 365 384
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Interests in
associates,
joint ventures
and other Own
investments shares Total
Group £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2003 93 6 99
Additions 5 - 5
At 31 March 2004 98 6 104
Provisions
At 1 April 2003 93 3 96
Charge for the year - 3
At 31 March 2004 93 6 929
Net book value
At 31 March 2004 5 - 5
At 31 March 2003 - 3 3
Shares in
subsidiary Own
undertakings shares
Parent company £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2003 and 31 March 2004 18,498 6
Provisions
At 1 April 2003 7,215 3
Charge for the year - 1
Transfer - 2
At 31 March 2004 7,215 6
Net book value
At 31 March 2004 11,283 -
At 31 March 2003 11,283 3

The Directors consider that disclosing full particulars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length. A list

of principal subsidiary undertakings is given in note 24.
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11. Debtors Parent
Group company

2004 2003 2004 2003

fm £m £m £m

Trade debtors 508 525 - -
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 175 440
Other debtors 25 39 8 9
Prepayments 166 204 - _
Accrued income 244 156 - -
943 924 183 449

Trade debtors are stated after deducting £132 million as at 31 March 2004 (2003: £128 million) for doubtful debts. The amount charged
to the Group’s profit and loss account for doubtful debts for the year ended 31 March 2004 was £59 million (2003: £72 million).

12. Current asset investments Parent
Group company

2004 2003 2004 2003

fm £m £m £m

Money market deposits 631 414 631 414
Money market funds 69 79 69 79
Other deposits 293 355 - -
993 848 700 493

Other deposits of £293 million (2003: £354 million) are funds held in trust to meet the O, UK hire purchase obligations disclosed in note 15.
A further US$102 million in money market deposits is cash collateral for the bank guarantees issued to cover specific risks under the same

hire purchase obligations.

13. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Parent
Group company

2004 2003 2004 2003

fm £m £m £m

Other loans 6 8 - -
Loan notes (note 15) 8 19 - -
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (note 15) 40 39 - -
Trade creditors 497 423 - -
Corporation tax 9 10 - -
Other taxation and social security 61 64 - -
Other creditors 39 28 - -
Accrued expenses 819 781 14 14
Deferred income 202 200 - -
1,681 1,572 14 14

14. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year Parent
Group company

2004 2003 2004 2003

fm £m £m £m

Debentures (note 15) 1,012 1,015 1,012 1,015
Other loans 31 33 - -
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (note 15) 285 351 - -
Other creditors 47 52 - -
1,375 1,451 1,012 1,015




15. Debentures and other borrowings
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Parent
Group company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£fm £m fm £m

Analysis of loan repayments
Within one year or on demand 14 27 - -
Between one and two years 7 7 - -
Between two and five years 663 663 639 643
After five years 373 378 373 372
1,057 1,075 1,012 1,015
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts Group
2004 2003
fm £m
Within one year 41 39
Between one and five years 138 147
After five years 254 348
433 534
Less: finance charges allocated to future periods (108) (144)
325 390

In January 2002 mmO, plc issued two debentures in the form of a €1,000 million 6.375% fixed rate bond and a £375 million 7.625% fixed
rate bond which have a five and ten-year term respectively. The debentures are recognised at the amount of net proceeds received and after

the effects of any related hedging instruments. At 31 March 2004 this includes unamortised issue costs of £5 million (2003: £7 million).

Loan notes of £132 million were issued by O, UK between March 1999 and April 2000 for the purchase of various businesses. At 31 March

2004 loan notes totalling £8 million (2003: £19 million) were outstanding and repayable on demand.

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are mainly in respect of hire purchase agreements for plant and equipment. On
30 March 2001 and 9 April 2001 hire purchase financing contracts were signed between O, UK and a number of US leasing trusts. Under
the contracts O, UK sold and repurchased material portions of its GSM radio and switching equipment. O, UK has deposited sufficient funds
with a trust company to meet the future hire purchase obligations. The deposit account is included in current asset investments. The hire
purchase agreement is for 16 years with an early buy out option after 12 years. In accordance with the Separation Agreement signed on
demerger, BT continues to guarantee all future hire purchase obligations of O, UK which has provided a counter indemnity to BT for this

guarantee. mmO, has put in place bank guarantees totalling US$102 million to cover specific risks under this hire purchase transaction.

16. Provisions for liabilities and charges Deferred Other
taxation Restructuring  provisions Total
£m £m fm fm
At 1 April 2003 221 - 63 284
(Credit)/charge for the year (84) 75 9 -
Utilised in the year - 21 (8) (29)
Other movements - - (4) 4)
At 31 March 2004 137 54 60 251
Deferred taxation
The elements of deferred taxation provided for in the financial statements are as follows: 2004 2003
£fm fm
Accelerated capital allowances 281 362
Other (22) 11
Unrelieved tax losses carried forward (122) (130)
Total provision for deferred taxation 137 221

Other provisions

The restructuring provision arises in respect of the exceptional operating charge recognised in the year ended 31 March 2004 and

described in note 4. Other provisions includes £26 million (2003: £25 million) in respect of mast site restoration costs and £16 million
(2003: £12 million) in respect of unfunded pensions liabilities. It also includes amounts provided for legal claims.
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17. Called up share capital

2004 2004 2003 2003
Number of shares fm Number of shares fm
Authorised
Ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each 20,050,000,000 20 20,050,000,000 20
Deferred shares of £1 each 40 - 40 -
20,050,000,040 20 20,050,000,040 20
Called up, allotted and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each 8,674,689,768 9 8,670,181,627 9
Deferred shares of £1 each 40 - 40 -
8,674,689,808 9 8,670,181,667 9

During the year, the Company issued 4,508,141 ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each for a total cash consideration of £3,129,203.

The Company has in issue 40 deferred shares of £1 each. The holders of the deferred shares have no right to attend or vote at any general
meeting of the Company. The deferred shares do confer the right to receive a cumulative dividend of 1 per cent of the nominal value of the
deferred shares each year. On a return of capital on the winding-up of the Company, the holders are entitled to receive any accumulated
unpaid dividends and, subject to all other classes of shares being repaid, the amount paid up on the deferred shares. The deferred shares are

classified as non-equity.

18. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Called up Share Other  Profitand Owners’ net sharehol-drztri!
share capital premium reserves loss account investment funds
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2001 - - - - 19,068 19,068
Funding flows with BT - - - (474) 446 (28)
Transfer on demerger 9 - 23,189 (3,675) (19,514) 9
Retained loss for the period after demerger - - - (376) - (376)
Transfer from profit and loss account - - (533) 533 - -
Currency translation differences - - - 161 - 161
At 31 March 2002 9 - 22,656 (3,831) - 18,834
Retained loss for the year - - - (10,148) - (10,148)
Reinstatement of goodwill previously written off to reserves - - - 47 - 47
Transfer from profit and loss account - - (10,569) 10,569 - -
Currency translation differences - - - 1,333 - 1,333
At 31 March 2003 9 - 12,087 (2,030) - 10,066
Retained profit for the year - - - 166 - 166
Issue of shares - 3 - - - 3
Transfer from profit and loss account - - (1,013) 1,013 - -
Currency translation differences - - - (144) - (144)
At 31 March 2004 9 3 11,074 (995) - 10,091

Other reserves arose on demerger. They relate to the difference between the carrying value of the Group held by BT prior to demerger
(representing BT's investments and funding in the Group) and amounts settled with BT on demerger to acquire the assets and liabilities of

the Group.

Aggregate goodwill as at 31 March 2004 in respect of acquisitions completed prior to 1 April 1998 of £15 million (2003: £15 million) has
been written off against reserves in accordance with the accounting policy existing prior to the adoption of FRS 10 “Goodwill and intangible

assets”.



18. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds continued
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Total

Called up Share Other Profit and shareholders’

share capital premium reserves loss account funds

Company £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2002 9 - 18,488 (6) 18,491

Retained loss for the year - - - (7,291) (7,291)
Transfer from profit and loss account - - (7,215) 7,215 -
At 31 March 2003 9 - 11,273 (82) 11,200

Retained loss for the year - - (63) (63)
Issue of shares - 3 - - 3
At 31 March 2004 9 3 11,273 (145) 11,140

The Company has taken advantage of 5.230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present the Company’s own profit and loss account. The loss

attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year was £63 million (2003: £7,291 million).

19. Analysis of cash flows for headings netted in the cash flow statement 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £fm

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

Interest received 16 18 31

Finance costs - - (22)

Interest paid (78) (81) (18)
(62) (63) )

Taxation

Non-United Kingdom corporation tax paid (13) 4) (4)
(13) (4) (4)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Purchase of intangible fixed assets

Sale of tangible fixed assets

(1,035) (779)  (1,240)
(85) (89) 21)
- 30

(1,114) (868) (1,231)

Acquisitions and disposals

Deferred consideration arising on purchase of subsidiary undertakings (8) - (864)
Sale of subsidiary undertakings (2004: disposed net of £10 million cash) 7 - -
Investments in joint ventures and associated undertakings (5) - -
(6) - (864)
Management of liquid resources
Increase in money market deposits and money market funds (191) (3) (459)
(191) 3) (459)
Financing
Net cash contributions from BT - - 847
Debentures issued - - 989
Other loans issued - - 28
Shares issued 3 - -
Loan repayments (53) (47) (74)

(50) (47) 1,790
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20. AnalySiS of net debt Other non-cash

changes and
At 1 April exchange At 31 March
2003 Cash flow  movements 2004
£fm £fm fm fm
Cash at bank and in hand 68 (45) - 23
Current asset investments 848 191 (46) 993
916 146 (46) 1,016
Debt due after one year (1,048) - 5 (1,043)
Debt due within one year 27) 14 (1 (14)
Obligations under finance lease and hire purchase contracts (390) 39 26 (325)
(549) 199 (16) (366)
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movements in net debt 2004 2003 2002
£m fm fm
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (45) 48 (320)
Management of liquid resources 191 3 459
Cash outflow/(inflow) from decrease/(increase) in debt 53 47 (1,295)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 199 98 (1,156)
Other non-cash movements (16) (30) 333
Decrease/(increase) in net debt in the year 183 68 (823)
Net (debt)/funds at beginning of year (549) (617) 206
Net debt at end of year (366) (549) (617)

Other non-cash movements relate principally to the inception of new finance leases, interest accrued thereon and foreign exchange gains
and losses arising in relation to items of net debt held in foreign currencies.

21. Acquisitions and disposals

On 14 April 2003, the Group announced that it had agreed the sale of its wholly owned Dutch subsidiary, O, Netherlands, to Greenfield
Capital Partners, an independent private equity and corporate finance group with existing interests in the fixed telecoms sector, for

€25 million cash. The sale was completed on 3 June 2003 and took the form of the sale of all the issued shares of O, Netherlands. In the
year ended 31 March 2003, the Group recognised a non-operating exceptional provision for loss on disposal of O, Netherlands of £1,364
million. This represented the impairment of the assets of O, Netherlands, and goodwill relating to the original purchase of the stake in O,
Netherlands, down to their net recoverable amount which in this case was the sale proceeds less the estimated direct costs of disposal. The
total loss on sale arising on completion was £1,369 million which, after utilisation of the provision recognised in 2003, resulted in a non-
operating exceptional loss of £5 million in the year.

In February 2001, Telenor exercised a put option to sell its remaining 49.5 per cent interest in O, Ireland to the Group and this transaction
was completed in April 2001, following approval by the regulator. The total consideration for this stake was £877 million including expenses
resulting in additional goodwill of £884 million. The consideration included US$49 million payable to the former Managing Director for his
2 per cent stake in the non-voting shares of O, Ireland, of which £8 million was paid during the year, leaving no outstanding balance.



22. Financial commitments and contingent liabilities

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

Future gross finance lease and hire purchase payments payable by Group as at 31 March 2004 are as follows:
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fm
Payable in the year ending 31 March
2005 41
2006 36
2007 29
2008 29
2009 44
Thereafter 254
Total future gross finance lease and hire purchase payments 433
Finance lease and hire purchase commitments are mainly in respect of hire purchase agreements for plant and equipment. Full details of
these leases are provided in note 15.
Commitments 2004 2003
£fm fm
Contracts placed for capital expenditure not provided in the accounts 353 909
Contracts placed for non-capital expenditure not provided in the accounts 113 151
Total 466 1,060
Operating lease commitments
At 31 March 2004 the Group was committed to making the following payments during the next year in respect of operating leases:
2004 2003
Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other
£m £m fm fm
Leases which expire
Within one year 2 1 7 4
Between one and five years 31 12 32 25
After five years 148 - 127 7
181 13 166 36
Future minimum operating lease payments due by the Group as at 31 March 2004 are as follows:
fm
Payable in the year ending 31 March
2005 194
2006 185
2007 179
2008 160
2009 148
Thereafter 981
Total future minimum operating lease payments 1,847

mmO, plc has provided a guarantee of all liabilities of Airwave mmO, Limited under its contracts with PITO (the Police Information

Technology Organisation) and the police force customers.

There are no other contingent liabilities or guarantees other than those detailed in note 15 to the financial statements and those arising in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business on which no material losses are anticipated. The Group has insurance cover to certain limits for

major risks on property and major claims in connection with legal liabilities arising in the course of its operations.

The Group does not believe there are any pending legal proceedings which would have a material adverse effect on the financial position or

results of operations of the Group.
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23. Related party disclosures

During the year the Group entered into transactions with related parties as follows:

2004 2003
£fm £fm
Turnover
The Link Stores Limited 39 54
Tesco Mobile Limited 3 -
Purchases
The Link Stores Limited (47) (79)
Total net transactions (5) (25)

During the year ended 31 March 2004, the Group provided a combination of loan notes and partly-paid equity totalling £6 million to its joint
venture, Tesco Mobile Limited. The loan balance outstanding at 31 March 2004 was £3 million. The Group also provided other services to
Tesco Mobile Limited with a value of £3 million. All transactions were at arm's length rates.

Related party transactions with Directors are detailed in the Report on Directors’ remuneration from page 51 to 62.

24. Principal subsidiary undertakings and associates

The principal operating subsidiary undertakings are detailed below, all of which are included in the Group financial statements.

Portion of

Country of incorporation ordinary shares held

Name and operation Activity %
O, Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 100
0, (UK) Limited England and Wales Mobile cellular telephone system provider and operator 100
O, (Germany) GmbH & Co. OHG Germany Mobile cellular telephone system provider and operator 100
0, Communications (Ireland) Limited Ireland Mobile cellular telephone system provider and operator 100
Airwave mmO, Limited England and Wales Digital radio service for public safety organisations 100
0O, (Online) Limited England and Wales Mobile internet business 100
Manx Telecom Limited Isle of Man Telecommunication services supplier 100

The shares in O, Limited are held directly by mmO; plc. The shares of the other operating companies are held by O, Limited or its wholly
owned subsidiaries. The accounting reference date of all subsidiary undertakings is 31 March.

The Group also owns a 50 per cent stake in a joint venture, Tesco Mobile Limited, and a 40 per cent stake in an associate, The Link Stores
Limited. Tesco Mobile Limited supplies mobile electronic communications and related services to consumers and is incorporated in England
and Wales and operates throughout the United Kingdom. The accounting reference date of Tesco Mobile Limited is 28 February. The Link
Stores Limited is a telecommunications equipment retailer which is incorporated and operates in England and Wales.

During the year the Group sold its entire interest in O, Netherlands as disclosed in note 21.

25. Financial instruments and risk management

Financial risks are identified and managed by a centralised Group treasury function. The Group’s treasury policy, including details of the
nature, terms and credit risk associated with financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk are described in the Treasury management and
policies section of the Operating and financial review and prospects on page 37.

Short-term debtors and creditors, where permitted by FRS 13 “Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, have been excluded
from the following disclosures, which are after taking account of interest rate and currency swaps where applicable.

The Group holds or issues financial instruments principally to finance its operations, for the temporary investment of short-term funds and to
manage currency and interest rate risks arising from its operations. Further details on the financing of operations is contained in the Source
of Liquidity and Capital Resources section of the Operating and financial review and prospects.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to market risks such as changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. The objective is to match the profile and characteristics of Group funding of equity and debt to that of the assets funded
and to mitigate foreign exchange risk under the guidelines approved by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Group’s treasury policy.



25. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Fair value of financial instruments
The book and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities at 31 March 2004 are:
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Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
2004 2004 2003 2003
£m £m £m fm
Liabilities
Debentures (1,042) (1,135) (1,065) (1,105)
Hire purchase contracts (325) (334) (390) (370)
Loan notes (8) (8) (19 (19)
Other loans and borrowings (37) (37) 41) 41)
Total financial liabilities (1,412) (1,514) (1,515) (1,535)
Assets
Hire purchase contracts 293 315 354 392
Short-term deposits 631 631 414 414
Money market funds 69 69 79 79
Cash at bank and in hand 23 23 68 68
Total financial assets 1,016 1,038 915 953
Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate and currency profile of the Group
Interest rate swaps - 17 - 15
Cross-currency swaps 25 44 38 53
Forward foreign exchange contracts 4 4 6 7
29 65 44 75

Summary of methods and assumptions

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between informed and willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and excludes accrued interest. Book values are stated before deducting any unamortised

issue costs.

For interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, the fair value is based upon market price of comparable
instruments where available and if not available by the discounting of future cash flows to net present values using appropriate interest and

currency rates.

For short-term deposits and borrowings and cash at bank, the fair value of the short-term deposits, money market funds and cash at bank

approximate to the book carrying value due to the short-term or on demand maturity of these instruments.

For long-term borrowings the fair value of the sterling and Euro denominated bonds have been estimated using quoted market prices.

For other borrowings the fair value of other short-term borrowings approximate to the carrying value due to the short-term or on demand

maturity of these instruments.
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25. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Hedges

Under the Group’s accounting policy as detailed in note 1 to the financial statements, certain gains and losses on derivative instruments used

for hedging are not recognised in the financial statements. The gains are as follows:

Gains
£m

Unrecognised gains at 1 April 2003 31

Gains arising in previous years that were recognised in the year (1)
Gains arising in previous years that were not recognised in the year 30

Gains arising in the year that were not recognised in the year 6

Unrecognised gains on hedges at 31 March 2004 36

Of which:

Gains expected to be recognised in 2004-05 -
Gains expected to be recognised in 2005-06 or later 36

Currency exposures

At 31 March 2004, Group companies whose functional currency was not sterling held net foreign currency monetary assets of £4 million

denominated in US$.

Foreign exchange transaction risk management

The Group’s identified exposure to the foreign currency risk of expected future sales and expenditure, after the effect of forward hedging

instruments, was nil at 31 March 2004.

Financial instruments held for trading purposes
The Group does not trade in financial instruments.

Financial assets

Financial assets consist of sterling and Euro denominated cash at bank, short-term money market deposits and investments in a AAA-rated
money market fund. Money market deposits have a maturity profile between overnight and three months and earn interest at market rates.

Investments in the money market fund can be called on either a same day or next day basis and yield income or interest on the basis of

performance of the underlying assets measured against one-week and three-month LIBOR/EURIBOR benchmarks.

Hire  Short-term Hire Short-term

Cash at purchase deposits Cash at purchase deposits

bank and related and money bank and related  and money
in hand assets market funds Total in hand assets market funds Total
2004 2003
£m fm fm fm fm £m £m £m

Currency

Sterling 3) - 461 458 7 - 290 297
Euro 22 - 184 206 58 - 137 195
Other 4 293 55 352 3 354 66 423
At 31 March 2004 23 293 700 1,016 68 354 493 915

At 31 March 2004, the Group had no fixed rate financial assets.
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Floating Fixed rate Fixed rate financial
Fixed rate rate financial liabilities liabilities weighted
financial financial weighted average average period for
liabilities liabilities Total interest rate which rate is fixed
2004
fm fm fm % (years)

Currency
Sterling 431 570 1,001 7.32% 7.2
Euro - 80 80 - -
Other 306 - 306 7.43% 6.1
At 31 March 2004 737 650 1,387 7.36% 6.7
Floating Fixed rate Fixed rate financial
Fixed rate rate financial liabilities liabilities weighted
financial financial weighted average average period for
liabilities liabilities Total interest rate which rate is fixed
2003
£m fm £m % (years)

Currency
Sterling 434 562 996 7.66% 8.2
Euro - 103 103 - -
Other 372 - 372 6.68% 6.3
At 31 March 2003 806 665 1,471 7.21% 7.3

The effect of the Group’s interest rate swaps are to classify €500 million of Euro borrowings as floating rate in both years. The Group has
cross-currency and foreign exchange swaps, which classify €500 million and €380 million respectively of Euro borrowings as floating rate in
sterling in both years. The impact of the cross-currency and foreign exchange swaps is to reduce the Euro borrowings and increase floating
Sterling borrowings by £309 million (2003: £309 million) and £253 million (2003: £234 million) respectively.

Floating rate financial liabilities bear interest at rates, based on relevant national LIBOR/EURIBOR equivalents, which are fixed in advance for
periods of six months.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed floating rate borrowing facilities available at 31 March 2004 in respect of which all
conditions precedent had been met at that date:

Total

2004

fm

Expiring within one year 100
Expiring in more than two years 1,725
Total 1,825

The facility expiring within one year is a 364-day bilateral facility. If the facility is not renewed for a further period by the bank at its expiry, it
can be drawn and then repaid in September 2006, otherwise it lapses. The facility expiring in more than two years is the five-year tranche of
the RCF, which matures in September 2006. All facilities incur commitment fees at market rates.
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26. Auditors’ remuneration

The aggregate fees paid to auditors during the year for audit and other services is analysed below:

2004 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000
Audit services:
UK 600 500 500
Other countries 400 500 400
Total statutory audit fees 1,000 1,000 900
Audit-related regulatory reporting 32 17 188
Total audit and audit-related fees 1,032 1,017 1,088
Non-audit fees:
Other assurance services 339 687 206
Tax compliance 166 125 18
Tax advisory 280 171 4
Systems implementation - 176 -
Total non-audit fees 785 1,159 228
The audit fees for the Company were £10,000 (2003: £10,000, 2002: £10,000).
27. Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2004 and the benefits received under long-term incentive plans were, in
summary, as follows:
2004 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000
Salaries 2,405 1,408 1,078
Performance related bonus' 2,265 593 545
Gains under long-term incentive plans®3#4 147 158 -
Other benefits 249 102 69
5,066 2,261 1,692
Payments to non-executive Directors 399 251 147
Total emoluments 5,465 2,512 1,839

Nincludes £1 50,000 paid by BT in 2002 in respect of David Varney’s contribution to the successful demerger.

2In addition to the emoluments disclosed above, in 2002 an additional £186,880 was paid as a result of the early vesting of the BT Cellnet long-term incentive plan as a result

of the demerger.
In 2003, represents gains on vesting of 1997 Executive Share Award and vesting of Restricted Share Award.
4n 2004, represents gains on vesting of Restricted Share Award.

During the year, three Directors (2003: two, 2002: two) accrued retirement benefits under a defined benefit pension plan. In addition,
contributions of £83,125 (2003: £77,875, 2002: £43,167) in respect of one Director (2003: one, 2002: one) were paid to a defined

contribution pension plan.

More detailed information concerning Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings, pension entitlement, share options and other long-term

incentive plans is shown in the report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 51 to 62.
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28. Employees 2004 2003 2002
No. No. No.

Average number of full time employee equivalents (including Executive Directors) by class of business:

Mobile telecommunications 11,133 11,643 13,999
Mobile internet services 301 269 307
Other businesses 913 866 810
Total employees 12,347 12,778 15,116
Average number of full time employee equivalents (including Executive Directors) by geographic area:
UK 7,328 7,081 8,750
Germany 3,494 3,527 4,084
Other 1,525 2,170 2,282
Total employees 12,347 12,778 15,116
The costs incurred in respect of these employees were: 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m
Wages and salaries 456 446 483
Social security costs 58 47 59
Employee share ownership scheme 8 4 2
Pension costs (note 29) 26 24 26
Total staff costs 548 521 570

At 31 March 2004, the Group employed 12,905 (2003: 12,476, 2002: 14,300) full time employee equivalents.

The Group operates a number of employee incentive schemes including a sharesave plan, a share ownership plan and various executive and
employee option schemes. Full details are disclosed in the supplementary information for United States investors on pages 99 to 115.

29. Pension costs

The Group operates a number of pension schemes in its businesses. All the Group’s pension schemes are provided through either defined
benefit or defined contribution arrangements. Defined benefit schemes generally provide pensions based on the employee’s length of service
and their final pensionable salary. Defined contribution schemes offer employees individual funds which are converted into pension benefits
on retirement. The majority of the schemes’ assets are held independently of the Group’s finances.

The mmO, Pension Plan
The mmO, Pension Plan (mmO, PP) provides the pension benefits for the majority of UK employees and is divided into defined contribution
and defined benefit sections.

Defined contribution section

Prior to 1 July 2002, the Group participated in the BT Retirement Plan (BTRP), a defined contribution scheme established by BT. Members of
the BTRP could elect to transfer their funds under management into the new mmO, Plan (defined contribution section) on its inception.
These funds were transferred on 14 March 2003.

Defined benefit section

Following the Group's demerger from BT and until 30 June 2002, the Group was a participating employer in the BT Pension Scheme (BTPS),
a funded defined benefit pension scheme. While participating the Group paid to the BTPS a predetermined percentage of the pensionable
payroll costs of those Group employees who were members of the scheme. These costs have been charged in the period to which they
relate. Details of the financial position of the BTPS and further information regarding the scheme are contained in the financial statements of
BT Group plc.

On 1 July 2002 the mmO, PP was established for employees in the United Kingdom by the Group. Any active member of the BTPS employed
by the Group could join a defined benefit section of, and elect to transfer their past service liability from the BTPS to, the new plan. The vast
majority of those eligible to transfer elected to do so. The benefits of all deferred and pensioner members at 30 June 2002 remain in the
BTPS. A share of the assets of the BTPS, determined on the basis of the past service liabilities of the members electing to transfer their
benefits to the new plan, were transferred to the mmO, PP on 17 March 2003.
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From 1 July 2002, the Group has been the principal employer of the mmO, PP. The pension costs have been assessed in accordance with the
advice of a qualified actuary using the projected unit method and taking assets at market value. The defined benefits sections of the mmO,
PP are closed to new entrants and therefore the current service cost is likely to increase as the members approach retirement.

Actuarial valuation

The first full actuarial valuation of the defined benefit section of the mmO, PP was undertaken at 30 June 2003 by a professionally qualified
independent actuary using the projected unit method. The purpose of this valuation was to design a future funding plan to ensure that
contributions to the plan are sufficient to meet future liabilities. As at 30 June 2003 the assets of the mmO, PP had a market value of £230
million and were sufficient to cover 86 per cent of the benefits accrued to members at that date on the ongoing funding measure. As a
result of the valuation, the Group has increased the employer’s regular contribution rate from 11.6 per cent to 13.1 per cent of pensionable
salaries with effect from 1 April 2004. In order to meet the deficit, additional annual payments of £4.4 million are payable for 13 years
(subject to review at future valuations). The employee’s contribution rate remains at 6 per cent of pensionable salary.

The main actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were as follows:
%

Nominal rate of increase in salaries 3.75-4.25
Nominal rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.50
Investment return pre retirement 7.00
Investment return post retirement 5.50
Inflation assumption 2.50

Other Group pension plans

The Group operates several other defined benefit pension schemes. In the Isle of Man benefits are provided by a funded defined benefit
pension scheme that is closed to new entrants. The Group also operates unfunded defined benefit schemes in the UK and in Germany. A
provision, determined in accordance with SSAP 24, is recorded on the balance sheet to recognise the cumulative accrued liability for the
unfunded schemes.

Until May 2001 the O, Germany main scheme was unfunded. This scheme has been changed to a funded arrangement with payments
being made to provide for previously unfunded liabilities over the period to the active members’ retirements. The vast majority of members
of the O, Germany main scheme are now accruing benefits under a defined contribution arrangement. The other defined benefit schemes
in Germany are unfunded.

The Group operates defined contribution schemes in Germany, Ireland and the Isle of Man. The assets of these defined contribution
arrangements are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.

The assets and liabilities of the O, Netherlands pension scheme were included in the disposal of O, Netherlands to Greenfield Capital Partners.

Disclosures under SSAP 24
The total cost charged to the profit and loss account for all the Group’s pension schemes was £26 million (2003: £24 million,
2002: £26 million) as analysed below:

2004 2003 2002
£fm £m £m

mmO, Pension Plan cost 16 12 -

Contributions to the BT Pension Scheme - 4 20

Other defined benefit schemes 3 4

Defined contribution schemes 7 4 2
26 24 26

Of the total cost, £24 million is regular cost (2003: £24 million, 2002: £26 million).

The cost of other defined benefit pension schemes comprises £1 million in respect of the Isle of Man scheme (2003: £1 million,

2002: £1 million), nil in respect of the O, Germany main scheme (2003: nil, 2002: £2 million), nil in respect of the O, Netherlands scheme
(2003: nil, 2002: £1 million), and £2 million (2003: £3 million, 2002: nil million) in respect of the Group’s unfunded defined benefit
arrangements in the UK and Germany.

The cost of the defined contribution schemes comprises £3 million (2003: £1 million, 2002: nil) in respect of the mmO, PP, £3 million
(2003: £2 million, 2002: nil) in respect of the O, Germany scheme and £1 million (2003: £1 million, 2002: £1 million) in respect of the
O, Ireland scheme. In addition, contributions of £1 million were paid to the BTRP in the year ended 31 March 2002. There were no
contributions outstanding or pre-paid at the year end.
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29. Pension costs continued

The unfunded defined benefit arrangement in the UK has 23 members of whom 15 were active (2003: 23 members of whom 22 were
active, 2002: 24 members of whom all were active).

At 31 March 2004, the mmO, PP had 4,596 members of whom 4,014 were active. The O, Germany schemes had 3,008 members of whom
2,996 were active. The Isle of Man schemes had 437 members of whom 281 were active. The O, Ireland scheme had 1,112 members of
whom 918 were active.

The principal assumptions used to determine the pension cost for the defined benefit section of the mmO, PP for the year were:

2004 2003

% %
Nominal rate of increase in salaries 3.75-4.25 4.25
Nominal rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.50 2.50
Investment return pre retirement 7.50 6.50
Investment return post retirement 5.70 6.00
Inflation assumption 2.50 2.50

The assumptions for the other defined benefit schemes around the Group are consistent with those used for the mmO, PP.

At 31 March 2004, using SSAP 24, a deficit of £12 million existed in the mmO, PP. This difference between the assets and liabilities is
being amortised over the expected future working lives of the active membership, of 13 years, using the straight line method and is included
in the cost.

Disclosures under FRS 17
In accordance with the transitional arrangements of FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”, certain information regarding the Group’s pension
arrangements are disclosed below.

The actuarial valuation of the mmO, PP as at 30 June 2003 has been updated to 31 March 2004 by an independent qualified actuary in
accordance with the transitional arrangements of FRS 17. In accordance with FRS 17, the defined benefit liabilities have been measured using
the projected unit method. Plan assets are stated at their market value.

31 March 31 March

Main assumptions under FRS 17 2004 2003
mmO, PP mmO, PP
% %
Nominal rate of increase in salaries 4.05-4.55 3.75
Nominal rate of increase of pensions in payment
— Pension increases with inflation 2.80 2.50
— Pension increases with inflation limited to 5% p.a. 2.60 2.40
Discount rate 5.70 5.80
Inflation assumption 2.80 2.50
Expected long-term return for:
— Equities 7.80 7.50
— UK Government bonds 4.70 -
— Other bonds 5.70 -
— Other 4.60 3.80

The assumptions, adopted for FRS 17 purposes, for the other defined benefit schemes around the Group are consistent with those used for
the mmO, PP.
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29. Pension costs continued

The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit pension schemes are:

31 March 31 March
31 March 2004 31 March 2003
2004 other 2003 other
mmO, PP schemes mmO, PP schemes
£m £m fm fm
Fair value of assets comprises:
— Equities 245 12 177 11
— UK Government bonds 14 6 - 5
— Other bonds 14 - 5
— Other 5 1 20 -
Fair value of assets 278 21 197 21
Present value of liabilities (362) (42) (268) (39)
Deficit (84) (21) (71) (18)
Related deferred tax asset 25 6 21 5
Net pension liability (59) (15) (50) (13)

The following table sets out the amounts which would be charged to the profit and loss account and statement of total recognised gains

and losses in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17 for the Group’s defined benefit plans:

Period from
Year ended Year ended 1 July 2002 to Year ended
31 March 2004 31 March 2004 31 March 2003 31 March 2003
mmO, PP other schemes mmO, PP other schemes
£m £m fm fm
Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit/(loss):
Current service cost (employers’) 16 2 14 3
Curtailment and settlement! - (2) - -
Vested past service cost? 2 - - Q)
Total operating charge 18 - 14 2
Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to net interest:
Expected return on pension plan assets 15 1 14 1
Interest on pension plan liabilities (16) (2) (12) 2)
Net return (1 (1) 2 (1
Analysis of the amount recognised in the statement of total recognised
gains and losses:
Actual return less expected return on pension plan assets? 39 2 (62) (7)
Experience gains and losses arising on plan liabilities 6 (1) (4) 2
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of plan liabilities (57) (4) 26 -
Actuarial loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (12) 3) (40) (5)

T respect of O, Netherlands.
Including a restructuring charge of £2 million which has been included in the exceptional charge for the year.
Excluding the returns on assets of the Group’s defined contribution arrangements which do not affect the balance sheet liability.

For the mmO, PP, the amount charged for the period from 1 April 2002 to 30 June 2002 is the contributions paid to the BTPS of £4 million

and is in addition to charges shown above.
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Other

mmO,; PP schemes

Movement in deficit during the period/year £m £m
Deficit at 1 July 2002/1 April 2002 (32) (13)
Total current service cost (21) (4)
Total contributions 20 4
Vested past service costs - 1
Other finance income 2 (1)
Actuarial loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (40) (5)
Deficit in plan at 31 March 2003 71 (18)
Total current service cost! (24) (3)
Total contributions! 26 2
Curtailment and settlement gain - 2
Vested past service costs (2) -
Other finance cost (1 Q)]
Actuarial loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (12) (3)
Deficit in plan at 31 March 2004 (84) 21

Tincludes £2 million in respect of restructuring costs disclosed in note 4.
Period from
Year ended Year ended 1 July 2002 to Year ended

31 March 2004 31 March 2004

31 March 2003

31 March 2004

mmO, PP other schemes mmO, PP other schemes
fm £fm fm £m
History of experience gains and losses
Difference between the expected and actual return on plan assets:
Amount — gain/(loss) 39 2 (62) (7)
Percentage of plan assets 14% 11% (32%) (33%)
Experience gains and losses on plan liabilities:
Amount — gain/(loss) 6 (2) (4) 2
Percentage of the present value of plan liabilities 2% (4%) (1%) 5%
Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses:
Amount — loss (12) (3) (40) (6)
Percentage of the present value of plan liabilities (3%) (8%) (15%) (15%)
If the Group had fully adopted the provisions of FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” in the year ended 31 March 2004, the Group pension
schemes deficit (net of deferred tax) of £74 million (2003: £63 million) would have been recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. Instead
the following analysis of reserves is provided in accordance with the transitional disclosures required regarding the pension schemes:
2004 2003
fm £fm

Profit and loss account excluding pension deficit
Pension deficit (net of related deferred tax asset)

(995) (2,030)

(74) (63)

Profit and loss account including pension deficit

(1,069) (2,093)
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30. Parent company balance sheet of mmO, plc at 31 March 2004 2004 2003
Note £m fm
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 10 11,283 11,283
Investment in own shares 10 - 3
11,283 11,286
Current assets
Debtors 11 183 449
Investments 12 700 493
Cash at bank and in hand - 1
883 943
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 13 (14) (14)
Net current assets 869 929
Total assets less current liabilities 12,152 12,215
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 14 (1,012) (1,015)
Net assets 11,140 11,200
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 17 9 9
Share premium 18 3 -
Other reserves 18 11,273 11,273
Profit and loss account 18 (145) (82)
Shareholders’ funds 11,140 11,200

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 May 2004 and were signed on its behalf by:

P Erskine Chief Executive Officer

D Finch Chief Financial Officer
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2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
0, UK
Customer Numbers (thousands)' Churn*
Pre-pay 8,687 7,989 7,542 Pre-pay 33% 31% 32%
Post-pay 4,577 4,061 3,542 Post-pay 26% 28% 31%
Total 13,264 12,050 11,084 Blended 30% 30% 32%
ARPU (£)2 SAC per Connection (f)°
Pre-pay 141 121 108 Pre-pay 16 25 53
Post-pay 525 503 498 Post-pay 160 177 180
Blended 272 247 231 Blended 64 79 90
Data as a percentage of
service revenue? 20.4% 17.1% 11.8%
0, Germany
Customer Numbers (thousands)' Churn*
Pre-pay 2,516 2,182 1,912 Pre-pay 17% 16% 35%
Post-pay 3,466 2,630 1,979 Post-pay 17% 16% 21%
Total 5,982 4,812 3,891 Blended 17% 16% 28%
ARPU (£)2 SAC per Connection (f)°
Pre-pay 96 83 71 Pre-pay 17 16 44
Post-pay 375 341 313 Post-pay 175 161 160
Blended 254 219 195 Blended 119 107 95
Data as a percentage of
service revenue’ 19.5% 19.3% 13.3%
0, Ireland
Customer Numbers (thousands)' Churn*
Pre-pay 1,010 889 824 Pre-pay 30% 36% 44%
Post-pay 381 366 356 Post-pay 16% 17% 23%
Total 1,391 1,255 1,180 Blended 26% 31% 38%
ARPU (£)? SAC per Connection (£)°
Pre-pay 248 220 197 Pre-pay 37 30 44
Post-pay 736 656 622 Post-pay 146 158 202
Blended 388 351 329 Blended 54 50 75
Data as a percentage of
service revenue’ 19.9% 15.3% 9.7%
Manx Telecom
Customer Numbers (thousands)' Churn*
Pre-pay 42 38 26 Pre-pay 32% 8% 1%
Post-pay 21 21 21 Post-pay 10% 14% 17%
Total 63 59 47 Blended 24% 10% 14%
ARPU (£)2
Pre-pay 123 115 120
Post-pay 623 556 506
Blended 289 288 317
0, Netherlands®
Customer Numbers (thousands)' Churn*
Pre-pay - 899 1,022 Pre-pay - 28% 27%
Post-pay - 297 233 Post-pay - 52% 27%
Total - 1,196 1,255 Blended - 34% 27%
ARPU (£)2 SAC per Connection (£)°
Pre-pay - 94 84 Pre-pay - 26 55
Post-pay - 471 492 Post-pay - 133 198
Blended - 179 163 Blended - 88 75
Data as a percentage of
service revenue’® - 14.5% 8.9%

Notes on non-financial metrics

Customer Numbers — are stated on the active base. Customers are treated as being active if they have used the network in the preceding three months.

Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) — is calculated by dividing total service revenue from sales to customers for the preceding 12 months by the weighted average number of active

customers for the same period. Total service revenue includes revenue from inbound roaming. ARPU is calculated using gross service revenue before deduction of wholesale discounts.

Data as a percentage of service revenue — data revenue comprises revenue generated from the sale of SMS, WAP and GPRS services.

Churn — is calculated by expressing the sum of disconnections for the preceding 12 months as a percentage of the weighted average number of active customers for the same period.
SSubscriber Acquisition Costs (SAC) per Connection — are calculated by dividing the total costs (total cost of handset (including handset costs, SIM costs and packaging) less handset

revenue plus commissions paid to sales channels) for the preceding 12 months by the total number of connections over the same period.

6O2 Netherlands was sold on 3 June 2003.
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Selected profit and loss account information

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
fm £m £m £m £m
UK GAAP
Group turnover 5,694 4,874 4,276 3,200 2,618
Group turnover comprises:
Continuing operations 5,646 4,611 4,076 3,110 2,618
Discontinued operation 48 263 200 90 -
Net operating expenses before exceptional items (5,461) (5,352) (4,982) (3,543) (2,551)
Exceptional items (75) (8,300) (150) (2,821) (47)
EBITDA before exceptional items 1,367 859 433 317 385
EBITDA before exceptional items comprises:
Continuing operations 1,367 858 484 393 385
Discontinued operation - 1 (51) (76) -
Group operating profit/(loss) 158 (8,778) (856) (3,164) 20
Group operating profit/(loss) comprises:
Continuing operations 159 (8,658) (692) (3,027) 20
Discontinued operation (1) (120) (164) (137) -
Group's share of operating result of joint ventures and associates - 5 8 (286) (270)
Loss/provision for loss on sale of business (5) (1,364) - - -
Net interest payable and similar charges (58) (66) (25) 9) (8)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 95 (10,203) (873) (3,459) (258)
Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 71 55 23 (70) 9
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 166  (10,148) (850) (3,529) (249)
Minority interests - - - 4) (1)
Retained profit/(loss) for the financial year 166  (10,148) (850) (3,533) (250)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 1.9 (117.0) (9.8) (40.7) (2.9)
US GAAP
Net earnings/(loss) for the financial year 180 (3,671) (1,463) (3,747) (386)
Basic and diluted net earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 2.1 (42.3) (16.9)
Selected balance sheet information
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
£m fm fm fm fm
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 7,354 7,582 15,992 15,624 4,566
Tangible assets 3,996 3,875 4,094 3,727 1,770
Investments 5 3 37 33 393
Total fixed assets 11,355 11,460 20,123 19,384 6,729
Current assets 2,043 1,913 2,037 1,785 1,113
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (1,681) (1,572) (1,521) (1,504) (2,636)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (1,375) (1,457) (1,403) (399) (18)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (251) (284) (402) (206) (147)
Net assets 10,091 10,066 18,834 19,060 5,041
Shareholders’ funds 10,091 10,066 18,834 19,068 5,053
Equity minority interests - - - (8) (12)
10,091 10,066 18,834 19,060 5,041
US GAAP
Shareholders’ funds 16,940 17,045 19,428 2,722 2,106
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Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP to US GAAP

The Group’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom (UK
GAAP). Note 1 to the financial statements provides additional information on the basis of preparation of the Group’s financial statements.
UK GAAP differs in certain material respects from US GAAP. The following notes, disclosures and tables set out the key differences between
US and UK GAAP.

. Net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ funds reconciliation

The following tables summarise the significant adjustments between net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ funds (net assets) from that reported
under UK GAAP to that which would have been reported had US GAAP been applied.

2004 2003 2002
Net profit/(loss) Note £m £m £m
Net profit/(loss) under UK GAAP 166  (10,148) (850)
Adjustment for:
Capitalisation of interest, net of related depreciation (a) (77) (67) 579
Goodwill impairment (b) - 482 -
Licence impairment (b) - 5,899 -
Fixed asset impairment on discontinued operation (b) - (25) -
Amortisation of goodwill (b) 201 374 23
Amortisation of software and other intangible assets (b) (37) (37) 217)
Employee stock compensation (© (26) (@) (@)
Other employee compensation expense (d) - - (3)
Restructuring costs (e) 19 21) 21
Fair value of derivative financial instruments (9) 5 50 (19)
Notional loans due to BT (h) - - (756)
Long-term licence creditors (i) (1) (1) -
Loss on disposal of O, Netherlands 0 (6) - -
Current year adjustment of SFAS No. 143 (k) 4) - -
Deferred tax on US GAAP adjustments 10} (56) (176) (240)
Net profit/(loss) as adjusted for US GAAP before accumulative adjustment 184 (3,671) (1,463)
Accumulative adjustment on adoption of SFAS No. 143 Q) (4) - -
Net profit/(loss) as adjusted for US GAAP 180 (3,671) (1,463)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share, as adjusted for US GAAP (pence) (0) 2.1 (42.3) (16.9)

The net profit/(loss) under UK GAAP has been prepared for statutory reporting purposes using accounting policies which differ in certain
respects to those used in the Listing Particulars, Form 20-F/A and Form 20-F. The impact of the different accounting policies is set out below:

2004 2003 2002

£m fm £fm

Net profit/(loss) on Form 20-F basis 166  (10,148) (1,379)
Notional loans due to BT - - 756
Deferred tax on US GAAP differences - - (227)
Net profit/(loss) under UK GAAP for UK statutory reporting purposes 166  (10,148) (850)

The above adjustments have no impact on the net profit/(loss) as adjusted for US GAAP.
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2004 2003
Shareholders’ funds Note £m £m
Shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP 10,091 10,066
Adjustment for:
Capitalisation of interest, net of related depreciation ) 804 912
Goodwill impairment (b) 435 435
Licence impairment (b) 5,899 5,899
Fixed asset impairment on discontinued operation (b) - (25)
Amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets (b) 233 69
Employee stock compensation © (30) (4)
Other employee compensation expense (d) 11) (11)
Restructuring costs (e 19 -
Treasury stock ) - 3)
Fair value of derivative financial instruments (9) 36 31
Long-term licence creditors [0) 2) (1
Accumulative and current year adjustment on adoption of SFAS No. 143 ® 8) -
Deferred tax on US GAAP adjustments 0) (334) (278)
Pension liability (m) (40) (38)
Foreign exchange (n) (152) (7)
Shareholders’ funds as adjusted for US GAAP 16,940 17,045

Discontinued operation

On 3 June 2003 the Group completed the sale of O, Netherlands, its wholly owned Dutch subsidiary, to Greenfield Capital Partners for

€25 million in cash. The Group profit and loss account, note 2 and note 3 to the financial statements disclose the results of O, Netherlands
as a discontinued operation for the three years ended 31 March 2004, 2003 and 2002 under UK GAAP. The carrying amount of the major
classes of assets and liabilities of O, Netherlands under US GAAP at 31 March 2003 were tangible fixed assets of £38 million and net current
liabilities of £22 million. O, Netherlands incurred no tax benefit or expense in any year presented and the loss before tax is equal to the net

loss shown in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The following table analyses the US GAAP net profit/(loss) between continuing operations and discontinued operations.

2004 2003 2002
£m £fm £m
Net profit/(loss) adjusted for US GAAP comprises:

Continuing operations 192 (2,195) (1,355)
Discontinued operation (12) (1,476) (108)
Net profit/(loss) as adjusted for US GAAP 180 (3,671) (1,463)

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share, in pence, comprises:
Continuing operations 2.2 (25.5) (15.7)
Discontinued operation (0.1) (16.8) (1.2)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share, as adjusted for US GAAP (pence) 2.1 (42.3) (16.9)
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Il. Differences between accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom and the United States of America

The following are the main differences between UK GAAP and US GAAP which are relevant to the Group’s financial statements.

(a) Capitalisation of interest

Under UK GAAP, the Group does not capitalise interest in its financial statements. To comply with US GAAP, the estimated amount of
interest incurred whilst constructing major capital projects is included in fixed assets and depreciated over the lives of the related assets.
This includes capitalisation of interest incurred on funding the UMTS licences for the period up to the market launch of the related services.
As at 31 March 2004, under US GAAP, gross capitalised interest of £1,324 million (2003: £1,299 million) was subject to depreciation over
periods of five to 20 years.

(b) Goodwill and other intangible and tangible assets

Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures completed by the Group prior
to 1 April 1998 was written off against shareholders’ funds. The goodwill is reflected in the net income of the period of disposal, as part of
the calculation of the gain or loss on divestment to the extent it has not already been recognised in the profit and loss account. Goodwill
arising on acquisitions completed on or after 1 April 1998 is recognised as an intangible asset in the balance sheet and is amortised over its
useful life. Under US GAAP, such goodwill has always been held as an intangible asset in the balance sheet and was previously amortised
over its useful life with only the unamortised portion being included in any gain or loss on divestment.

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. The
Group adopted SFAS No. 142 on 1 April 2002. SFAS No. 142 required the cessation of amortisation of intangible fixed assets that have an
indefinite useful life, including goodwill. Instead, such intangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment annually, or sooner should a
triggering event occur. From 1 April 2002 the Group ceased to amortise its goodwill balances and conducts annual impairment reviews

of its goodwill balances.

Those intangible and tangible fixed assets that have definite useful lives continue to be amortised over their useful life, with impairment
reviews being carried out when triggering events occur. Such definite lived intangible assets are tested for impairment in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. In considering whether a triggering event has occurred
under SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 144, the Group looks for the existence of facts and circumstances, either internal or external, which
indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recovered.

Certain intangible fixed assets recognised under the US GAAP purchase accounting rules are subsumed within goodwill under UK GAAP.
Under US GAAP, these separately identified intangible assets are valued and amortised over their useful lives. These include customer bases
and internally developed software. In addition, under UK GAAP, contingent purchase consideration is generally included as part of the
purchase cost at the date of acquisition. Under US GAAP, this cost is not recognised until the contingency is resolved or the amount is
determinable beyond a reasonable doubt.

Year ended 31 March 2004

In the year ended 31 March 2004, the Group has not identified any triggering events which would indicate that an impairment review
should be undertaken in respect of definite-lived tangible and intangible fixed assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Group’s
indefinite-lived assets, being goodwill, were tested for impairment at 31 March 2004. This impairment review indicated that no impairment
of goodwill was required.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the segments and in total for the years ended 31 March 2004 and 31 March 2003 are
as follows:

Total

Mobile telecommunications Other continuing
UK Germany Ireland businesses operations  Netherlands Total
fm fm fm £fm £m £m fm
At 31 March 2002 2,820 605 1,790 5 5,220 607 5,827
Impairment charges (409) - (1,475) - (1,884) (684) (2,568)
Foreign exchange and other movements - 126 233 - 359 77 436
At 31 March 2003 2,411 731 548 5 3,695 - 3,695
Foreign exchange and other movements - (24) (17) (5) (46) - (46)
At 31 March 2004 2,411 707 531 - 3,649 - 3,649

As at 31 March 2004, the gross carrying value of goodwill under US GAAP was £9,237 million (2003: £10,257 million).
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The following table analyses definite-lived intangible assets for US GAAP purposes:

Gross book Accumulated Net book  Gross book Accumulated Net book

value amortisation value value amortisation value

2004 2003

fm £fm £m £fm £fm £m

Licences 10,052 (23) 10,029 10,489 (423) 10,066
Other intangible assets 499 (329) 170 519 (302) 217
10,551 (352) 10,199 11,008 (725) 10,283

The current and expected amortisation expense for other definite-lived intangible assets for the current year and the subsequent five years is:

Amount
fm
Aggregate amortisation expense for the year ended 31 March:
2004 44
Expected amortisation expense for the year ending 31 March:
2005 533
2006 660
2007 622
2008 619
2009 619

The above table represents the Group’s estimate regarding future amortisation of definite-lived intangible assets recorded on the US GAAP
balance sheet as at 31 March 2004. Due to the effects of foreign exchange, any future investments or capital expenditure on intangible
assets and the date on which the assets are likely to be brought into service, it is likely that the actual charge will be different.

Year ended 31 March 2003

During the second half of the year ended 31 March 2003, certain events indicated the Group should perform impairment reviews of its four
principal reporting units, being its mobile telecommunications operations in the UK, Germany, Ireland and the Netherlands, in accordance
with SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 144.

These events included the announcement in April 2003 of the sale of O, Netherlands resulting in an accounting loss of approximately

£1.4 billion, which provided an indication that the valuation of mobile businesses may be lower than previously estimated. Additionally,
following the Competition Commission’s report on mobile termination charges, the Group announced that it was reviewing the launch dates
of its 3G services and would adopt a more prudent timetable where local regulatory requirements permitted. The revision in this timetable,
together with the absence of evidence as to the mass market appeal of 3G services and the limited availability of 2G/3G compatible
handsets, led management to review and revise the business plans of its mobile operations across its European footprint.

As a result of the above events and in conjunction with the Group’s annual impairment review under SFAS No. 142, the carrying value of the
fixed assets of O, UK, O, Germany and O, Ireland and the goodwill that arose on their acquisition was reviewed. In evaluating whether any
long-lived assets and intangibles were impaired, the undiscounted cash flows of O, UK, O, Germany and O, Ireland were compared to their
carrying values. To test the carrying value of goodwill, the fair value of each reporting unit (RU), based on the present value of future cash
flows, was compared to the carrying value of the RUs assets and liabilities. Where the carrying value of the RU exceeded the fair value, the
fair value of all assets and liabilities of the RU, including any unrecognised intangible assets, was estimated in order to determine the implied
value of goodwill.

The value in use of each RU was calculated with reference to the net present value of its future cash flows derived from the assets, using
cash flow projections for the period up to 31 March 2013. These projections covered a ten-year period, as management believed that
throughout the ten-year period, the annual growth rate of the RUs being assessed would differ from the average growth rates for the
countries concerned. For the periods beyond 1 April 2013, the projections used a long-term growth rate assumed to be at or below the
nominal GDP growth rate of the country concerned. The discount rates applied to the projections was based on the post-tax weighted
average cost of capital for the Group. The effective pre-tax discount rate for each of our territories ranged between 10.4 per cent and
12.5 per cent.

In calculating the value in use there is considerable uncertainty as to the present value of the future cash flows. In assessing the future cash
flows, assumptions have been made using the best estimates available at the time of performing the impairment review. These estimates
include those used to reflect the growth rates up to 2013, the long-term growth rates beyond 2013, the discount rate, the competitive
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landscape, the take up and charge rate of data services and the availability of functioning technological infrastructure to support

the 3G roll-out. The actual outcome is uncertain and these estimates may change over time as subsequent changes in the mobile
telecommunications industry, including advances in technology, changes in the performance of our businesses as a result of competitive
pressure or otherwise, or potential difficulty in the implementation of the UMTS network, may in the future shorten the estimated useful
lives or result in a further write-down of these assets.

Based on the analyses, under US GAAP the Group recorded charges of £409 million and £1,475 million for the year ended 31 March 2003
to reduce the carrying value of the goodwill that arose on the acquisitions of O, UK and O, Ireland respectively. Under UK GAAP the Group
recorded an impairment of £8,300 million of the intangible assets relating to O, UK, O, Germany and O, Ireland, of which £2,401 million
related to the impairment of goodwill and £5,899 million related to the impairment of long-lived assets. The difference in the impairment
charges is primarily as a result of the requirement under US GAAP to first test the carrying value of long-lived assets using undiscounted cash
flows and secondarily the difference in methodology for calculating the impairment of goodwill.

As a result of the announced disposal of O, Netherlands, the carrying values of the net assets of O, Netherlands were written down to their
net realisable amount, being the sale proceeds less direct costs of disposal. This resulted in an impairment charge of £1,424 million being
recognised in the profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2003 of which £684 million related to goodwill and £740 million
related to long-lived assets. The difference between the impairment charge recorded for US GAAP and UK GAAP (under which a provision
of £1,364 million was recognised) in respect of O, Netherlands is due to the different carrying values of the net assets.

() Employee stock compensation
The Group operates a number of share plans to grant options and share awards to its Directors and employees. Full details, including US
GAAP disclosures, are given in section lll. “Stock-based compensation” in the supplementary information for United States investors.

Under UK GAAP, options and share awards granted over the Company’s ordinary shares are accounted for using the intrinsic value method,
with the difference between the fair value of the shares at grant date and the exercise price charged to the profit and loss account over the
vesting period. Under US GAAP, the Group accounts for share options and share awards in accordance with the requirements of APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and applies the disclosure provisions in SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an amendment to FASB Statement No. 123".

APB No. 25 uses the intrinsic value method although there are differences to the UK GAAP accounting treatment based on whether the
options and share awards are considered fixed or variable. Under APB No. 25 the cost of compensation for fixed awards (being awards under
which both the exercise price and the number of shares is fixed) is determined at the date the award becomes fixed, based on the difference
between the fair value of the shares subject to the award and the exercise price. Compensation cost determined is expensed over the vesting
period. Until the plan is fixed (including performance conditions are met), it is considered a variable plan and compensation cost is measured
as the difference between the market price at the period end and the exercise price based on the number of awards expected to vest.

Share options have been granted under the Sharesave Plan at a 20 per cent discount to the market price of the date of grant. The Sharesave Plan
falls outside the scope of the intrinsic value methodology under UK GAAP. Under US GAAP, a plan is considered compensatory when the discount
to market price is in excess of 15 per cent. Compensation cost is recognised for the difference between the exercise price of the share options
granted and the quoted market price of the shares at the measurement date and accrued over the vesting period of the options. The Group has
applied the guidance in EITF 00-23 and if the offer to enter into a new Sharesave Plan is at a lower price than previous awards then variable
accounting commences for all existing higher priced awards when the offer is made. Variable accounting continues until the awards are exercised,
are forfeited, or expire unexercised. New awards issued within six months of the plan cancellation are accounted for as variable to the extent that
previous higher priced options are cancelled.

Additionally, under US GAAP, provision for employee payroll taxes on employee stock compensation is recognised on the exercise date.
Under UK GAAP, provision is made for payroll taxes on shares that are expected to be exercised and spread over the vesting period.

(d) Other employee compensation expense

Under UK GAAP, certain amounts paid to former owners of purchased companies who are also employees are included as part of the
acquisition cost of these companies. Under US GAAP, where payment of those amounts is based on achievement of certain performance
goals, they qualify as employee compensation expense and are recognised in the financial statements when the performance goals are met.

(e) Restructuring costs
In 2004 and 2002, the Group has recognised restructuring charges related to employee termination benefits and real estate closures. For
the year ended 31 March 2004 this involved the transfer of O, Online, Products O, and certain other central functions to our operating
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businesses in the UK, Germany and Ireland, and includes provisions relating to redundancies and the termination of property leases. For the
year ended 31 March 2002 the charges were incurred in the reduction of over 1,900 positions in the technical, retail and administrative
departments of O, UK and O, Germany.

Under US GAAP, site closure costs can only be recognised for the period after cessation of operations at that site. Employee termination
benefits paid to employees that are required to render service beyond their minimum retention period are spread over their remaining service
period. Under UK GAAP the provision may be recognised at the time of managements’ commitment, communication and reasonable
estimate of the associated cost. Accordingly, adjustments have been made to eliminate the UK GAAP provisions for restructuring that do not
meet US GAAP criteria.

(f) Treasury stock

During the year ended 31 March 2004, the mmO, Employee Share Trust purchased no shares of mmO, plc on the open stock market
(2003: 2 million shares for £1 million, 2002: 5 million shares for £5 million). Under UK GAAP these shares have been classified as fixed asset
investments and a charge of £3 million (2003: £2 million, 2002: £1 million) has been recognised for stock compensation. Under US GAAP
such shares are classified as treasury stock and are included as a deduction from shareholders’ funds. This treasury stock has been accounted
for under the cost method.

(g) Derivative financial instruments

Under UK GAAP certain derivative financial instruments qualify for hedge accounting but do not qualify for hedge accounting under
US GAAP. The financial instruments, under US GAAP, are carried at market value with valuation adjustments recorded in the profit and
loss account.

(h) Notional loans due to BT

As at 31 March 2001, £16.8 billion of notional debt, including accrued interest, was allocated to the Group, representing the borrowings
raised by BT to fund the Group’s major mobile acquisitions, including UMTS licences. This loan had a deemed average annual interest rate of
7.2 per cent which resulted in interest of £756 million being notionally charged to the Group under US GAAP for the period from 1 April 2001
to demerger. The effect of this interest charge on the deferred tax has been included in the deferred tax effect of US GAAP adjustments below.

(i) Long-term licence creditors

In the year ended 31 March 2003, O, Ireland purchased a UMTS “B” licence. The total licence fee was €114 million with payments phased
over 15 years. Under US GAAP the asset cost has been recorded at the discounted present value of the payments and a corresponding
creditor established. Over the 15-year period an interest cost will be expensed to recognise the full €114 million due. Under UK GAAP the
asset and creditor have been recognised at their undiscounted value.

(j) Loss on disposal of O, Netherlands
The carrying value of O, Netherlands under US GAAP exceeded the carrying value under UK GAAP, owing to the recognition of capitalised
interest costs in relation to fixed assets. Accordingly the loss on disposal under US GAAP is £6 million higher than under UK GAAP.

(k) Accumulative and current year adjustment on adoption of SFAS No. 143

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”.
This statement requires the Group to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARO) in the period in which it is
incurred and capitalise the amount as part of the book value of the long-lived asset. Over time the liability is accreted to its present value,
and the capitalised cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. The Group adopted this new pronouncement with effect from
1 April 2003.

The Group has certain legal obligations related to network infrastructure, principally mast sites, which fall within the scope of SFAS No. 143.
These legal obligations may include obligations to restore the leased site to its original condition at the termination of the lease. Under UK
GAAP the Group follows the requirements of FRS 12 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” and a provision is made for the
present value of the cost of restoration of mast sites at the date of acquisition. Under US GAAP an expected cash flow approach to the
measurement of the fair value of the ARO is used, considering the costs that a third party would incur in performing the tasks that are
necessary for it to retire the asset. The different methods used in calculating the ARO under US GAAP and UK GAAP results in an additional
charge of £8 million for the year ended 31 March 2004. This comprises of a current year adjustment of £4 million and an accumulative
adjustment of £4 million which represents the adjustment required for 2003 and prior periods.

The basic and diluted earnings per share before the accumulative adjustment of SFAS No. 143 was 2.1 pence for the year ended 31 March
2004. The accumulative adjustment does not have any impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share.
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The following table illustrates the effect on the Group’s net profit/(loss) had the Group applied SFAS No. 143 in 2003 and 2002.

2004 2003 2002
£m £m fm

Net profit/(loss)
As reported 180 (3,671) (1,463)
Add accumulative effect of change in accounting principle 4 - -
Deduct SFAS No. 143 adjustment - (1 (1
Pro forma 184 (3,672) (1,464)

If SFAS No. 143 had been applied in previous periods the ARO liability at 1 April 2002 would have been £33 million and at 31 March 2003
£42 million. The closing ARO liability at 31 March 2004 is £47 million.

(I) Deferred tax on US GAAP adjustments

As at 31 March 2004, the adjustment of £(334) million (2003: £(278) million) reconciling shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP to those
under US GAAP included the tax effect of US GAAP adjustments. This comprises an adjustment to increase non-current assets by
£822 million (2003: £742 million) and increase long-term liabilities by £1,156 million (2003: £1,020 million).

(m) Pension liability

Owing to the different methods of calculating pension liabilities under UK and US GAAP, the pension scheme deficit calculated under UK
GAAP using FRS 17 differs from the calculation under SFAS No. 87 “Employers accounting for pensions”. A minimum liability relating to
certain pension plans has been recognised in other comprehensive income under US GAAP, whereas under UK GAAP this balance is not
recognised but included as a disclosure item only. US GAAP pension disclosure requirements under SFAS No. 123 (revised 2003) are included
in section V. “Pensions” in the supplementary information for United States investors.

(n) Foreign exchange
The Group carries a significant portion of its net assets in Euros. The foreign exchange adjustment reflects the retranslation of US GAAP
adjustments which are Euro denominated and has been recognised in other comprehensive income under US GAAP.

(o) Earnings/(loss) per share

The Group’s potentially dilutive share options were anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 March 2003 and 2002 and therefore, in accordance
with US GAAP, are not included in the computation of weighted average shares used in computing the diluted loss per share. In the current
year dilutive shares have been included but the impact of including them in the calculation is not material and therefore the basic and diluted
earnings per share is the same.

lll. Stock-based compensation

For the purposes of US GAAP reporting, the Group accounts for stock compensation in accordance with the requirements of APB Opinion
No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and applies the disclosure provisions in SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an amendment to FASB Statement No. 123".

Aggregate share compensation costs of £34 million (2003: £3 million, 2002: £2 million) have been recognised under APB No. 25 in the year.
A charge of £8 million (2003: £2 million, 2002: £2 million) was recognised under UK GAAP.

Share option plans
The Group operates savings-related share option plans for its employees and those of participating subsidiaries and further share option plans
(the mmO, Share Option Plan and the mmO, Legacy Option Plan) for selected Group employees.

Sharesave Plan

The mmO, Sharesave Plan is a savings-related share option scheme available to all employees. The scheme enables employees to acquire
shares in the Company through monthly savings over a three-year or five-year Save-As-You-Earn contract. The savings are then used to
purchase shares at the exercise price, which is set at the beginning of the savings contract, at a 20 per cent discount to the prevailing market
price at invitation date. Invitations to participate in the scheme are normally made annually. Similar savings related schemes exist for Group
employees based outside the UK.

mmO, Share Option Plan
In the year ended 31 March 2004, no options were granted to employees under this plan (2003: 1,041 employees for nil consideration).
All such options have an exercise price equal to the market value at grant date. These options were granted on terms that they normally
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only become exercisable on the third anniversary of grant subject to certain performance criteria. If these criteria are not met on the third
anniversary of grant, the performance goals will be retested on the fourth and fifth anniversaries. Options under this scheme generally
have a life of ten years.

mmO, Legacy Option Plan

Options over BT shares granted under BT executive share option plans were replaced with options over mmO, shares, granted under the
Legacy Option Plan, for those participants now employed by mmO,. The replacement options were granted on the same terms, and are
exercisable between the same dates, as the options for which they were exchanged. The exercise price of these options equals the market
value as at original grant date. Options are normally exercisable up until the tenth anniversary of the date of the original grant.

Options outstanding in relation to Group employees under the Sharesave Plan, mmO, Share Option Plan and mmO, Legacy Option Plan as at

31 March 2004 together with their exercise prices and vesting periods, were as follows:
Options outstanding over  Options exercisable over
ordinary shares and ADSs ordinary shares and ADSs

Weighted-
average Weighted Weighted-
remaining average average
Number contractual exercise Number exercise
outstanding life price  exercisable price
Range of exercise prices’ (m) (years) (£) (m) (£)
£0.44 35 2 0.44 - -
£0.46 68 8 0.46 - -
£0.48-0.49 1 9 0.48 - -
£0.54 14 3 0.54 - -
£0.64-0.69 7 8 0.67 4 0.69
£0.73-0.82 6 1 0.73 - -
£0.87 35 8 0.87 3 0.87
£1.02-1.93 2 7 1.27 2 1.28
168 6 0.58 9 0.83

Share options over American Depositary Shares (ADS) have exercise prices termed in US Dollars. For purposes of disclosure, these options’ exercise prices have been translated into
Sterling at the year end exchange rate. As each ADS represents ten ordinary shares, the number of options and exercise prices have been adjusted by this ratio to reflect the options
on a like for like basis.

Options granted, exercised and lapsed during the years ended 31 March 2004, 2003 and 2002 in respect of Group employees under these
share option schemes were as follows:

Options over ordinary shares Options over ADSs
Ordinary shares’ ADSs?

Savings- Weighted- Weighted-

related Other average Other average

share share exercise share exercise

options options price options price

Range of exercise prices’ (m) (m) (£) (m) (£)
Balance at 31 March 2001 50 3 1.37 - -
Lapsed on demerger (50) (3) 1.37 - -
Balance on demerger - - - - -
Granted 31 65 0.82 6 1.17
Lapsed - ) 0.84 - -
Balance at 31 March 2002 31 63 0.82 6 1.17
Granted 37 81 0.45 - -
Lapsed (23) (6) (0.72) 3) 0.87
Balance at 31 March 2003 45 138 0.60 3 1.49
Granted 15 - 0.54 - -
Lapsed (5) (23) (0.76) (1) (1.69)
Exercised - 4) (0.70) - -
Balance at 31 March 2004 55 11 0.57 2 0.93

Al options granted, exercised, lapsed and outstanding for periods prior to demerger have been adjusted to reflect the exchange ratio of 4.1266 shares of mmO, per share of BT.
Share options over ADSs have exercise prices termed in US Dollars. For purposes of disclosure, these options’ exercise prices have been translated into Sterling at the year end exchange
rate. As each ADS represents ten ordinary shares, the number of options and exercise prices have been adjusted by this ratio to reflect the options on a like for like basis.
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Fair value disclosures (SFAS No. 123)
For disclosure purposes, the fair value of all these share options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
following weighted average assumptions have been used for valuing share options granted by the Group:

2004 2003 2002

% % %

Annual dividends - - -
Expected volatility 23 27 55
Risk free interest rate 5 4 5

The expected life applied in the model anticipated the life of options extending one month later than the first exercise date.

Had share option compensation expense been determined on the basis of fair value pursuant to SFAS No. 123, net profit/(loss) and earnings/

(loss) per share would have been as follows:
2004 2003 2002
(in £m, except per share data which is stated in pence)

Net profit/(loss)

As reported 180 (3,671) (1,463)
Stock compensation expense included in net profit/(loss) 28 - -
Stock compensation expense as determined under the fair value method (21) (5) -
Pro forma 187 (3,676) (1,463)
Earnings/(loss) per share

As reported 2.1 (42.3) (16.9)
Pro forma 2.2 (42.4) (16.9)

The weighted average fair value of share options granted in the year ended 31 March 2004 was £0.23 (2003: £0.13, 2002: £0.35) for
options exercisable three years after the date of grant and £0.27 (2003: £0.23, 2002: £0.46) for options exercisable five years after the date
of grant. The weighted average fair value of share options granted in the year ended 31 March 2002 was £0.16 for options exercisable one
year after the date of grant and £0.22 for options exercisable two years after the date of grant.

Share plans
The Group operates share award schemes for its employees.

mmQO, Restricted Share Plan

Restricted share awards have been granted to a small group of senior executives. Most of these awards have been granted on terms that
they will normally only vest on the third anniversary of grant if the participant builds up a predetermined personal shareholding in the
Group, and remains in employment with the Group. Shares required to satisfy these awards are held in trust during the restricted period.
In accordance with APB No. 25, an expense has been recognised to the extent that executives have commenced building their personal
shareholding. No shares were granted under this plan in the years ended 31 March 2004 and 31 March 2003. The weighted average fair
value at grant date of the 9.4 million shares granted under this plan in the year ended 31 March 2002 was £0.80.

mmO, Performance Share Plan

Performance related share awards have been granted to 1,005 employees during the year ended 31 March 2004. These awards are granted
on terms that they will vest on the third anniversary of grant if the Company meets certain performance criteria, and the participant remains
in employment with the Group. In accordance with APB No. 25, an expense has been recognised to the extent that it is expected that
performance criteria will be achieved. The weighted average fair value at grant date of the 26.4 million shares granted under this plan in the
year ended 31 March 2004 was £0.53.

BT Legacy Share Awards

A number of key employees of mmO, were participants prior to demerger in BT share plans. The awards have been adjusted so that they
relate solely to mmO, plc shares, and any performance measure has been translated into a measure of the Group’s performance from
demerger to the end of the performance period. On maturity these awards will be satisfied in existing mmO, shares held by an employee
trust which has already been funded by BT. In accordance with the rules of these plans the awards were converted into awards over mmO,
plc shares on the basis of an adjustment factor of 4.1266.

Incentive Share Plan (ISP) and Retention Share Plan (RSP)
Participants are awarded shares which will normally vest at the end of a three-year period provided a predetermined total shareholder
return (TSR) target is met.
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Executive Share Plan (ESP)
Participants are awarded shares which will normally vest at the end of five years provided a predetermined TSR target is met.

Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP)
Awards of shares were made to executives based on their performance in the preceding financial year and vest after three years. Under
the DBP there are no associated performance goals.

Under the Separation Agreement between the Group and BT, it has been endorsed and agreed that all share awards required under the ISP,
RSP, ESP and DBP will be honoured by BT and will be satisfied by issuance of existing mmO, shares held by a BT trust which has already been
funded by BT. Thus, the Group is not responsible for any of the options or shares under these schemes and will bear no compensation
expense in association with them.

IV. Group cash flow statements

Under UK GAAP, the Group cash flow statement is presented in accordance with FRS 1 “Cash flow statements”. The statements prepared
under FRS 1 present substantially the same information as that required under SFAS No. 95 “Statement of Cash Flows”. The main
presentational differences are described below.

The US GAAP cash flow statement reports changes in cash and cash equivalents, which includes short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Under UK GAAP the cash balance includes only cash at bank and other cash balances. Under US
reporting three categories of cash flows are reported; operating activities (including tax and interest), investing activities (including capital
expenditure and disposals) and financing activities. Under FRS 1, there are four additional categories. Cash flows are presented for operating
activities, returns on investments and servicing of finance, taxation, capital expenditure and financial investments, acquisitions and disposals,
dividends paid and management of liquid resources and financing. Cash flows under FRS 1 in respect of interest received, interest paid and
taxation would be included within operating activities under SFAS No. 95.

The following statements summarise the combined cash flow statements as if they had been presented in accordance with US GAAP, and
include the adjustments that reconcile cash and cash equivalents under US GAAP to cash at bank and in hand reported under UK GAAP.

2004 2003 2002

fm fm fm

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,316 966 444
Net cash used in investing activities (1,120) (868) (2,095)
Net cash (used)/provided by financing activities (50) 47) 1,790
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 146 51 139
Exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents 16 31 -
Cash and cash equivalents under US GAAP at the beginning of the year 561 479 340
Cash and cash equivalents under US GAAP at the end of the year 723 561 479
Short-term investments (700) (493) (459)
Cash at bank and in hand under UK GAAP at the end of the year 23 68 20

V. Pensions

Information in respect of the net periodic benefit cost and related obligation determined in accordance with SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 132
(revised 2003) is given below. The measurement date used to establish the year end asset values and benefit obligations was 31 March 2004.
The previous measurement date, used to establish 2003 costs, was 31 March 2003.
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A description of the pension arrangements of the Group is given in note 29 to the financial statements. The assumptions used to determine
the net periodic benefit cost and the year-end benefit obligation under US GAAP for the mmO, Pension Plan (mmO, PP) are shown below.
The assumptions used for the other defined benefit schemes around the Group under US GAAP are consistent with those used for the
mmO, PP.

31 March Cost for 31 March

Cost for 2004  period from 2003

year ended benefit 1 July 2002 to benefit

) 31 March 2004  obligation 31 March 2003 obligation

Assumptions % % % %

Discount rate 5.80 5.70 6.00 5.80

Long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.10 7.50 7.70 7.10

Increase in compensation levels 3.70 4.05-4.55 4.20 3.70

Inflation rate 2.50 2.80 2.70 2.50
Increase in payment of pensions

— pension increases in line with inflation 2.50 2.80 2.70 2.50

— pension increases limited to 5% p.a. 2.40 2.60 2.70 2.40

The investment strategy is determined by the Trustees of the mmO, PP and responsibility delegated to the relevant investment manager. The
Trustees aim to invest the assets of the Plan prudently to ensure that benefits promised to members are provided. The investment objectives
include generating a return in excess of market indices. Ranges for the proportions to be held in each asset class have been set by the
Trustees. The Plan’s target asset allocations at 31 March 2004 were 90 per cent equities and 10 per cent bonds and gilts. At 31 March 2004
the Plan held assets in the following proportions; equities 88 per cent (2003: 90 per cent), bonds 10 per cent (2003: nil) and other 2 per cent
(2003: 10 per cent). Risk is managed in various ways including identifying investments considered to be unsuitable and placing limits on
some types of investment. In particular, the funds are not permitted to invest directly in any mmO, Group company. The investment strategy
of the Group’s other pension arrangements is consistent with the assets actually held.

The expected rate of return on pension plan assets is determined as management’s best estimate of the long-term return of the relevant
equities and bonds that constitute plan assets weighted by the actual allocation of assets among the categories at the measurement date.
Estimated contributions to defined benefit pension schemes around the Group in 2005 are £20m.

Components of net benefit expenses

No comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2002 are presented as in that period most pension obligations were provided by the BT
Pension Scheme (BTPS). Under UK GAAP and US GAAP multi-employer accounting was applied to the Group’s participation in the BTPS.
This applied until the inception of the mmO, PP on 1 July 2002 for which the Group is the principal employer. The cost for the period from
1 April 2002 to 30 June 2002 equals the contributions paid to the BTPS of £4 million and is in addition to the costs shown below. For the
Group’s other arrangements, the difference between UK GAAP and US GAAP is not significant.

The net benefit expense for the year ended 31 March 2004 for the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes in aggregate are analysed
as follows:

2004 2003
fm £m

Service cost (18) 17)
Interest cost on benefit obligation (18) (13)
Expected return on plan assets 16 15
Plan amendments 2) -
Net amortisation and deferral — recognised losses 4) (1)
Net periodic benefit cost (26) (16)
Defined contribution cost (7) (4)

Net benefit expense (33) (20)
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The funded status of the Group’s pension schemes at 31 March 2004 was:

2004 2003
£m £m
Benefit obligation at end of year (407) (310)
Fair value of plan assets 299 218
Plan assets below benefit obligation (108) (92)
Unrecognised net loss 91 82
Net amount recognised (17) (10)
Comprising:
Benefit provision (including additional minimum liability) (57) (48)
Amount recognised through accumulated other comprehensive income 40 38
Net amount recognised (17) (10)
2004 2003
£m £m
Change in additional minimum liability before tax:
Accrued pension benefit expense 40 38
Other comprehensive income before tax 40 38
The change in the benefit obligation and the plan assets of the Group’s pension schemes in the year ended 31 March 2004 are analysed
as follows:
2004 2003
£m fm
Benefit obligation at start of year (310) (298)
Service cost (18) (17)
Interest cost (18) (13)
Contributions by plan participants 9) (8)
Actuarial (losses)/gains (58) 26
Benefits paid 1 -
Plan amendments 2)
Curtailments/settlements 7 -
Benefit obligation at end of year (407) (310)
2004 2003
£m £m
Fair value of plan assets at start of year 218 250
Actual return on plan assets 58 (56)
Contributions by plan participants 9 8
Contributions by employer 20 16
Benefits paid (1) -
Curtailment/settlement (5) -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 299 218

The benefit obligation shown above includes an allowance for future salary increases, whereas the accumulated benefit obligation does not
include this allowance. The accumulated benefit obligations for the pension plans at 31 March 2004 amounted to £352 million. At 31 March

2003, the corresponding total of accumulated benefit obligations was £262 million.
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VI. Deferred taxation

The elements of deferred taxation to be considered for US GAAP purposes are as follows: As at 31 March
2004 2003

fm £m

Bad debt provision 18 1
Other general provision 4 -
Deferred current tax assets 22 "
Tax losses carried forward 1,988 1,712
Other 3 38
Deferred non-current tax asset 1,991 1,750
Allowance (1,047) (878)
Total deferred non-current tax asset after allowance 944 872
Capitalised interest (308) (312)
Intangible assets (844) (708)
Accelerated capital allowance (281) (362)
Other (3) -
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,436) (1,382)
Net deferred non-current liabilities (net of deferred tax assets) (470) (499)

The table below represents the deferred tax for loss carry forwards and expiry dates as at 31 March 2004:

0, 0,

UK Germany Other Total

£m £m £fm fm
Total (no expiration) 550 1,436 2 1,988

The Group provides a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets on a country by country basis if, based on available objective
evidence, it is probable that they will not be fully realised.

VII. Additional US GAAP disclosures

(a) Investments

Under UK GAAP, the Group accounts for joint venture and associate investments using the equity method of accounting. The profit and loss
account includes the Group's share of the operating profit or loss, interest income or expense and attributable taxation of those companies.
The balance sheet shows the Group’s share of the assets and liabilities of those companies and attributed goodwill. Under US GAAP, these
investments would be accounted for using the net equity method. The profit and loss account would include on one line an item with the
Group’s share of the profit before tax of £1 million (2003: £5 million, 2002: £9 million). The balance sheet would show on one line an item
with the Group’s share of the net assets of those companies.

(b) Exceptional items
Under UK GAAP exceptional costs totalling £75 million have been recognised (2003: £8,300 million, 2002: £150 million). Under US GAAP
these would not be considered exceptional items and would be classified within net operating expenses.

(c) Use of estimates in preparation of financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom and the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

‘(d) Recent US GAAP accounting pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51"”. FIN 46 was subsequently revised with the release of FIN 46R in December 2003. FIN 46R
requires the Group to review the entity's in which it holds an interest to determine whether the entity has sufficient equity to conduct its
activities and to ensure that its equity holders have decision-making authority and exposure to the entity's residual returns or losses. When
any of these characteristics are lacking, the party exposed to a majority of the entity's expected losses or residual returns, if any, is considered
the primary beneficiary and would be required to consolidate. Consolidation is possible under FIN 46R regardless of whether the company
holds equity or carries voting rights in the entity. Where consolidation is not required FIN 46R imposes an obligation to disclose significant
interests held in variable interest entities.



112 mmo2.com

Supplementary information for United States investors

FIN 46R is effective immediately for variable interests held in variable entities created after 31 January 2003. FIN 46R is effective 1 April 2004
for entities considered special purpose entities (SPEs) and for all non-SPEs as of the first US GAAP balance sheet presented thereafter. The
adoption of the standard for entities created after 31 January 2003 did not have an impact on the Group's results of operations, financial
condition, or cash flows. Management is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of FIN 46R for entities created prior to 1 February
2003 will have on its results of operations and financial condition.

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached consensus on EITF No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements

with Multiple Deliverables. This consensus requires that revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables be divided into separate units of
accounting if the deliverables in the arrangement meet specific criteria. In addition, arrangement consideration must be allocated among the
separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values, with certain limitations. The Group adopted this statement on 1 October
2003 and is applying it on a prospective basis. The initial adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on the results of
operations, financial position, or cash flows of the Group.

(e) Recent UK accounting standards

The Group continues to apply the transitional disclosure arrangements set out in FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”. Mandatory implementation
is not required by the Group until the year ended 31 March 2006 by which time we expect to have adopted International Accounting
Standards. The transitional disclosures required are provided in note 29 to the financial statements. The changes introduced by FRS 17
principally affect the way defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for. At each year-end the pension scheme assets should be
measured at market value while pension scheme liabilities should be measured at a present value using a specified actuarial valuation
method and discounted at a corporate bond rate. The resulting pension scheme surplus or deficit must be shown on the Group’s balance
sheet, and could be volatile because of the dependence on market conditions at the balance sheet date.

Amendment to FRS 5 “Reporting the substance of transactions” — revenue recognition takes the form of an additional application note to
FRS 5, being “Application Note G”. This codifies the basic principles of revenue recognition and provides specific guidance in five areas. Of
particular importance to our Group is the guidance on presentation of turnover as agent or principal. The gross basis represents the value of
the billing to the customer after trade discounts, with any related costs being charged to operating expenses. Where we act as agent in a
transaction, we recognise the net revenue earned as turnover.

(f) International accounting standards

The Council of the European Union announced in June 2002 that listed companies in Europe would be required to adopt International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The adoption of IFRS will apply to our
Group for the first time for the half year ending 30 September 2005 and the year ending 31 March 2006. We have established a project
team to manage the conversion from UK GAAP to IFRS. We expect the adoption of IFRS by the Group for our year ending 31 March 2006 to
result in significant changes in the accounting, presentation and disclosure of certain items in our financial statements. We expect to publish
details of the differences, and a reconciliation between our existing UK GAAP results and net assets and those under IFRS in due course.

Taxation

The following discussion is a general summary of certain material UK tax and US federal income tax considerations under present law
relevant to the ownership and disposition of our shares or American Depositary Shares (ADSs). It applies only if you are a US holder (as
defined below), you hold our shares or ADSs as capital assets and you use the US dollar as your functional currency. It does not address the
tax treatment of US holders subject to special rules, such as US expatriates, banks, securities dealers, traders in securities that elect to mark to
market, insurance companies, tax-exempt entities, holders that directly, indirectly or by attribution own 10 per cent or more of our share
capital or voting power, persons holding our shares or ADSs as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion or constructive sale transaction, persons
who acquired their shares or ADSs pursuant to the exercise of options or similar derivative securities or otherwise as compensation and
persons that are resident or ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom.

This summary does not consider your particular circumstances. It is not a substitute for tax advice. We urge you to consult your own tax
advisers about the particular tax consequences to you in light of your particular circumstances of ownership of our shares or ADSs.

As used in this discussion, “US holder” means a beneficial owner of our shares or ADSs that is (i) a US citizen or individual resident, (ii) a
corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation under US federal income tax law) organised under US law, (iii) a trust subject to the
control of a US person and the primary supervision of a US court, or (iv) an estate the income of which is subject to US federal income tax
regardless of its source.

If a partnership holds shares or ADSs, the tax treatment of a partner generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of
the partnership. A partner in a partnership that holds shares or ADSs is urged to consult its own tax advisor regarding the specific tax
consequences of owning and disposing of the shares or ADSs.
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UK taxation
Dividends
No tax is required to be withheld at source from dividends paid on our shares or ADSs.

Dispositions

Except as discussed below, you will not be liable for tax on capital gains realised on your disposal of our shares or ADSs unless you are
resident or ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom, or you carry on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a
branch, agency or permanent establishment in the UK and our shares or ADSs are or have been used, held or acquired for the purposes of
such trade (or profession or vocation) or such branch, agency or permanent establishment.

If you are an individual who has ceased to be resident or ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom for a period of five years and you dispose
of our shares or ADSs during that period, you may be liable for tax on capital gains on your return to the United Kingdom, subject to any
available exemption or relief.

UK inheritance tax

Our ordinary shares will be assets situated, and our ADSs are likely to be assets situated, in the United Kingdom for the purposes of the UK
inheritance tax. Subject to the discussion of the UK-US estate tax treaty in the next paragraph, UK inheritance tax may apply if you hold our
shares or ADSs, and you gift them or die even if you are neither domiciled nor deemed to be domiciled in the United Kingdom. If you
transfer our shares or ADSs at less than full market value, you may be treated as making a gift. Special rules apply to gifts to close
companies, to trustees of settlements and to gifts where the donor retains some benefit.

If you are domiciled in the United States for purposes of the current estate and gift tax convention between the United States and the United
Kingdom (the “UK-US estate tax treaty”) and you are not a UK national, you will not be subject to UK inheritance tax unless our shares or
ADSs are part of the business property of a UK permanent establishment or pertain to a UK fixed base of an individual used for the
performance of independent personal services.

The UK-US estate tax treaty generally provides for a credit mechanism if our shares or ADSs are subject to both UK inheritance tax and to the
US federal estate or gift tax.

UK stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax

UK stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax UK stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax, or SDRT, are generally payable upon the issue and
deposit of our shares with the depository or its nominee in exchange for our ADSs evidenced by ADRs. The current rate of stamp duty and
SDRT imposed on these issues and transfers is 1.5 per cent applied, in each case, to the value of the consideration for the transfer or, in
some circumstances, to the value of our shares. The stamp duty or SDRT is payable by the depository. In accordance with the terms of the
deposit agreement holders of our ADRs must reimburse the depository for the stamp duty or SDRT.

In practice, no UK stamp duty will be payable on the transfer of our ADRs if the instrument of transfer is not executed in the United
Kingdom and remains outside the United Kingdom. Transfer of our ADRs will not give rise to a liability for SDRT.

A transfer of our shares by the depository to an ADR holder where there is no change in beneficial ownership will result in UK stamp duty at
the rate of £5 per transfer.

Transfers of our shares to persons other than the depository or its nominee will give rise to UK stamp duty or SDRT at the time of transfer or
agreement to transfer, normally at the rate of 0.5 per cent (rounded up, in the case of stamp duty, to the nearest £5) of the amount payable
for our shares. The purchaser usually pays SDRT or UK stamp duty. If our shares are later transferred to the depository, additional UK stamp
duty or SDRT will normally be payable as described above.

US Federal Income Taxation
If the obligations contemplated by the deposit agreement are performed in accordance with their terms, holders of our ADSs generally will
be treated for US federal income tax purposes as the owners of our shares represented by those ADSs.

Dividends

Dividends generally will be included in your gross income as dividend income from foreign sources on the date of receipt by the depositary (in
the case of our ADSs) or the holder (in the case of our shares). Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits (as
determined for US federal income tax purposes) generally will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of the US holder’s
adjusted tax basis in the share or ADSs, and to the extent in excess of such tax basis, will be treated as a gain from a sale or exchange of such
shares or ADSs. The dividends will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction available to corporations. Dividends paid in pounds
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sterling will be includible in income in a US dollar amount based on the exchange rate in effect on the date received by the depository (in the
case of our ADSs) or the holder (in the case of our shares) whether or not the payment is converted into US dollars at that time. Any gain or
loss you recognise on a subsequent conversion of pounds sterling for a different amount generally will be US source ordinary income or loss.

Recent US tax law changes applicable to individuals

Under 2003 US tax legislation, some US holders (including individuals) are eligible for reduced rates of US federal income tax (currently a
maximum of 15 per cent) in respect of “qualified dividend income” received in taxable years beginning after 31 December 2002 and
beginning before 1 January 2009. For this purpose, qualified dividend income generally includes dividends paid by non-US corporations if,
among other things, certain minimum holding periods are met and either (i) the shares (or ADSs) with respect to which the dividend has
been paid are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States, or (i) the non-US corporation is eligible for the
benefits of a comprehensive US income tax treaty which provides for the exchange of information (such as the new United Kingdom —
United States Income Tax Convention that entered into force on 31 March 2003). We currently believe that dividends paid with respect to
our shares and ADSs should constitute qualified dividend income for US federal income tax purposes, provided the individual US holders of
our shares and ADSs meet certain requirements. Some of the eligibility requirements for non-US corporations are not entirely certain,
however, and further guidance from the IRS is anticipated. In addition, the IRS is expected to issue certification procedures in 2004 whereby a
non-US corporation will be required to certify as to the eligibility of its dividends for the reduced US federal income tax rates.

Dispositions

You will recognise capital gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of our shares or ADSs in an amount equal to the difference between your
adjusted tax basis in the shares or ADSs and the amount realised from the sale or other disposition. Gain or loss upon the disposition of shares or
ADSs generally will be US source gain or loss, and will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if, at the time of the disposition, the holding
period for the shares or ADSs exceeds one year. If you are an individual, any capital gains generally will be subject to US federal income tax at
preferential rates if specified minimum holding periods are met. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to significant limitations.

The surrender of ADSs in exchange for shares pursuant to the Deposit Agreement governing the ADSs will not be a taxable event for US
federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, you will not recognise any gain or loss upon such surrender.

A US holder that receives pounds sterling on the sale or other disposition of our shares will realise an amount equal to the US dollar value of
the pounds sterling on the date of sale (or, in the case of cash basis or electing accrual basis taxpayers, the settlement date). A US holder will
have a tax basis in the pounds sterling received equal to the US dollar amount realised. Any gain or loss realised on a subsequent conversion
of the pounds sterling for a different amount generally will be US source ordinary income or loss.

Passive foreign investment company status

A non-US corporation will be classified as a Passive Foreign Investment Company (a “PFIC") for any taxable year if at least 75 per cent of its
gross income consists of passive income or at least 50 per cent of the average value of its assets consists of assets that produce, or are held for
the production of, passive income. We currently believe that we did not qualify as a PFIC for the taxable year ending 31 March 2004 for US
federal income tax purposes. However, PFIC status is a factual determination that must be made at the close of each taxable year and is based
on, among other things, the type of income we receive and the value of our assets and shares, all of which will likely change from time to
time. If we were to become a PFIC for any taxable year, US holders would suffer adverse tax consequences. These consequences may include
having gains realised on the disposition of shares or ADSs treated as ordinary income rather than as capital gain and being subject to punitive
interest charges on certain dividends and on the proceeds of the sale or other disposition of the shares or ADSs. Furthermore, dividends paid
by us would not be “qualified dividend income” and would be subject to the higher rates applicable to other items of ordinary income. US
holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential application of the PFIC rules to our shares or ADSs.

US information reporting and backup withholding

Dividend payments made to holders of shares or ADSs and proceeds from the sale, exchange or redemption of shares or ADSs may be
subject to information reporting requirements and US federal backup withholding tax at a current rate of 28 per cent. Certain exempt
persons (such as corporations) are not subject to these information reporting requirements. Backup withholding will not apply, however, to a
holder who furnishes a correct taxpayer identification number or certificate of foreign status and makes any other required certification or
who is otherwise exempt from the backup withholding. US persons who are required to establish their exempt status generally must furnish
a completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification). Non-US holders generally will
not be subject to US information reporting or backup withholding. However, such holders may be required to provide certification of non-US
status in connection with payments received in the United States or through certain US-related financial intermediaries.



mmo2.com 115

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld as backup withholding may be credited against a holder’s US federal income
tax liability, and a holder may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules by filing the appropriate
claim for refund with the US Internal Revenue Service and furnishing any required information.

Material contracts
The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have been entered into by a member of our
Group and either:

>> have been entered into within the two years immediately preceding the date of this document and are material: or
>> contain any provision under which any member of our Group has any obligation or entitlement which is material at the date of this

(a

document:

a syndicated credit facilities agreement (which became available for drawdown on the date of our demerger), dated 14 September 2001
(the "Facility Agreement”), between mmO, and O, as borrowers, certain financial institutions who have participated in the credit facility
(the “Banks").

The Facility Agreement provides for the Banks to make available to mmO, and O, a five-year committed £1,725 million multi-currency
revolving credit facility (“Tranche A”) and provides a 364-day committed £1,750 million multi-currency revolving facility (“Tranche B").

Cash advances under Tranche A are for general corporate purposes of the mmO, Group. £1,000 million of Tranche B was refinanced
through €1,000 million and £375 million Eurobond issues launched in January 2002 and which have a five-year and ten-year term,
respectively. Tranche B matured 14 September 2001 and was replaced by a £300 million, 364-day syndicated committed multi-currency
facility (the “Facility”). The Facility was reduced to £150 million on 31 December 2002 and matured 14 September 2003.

The facilities are guaranteed by mmO; in respect of drawings of each additional borrower, and by such subsidiaries of mmO, as are
nominated by mmO, and accede to the Facility Agreement as guarantors.

A €5,000 million Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”), was established for the issue of Euro Medium Term Notes
(the “Notes”). Notes issued will be constituted by a trust deed dated 18 December 2001 entered into between the Issuer and Bankers
Trustee Company Limited. Under the Programme, the Issuer may issue Notes denominated in any currency under the terms and
conditions as set out in an offering circular dated 18 December 2001 (the “Offering Circular”) up to €5,000 million (or its equivalent in
other currencies) outstanding at any time. The €1,000 million and £375 million Eurobond issues were launched in January 2002 under
the Programme.
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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This annual report and financial statements contains certain forward-
looking statements. We may also make written or oral forward-
looking statements in:

>> our periodic reports to the US Securities and Exchange
Commission, also known as the SEC, on Forms 20-F and 6-K;

>> our half-yearly reports;

>> our press releases and other written materials; and

>> oral statements made by our officers, Directors or employees
to third parties.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current
plans, expectations, and projections about future events. These
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and
assumptions about us. Forward-looking statements speak only as
of the date they are made.

Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about
our beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Words
like “believe”, “anticipate”, “expect”, “intend”, “seek”, “will",
“plan”, “could”, “may”, “might”, “project”, “goal”, “target” and
similar expressions often identify forward-looking statements but are

not the only ways by which we identify these statements.

nou

These statements may be found in “Risk factors”, “Business review”,
"Operating and financial review and prospects”, “Supplementary
information for United States investors”, and in this annual report
generally. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of
various factors, including all the risks discussed in the above-
mentioned sections.

If any one or more of the foregoing assumptions are ultimately
incorrect, our actual results may differ from our expectations based
on these assumptions. Also, the sector and markets in which we
operate may not grow over the next several years as expected, or
at all. The failure of these markets to grow as expected may have
a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition and the market price of our ordinary shares and
American Depositary Shares (ADSs).

The information on our website, any website mentioned in this
annual report or any website directly or indirectly linked to our
or any other website mentioned in this annual report is not
incorporated by reference into this annual report and you should
not rely on it.

Listings

The ordinary shares of the Company were listed on the London
Stock Exchange on 19 November 2001. On the same date ADSs
were also listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The ratio of ADSs
to ordinary shares is 1:10. The ADSs have been issued by JPMorgan
Chase Bank as Depositary for the ADSs.

Share and ADS prices

Pence per
ordinary share USS$ per ADS
High Low High Low
pence pence $ $
November 2003 75.25 63.75 12.82 10.62
December 2003 79.00 75.00 13.68 13.08
January 2004 86.00 79.00 15.56 14.10
February 2004 107.00 82.75 20.08 15.19
March 2004 112.00 97.50 20.55 17.81
April 2004 103.75 99.75 19.10 17.54

The prices are the highest and lowest closing middle market prices
for mmO, ordinary shares, as derived from the Daily Official List of
the London Stock Exchange, and the highest and lowest sales prices
of mmO, ADSs, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange, for
the months indicated.

Analysis of shareholdings Ordinary shares of

0.1p each
Size of shareholding Number of ~ Percentage Number of Percentage
at 31 March 2004 shareholders of total shares held of total
1-500 857,996 5436 222,182,489 2.56
501 -999 375,422 23.79 262,335,968 3.02
1,000 - 9,999 339,188 2149 684,951,138 7.90
10,000 - 99,999 4,512 0.29 86,017,905 0.99
100,000 - 999,999 680 0.04 260,898,163 3.01
1,000,000 — 4,999,999 333 0.02 769,811,856 8.87
5,000,000 and above 214 0.01 6,388,492,249 73.65
Total 1,578,345 100.00 8,674,689,768 100.00

At 31 March 2004, the number of holders of record of mmO,
ordinary shares in the USA was 3,483 with holdings of 2,244,611
ordinary shares, and the number of registered holders of ADSs was
1,874 with holdings of 6,796,796 ADSs, representing 67,967,960
ordinary shares. Because certain of these ordinary shares and ADSs
were held by brokers or other nominees, the number of holders

of record or registered holders in the USA is not representative

of the number of beneficial holders or of the residence of
beneficial holders.

At 10 May 2004, no person or company is known to hold more
than three per cent of the Company’s ordinary shares except for
those disclosed in the report of the directors on page 43. The
Company is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any
other company or any government.

Capital Gains Tax

The confirmed official opening prices for mmO, ordinary shares
and BT Group plc ordinary shares for Capital Gains Tax (“CGT")
purposes, were 82.75 pence and 285.75 pence respectively. This
means that, of the total value of 368.5 pence, 22.456 per cent is
attributable to mmO, and 77.544 per cent to BT Group.

Accordingly, for CGT calculations, the base cost of your mmO,
ordinary shares is calculated by multiplying the acquisition cost of
your BT shareholding by 22.456 per cent and the base cost of your



BT Group plc ordinary shares is calculated by multiplying the
acquisition cost of your BT shareholding by 77.544 per cent.

Exchange rates

The table below sets forth, for the months indicated, information
concerning the highest and lowest noon buying rates in New York
City for cable transfers in pounds sterling as certified for customs
purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York expressed in
US dollars per pound sterling:

£1.00 = US dollars

Month
Month High Low end
November 2003 1.7219 1.6693 1.7219
December 2003 1.7842 1.7209 1.7842
January 2004 1.8511 1.7902 1.8215
February 2004 1.9045 1.8182 1.8575
March 2004 1.8680 1.7943 1.8400
April 2004 1.8564 1.7674 1.7744

The table below sets forth the average of the noon buying rates in
New York City for cable transfers in pounds sterling on the last full
day of each full month during each of the last five years ended

31 March 2004, as certified for customs purposes by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York expressed in US dollars per pound
sterling:

Year ended 31 March £1.00 = US dollars

2000 1.6085
2001 1.4737
2002 1.4320
2003 1.5541
2004 1.7051
1 April 2004 through 30 April 2004 1.7744

ShareGift

The Orr Mackintosh Foundation (ShareGift) operates a charity share
donation scheme for shareholders with small parcels of shares whose
value makes it uneconomic to sell them. Details of the scheme are
available on the ShareGift internet site www.sharegift.org.

Exchange controls and other limitations affecting

security holders

There are currently no exchange controls or other limitations in the
UK affecting security holders.

Cassettes for visually impaired shareholders

The Company’s Annual Review is available on audio cassette. Copies
can be obtained, free of charge, from the Registrar, Lloyds TSB
Registrars, by calling Freefone 0808 100 4102.

Annual Report and Financial Statements

Further copies of our Annual Report and Financial Statements can
be obtained by contacting our Registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars, on
Freefone 0808 100 4102.
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Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at The Hexagon, Queens
Walk, Reading, Berkshire RG1 7UA on Wednesday, 28 July 2004 at
11.00 a.m.

Online communication

Many shareholders prefer to receive their reports online rather
than through the post, and thanks to changes in the law this is
now possible.

Shareview, which is operated by Lloyds TSB Registrars, gives mmO,
shareholders access to special services over the internet. You will be
able to check the details of your mmO, shareholding at any time. As
a Shareview user you will be able to view indicative prices of shares
of other companies of which you are a shareholder and who use
Lloyds TSB as their Registrar.

We will also e-mail you when there is an item for you to view on the
shareholder pages on www.mmo2.com.

Registering with Shareview is easy and free. Go to Shareview at
www.shareview.co.uk — click on “register now"”, and complete the
on-screen application form.

Duplicate mailings

You may have received separate sets of documents as it may not
have been possible to combine your records. Any shareholder who
now wishes to stop the additional mailings by combining their
records should contact Lloyds TSB Registrars.

Financial calendar/results announcements

Annual General Meeting 28 July 2004
Proposed dates

Q1 Trading Statement July 2004
Interim Results November 2004
Q3 Trading Statement February 2005
Preliminary Announcement May 2005
Publication of the Annual Report and

Financial Statements and Form 20-F June 2005
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Contacts

Shareholder enquiries

Lloyds TSB Registrars maintain the Company’s share register

and provide a shareholder helpline service (details below). Shareholders
should contact the Registrar if they have any enquiries about their
shareholding.

The Registrar

Lloyds TSB Registrars (2501) mmO, plc shareholder helpline:
The Causeway Freefone 0808 100 4102
Worthing Fax: 01903 833371

West Sussex BN99 6DA From outside the UK:

Tel: +44 121 415 7102
Fax: +44 1903 833371

ADR Depositary
JPMorgan Chase Bank

ADR Service Center Toll-free from within the USA:
PO Box 43013 Tel: 1 800 428 4237
Providence, RI 02940-3013 From outside the USA:

USA Tel: +1 781 575 4328

General enquiries

mmO, plc

Wellington Street

Slough

Berkshire SL1 1YP

e-mail: shareholders@o2.com
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Glossary of terms

Terms Used US Equivalent or Brief Description

Articles of Association .. ... .. Bylaws

Associates . ... ... Equity investments

Balance sheet ............. Statement of financial position

Called-up share capital . ... ... Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid

Capital allowances . ......... Tax depreciation allowances

Creditors . ................ Payables

Debtors .. ................ Receivables

Financelease ... ........... Capital lease

Financial year . ............. Fiscal year

Freehold ................. Ownership with absolute rights

Interest payable . ........... Interest expense

Interest receivable .. ........ Interest income

Jointventure . ............. Equity investment

Nominal value .. ........... Par value

Ordinary shares . ........... Common stock

Overdraft ................ A line of credit, contractually repayable on demand unless a fixed-term
has been agreed, established through a customer’s current account

Preference shares . .. ...... .. Preferred stock

Profit & loss account . ....... Income statement

Profit & loss account reserve . . . Retained earnings

Provisions . ............... Reserves

Share capital .............. Ordinary shares or common stock issued and fully paid

Shareholders’ funds . ........ Stockholders’ equity

Stock . .. Inventories

Tangible fixed assets .. ...... Property, plant and equipment

Turnover. . ................ Revenue
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Definitions

The following definitions apply throughout this document unless the context requires otherwise:

“Airwave"

"analogue”

"BT Group”
"BT Group plc”

“CRM"
“GPRS”

“Manx Telecom”

ummozu

or the “Company” . . .

"mmO, Group” or “Group” . . .

“mmO, Ordinary Shares” or

“ordinary shares”

“MMS”

"0, Airwave”

"0, Germany”

"0, Ireland”

"Public Safety Users” or “PSU" .

"SACH

“SMS”

"TETRA"

“UMTS”

MNAP”

"we" or

A secure TETRA communications system for the emergency services and other Public Safety Users.

The first generation of mobile telecommunications technology in which radio signals are modulated
proportionally by the strength and frequency of audio sounds.

Average Revenue Per User.

British Telecommunications public limited company, a company incorporated in England and Wales with
registered number 1800000.

BT Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings from time to time.
BT Group plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 4190816.
Customer Relationship Management.

General Packet Radio Service. A technology, sometimes referred to as 2.5G, that allows customers to remain
connected to the network between calls for the receipt and transmission of data.

The Global System for Mobile communications. Originally defined as a pan-European standard for digital
cellular telephone networks to support roaming, it is now one of the world’s main digital mobile standards.

Manx Telecom Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man with registered number 28059.
mmO, plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 4190833.

mmO, plc and its subsidiary undertakings from time to time.

Ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each in the capital of mmO,.
Multimedia Messaging Services.

O, Limited, formerly BT Wireless Limited, formerly Cellnet Group Limited, a company incorporated in
England and Wales with registered number 2604354 together, where the context requires, with its
subsidiary and associated undertakings or, where the context so requires, a reference to our trade name
or brand.

Airwave mmO, Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales with a registered number 3985643.

0, (Germany) GmbH & Co.OHG, formerly VIAG Interkom GmbH & Co. OHG, a company incorporated
in Germany.

0, Communications (Ireland) Limited, formerly Digifone mmO, Limited, formerly Esat Digifone Limited,
a company incorporated in Ireland, together where the context requires with its subsidiary and
associated undertakings.

O, (Netherlands) B.V., formerly Telfort Mobiel BV, a company incorporated in the Netherlands.

O, (UK) Limited, formerly BT Cellnet Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales with registered
number 1743099 together, where the context requires, with its subsidiary and associated undertakings.

Personal Digital Assistant.

Any organisation, as determined by Ofcom, which has broadly fulfilled the following criteria: (a) responds to
emergencies; (b) is involved in emergency situations reasonably frequently; (c) is civilian, or is required to
respond to civilian emergencies; and (d) requires interaction with those who respond to emergencies.

Subscriber Acquisition Cost.

a service sometimes known as text messaging, which enables mobile telephone users to send and receive
written messages on their handsets.

Terrestrial Trunked Radio. Radio technology used in networks that require a high level of security
and availability.

Universal Mobile Telecommunications System. An international standard of third generation, or 3G,
mobile telecommunications.

Wireless Application Protocol. A global, open standard for accessing online services through mobile devices.

mmO, and/or, if the context so requires, one or more members of the mmO, Group.
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